Université du Québec Institut National de la Recherche Scientifique Centre Institut Armand-Frappier

## L'IMPLICATION DE L'AUTOPHAGIE DANS L'INFECTION PAR LE VIRUS DE L'HÉPATITE C

Par

Ahmed Mohamed Fahmy

Thèse présentée pour l'obtention du grade de Philosophiae doctor (Ph.D.) en Virologie et Immunologie

## Jury d'évaluation

Président du jury et Examinateur interne Pr. Terence Ndonyi Bukong INRS Institut Armand-Frappier

Examinateur externe

Pr.Guy Lemay Université de Montréal

Examinateur interne

Directeur de recherche

Pr. Hugo Soudeyns Université de Montréal

Pr. Patrick Labonté INRS Institut Armand-Frappier

© Droits réservés de Ahmed Mohamed Fahmy, 2016

«Look deep into nature, and then you will understand everything better» Albert\_Einstein

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my PhD supervisor Professor Patrick Labonté for his caring guidance, patience, extraordinary support, and for excellently conveying the spirit of adventure and excitement regarding research. Without his guidance and continuous support this dissertation would not have been possible.

I would like to thank all my present and former lab members Dr. Matthieu Blanchet, Dr. Carl Guevin, Tuan Le Quoc, Marwa Khabir for helping and supporting me during my research.

I would like to thank my committee members, Professor Terence Ndonyi Bukong, Professor Guy Lemay, and Professor Hugo Soudeyns for participating in the evaluation of my research.

A special thanks to my lovely wife for her unbelievable patience and encouragement throughout the whole journey of my research. She has been my inspiration and motivation for continuing to improve my knowledge and move my career forward. She is my only love and my rock, and I dedicate this dissertation to her. I also thank my sweetheart daughter Salma and our beautiful new addition Talya for always making me smile and for understanding on those weekend mornings when I was busy working on my research project instead of playing with them. I would like to thank my parents, my brilliant father and my amazing mother, for allowing me to follow my passion and ambition throughout my childhood.

I would like also to thank my brothers and sisters, my parents-in-law for their love and encouragement with their best wishes.

I would like to thank all my friends and colleagues at the INRS specially Slimane Dridi, Asma Lamine, Guillermo Arango Duque, Hossam Draz, Mohamed Haddad, Ahmed Soliman, Ghislain Paka, Edward Kwarting, Mustapha Iddir, Akil Hammami, Ahlem Saghmi, Hajer Habouria and Emre Yurdusev for their support and providing a stimulating and fun environment during my studies.

iii

# **RÉSUMÉ EN FRANÇAIS**

L'infection par le virus de l'hépatite C (VHC) est un problème majeur de santé publique avec plus de deux cent millions d'individus chroniquement infectés dans le monde. Malgré le développement d'antiviraux très puissants à action directe (AAD) pour le traitement de l'infection chronique par le VHC, il reste encore de nombreux cas de personnes infectées. Ce nombre devrait augmenter dans les prochaines années en raison du coût élevé de ces médicaments antiviraux qui en limite l'accès et le grand nombre d'infections occultes. Bien que de nombreuses avancées majeures aient été réalisées dans la compréhension de la pathogénèse et de la réplication virale, les liens étroits entre le VHC et la cellule hôte sont encore mal compris.

L'autophagie, un mécanisme cellulaire de la cellule hôte, s'est révélée être modulée par le VHC. L'autophagie est un mécanisme de dégradation cellulaire qui vise à recycler les protéines ainsi que les organites qui ne sont plus nécessaires mais également à protéger la cellule d'éventuels agents pathogènes. Nous avons montré que le VHC exploite l'autophagie pour se répliquer. Le mécanisme par lequel le VHC détourne à son avantage l'autophagie et/ou les composantes autophagiques est encore débattu. Dans une étude récente au sein de notre laboratoire, nous avons montré que l'ARN-polymérase dépendante de l'ARN du VHC (NS5B) interagit avec la protéine autophagique ATG5. De plus, dans des cellules arborant un réplicon du VHC, la protéine ATG5 colocalise avec un marqueur des usines de réplication membranaire du VHC, la protéine NS4B. Finalement, le « knock-down » d'ATG5 a permis de diminuer l'ARN du virus ainsi que les niveaux d'expressions des protéines virales.

Puisque ATG5 est une composante du complexe d'élongation de l'autophagie (ATG5-12/16L1), l'objectif principal de ce projet de recherche est d'approfondir le rôle de ATG5-12/16L1 dans le cycle de réplication du VHC.

Dans le premier article, nous avons évalué la localisation du complexe ATG5-12/16L1 dans une infection chronique *in vitro*. En effet, nous avons montré que les composants du complexe ATG5-12/16L1 colocalisent avec les composantes de la réplicase du VHC (NS3, NS4B, NS5A et NS5B).

V

De plus, en utilisant la méthode de ligation de proximité « Proximity Ligation Assay» (PLA), nous avons montré, *in situ,* que ATG5-12 interagit avec les composantes de la réplicase du VHC. Bien que ATG16L1 colocalise avec la réplicase de VHC, aucune interaction entre ATG16L1 et la réplicase du HCV n'a été observée.

Ces résultats suggèrent que l'interaction de ATG5-12/16L1 avec la réplicase virale se produit via ATG5-12 et non pas avec ATG16L1.

Contrairement à nos attentes, la protéine LC3, un marqueur autophagique, n'a pas été recrutée avec le complexe d'élongation au site de réplication du VHC et aucune colocalisation des protéines virales avec sa forme active (LC3II) n'a été observée.

En utilisant l'expression de dominants négatifs des protéines ATG, nous avons démontré que le conjugué ATG5-12 est nécessaire pour la réplication virale du VHC. Par ailleurs, LC3II ne semble pas impliquée dans la réplication virale.

Dans le deuxième article, nous avons étendu nos travaux afin de déterminer à quelle étape du cycle de réplication du VHC, le complexe ATG5-12/16L1 est nécessaire.

En utilisant la méthode de «knock-down», nous avons montré que ATG5-12/16L1 est nécessaire pour la réplication de l'ARN viral du VHC. Cependant, ATG5-12/16L1 n'est pas nécessaire pour l'entrée du virus ou pour la formation de particules virales infectieuses. En contraste, LC3 semble requise pour la traduction du génome viral au début de l'infection.

En purifiant les usines de réplication du VHC, nous avons détecté les composants du complexe d'élongation par immuno-buvardage de type western. Par contre, tel qu'anticipé, la protéine LC3 n'a pas été détecté dans ces échantillons.

Nous avons également montré que la diminution de l'expression d'ATG12 ou ATG7 est associée à l'agrégation subcellulaire des protéines de la réplicase du VHC.

L'analyse en microscopie électronique a révélé une diminution drastique du nombre et de la taille des vésicules à double membranes qui sont des composantes majeures des usines de réplication membranaire du VHC. Finalement, nous avons démontré une disparition complète des vésicules multi-membranaires dans ces mêmes usines de réplication en contexte de « knock-down » d'ATG12.

vi

En conclusion, l'ensemble de ces résultats ont mis en évidence un nouveau rôle pour le complexe ATG5-12/16L1 dans la réplication du génome et dans la formation des usines de réplication membranaire du VHC.

# **ENGLISH SUMMARY**

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection is a major health problem that accounts for around 200 million chronic infections worldwide. Albeit the development and approval of highly potent direct acting antivirals (DAAs) for the treatment of HCV infection, the burden of HCV infection remains and is expected to increase in the coming years due to the high cost of these drugs, the limited accessibility to the treatment, and the large number of occult infections. Even though, major breakthroughs have been achieved in the understanding of viral pathogenesis and replication, the tight link between HCV and host cell is still poorly understood.

One host mechanism that has been shown to be modulated by HCV is autophagy. Autophagy is a cellular degradation mechanism that functions in the recycling of unwanted cellular proteins and organelles and to protect the cell from invading pathogens. Uniquely, HCV was shown to exploit autophagy for the purpose of viral replication. The mechanism by which HCV usurps autophagy and/or autophagic components is widely argued. In a previous report, our lab revealed that HCV RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (NS5B) interacts with the autophagy protein ATG5. Furthermore, ATG5 colocalized with the HCV NS4B, a viral nonstructural protein that is associated with the HCV-induced membranous web (MW), in HCV replicon cells. Silencing of ATG5 has been shown to attenuate HCV RNA and proteins level. Since ATG5 is one component of what is called the autophagy elongation complex (ATG5-12/16L1), the main objective of this research project was to further investigate the role of ATG5-12/16L1 in HCV replication cycle.

In the first article, we assessed the localization of ATG5-12/16L1 complex in chronically infected cells. Clearly, ATG5-12/16L1 components colocalized with HCV viral replicase (NS3, NS4B, NS5A, and NS5B). In addition, we showed that ATG5-12 interacts *in situ* with HCV replicase components by using proximity ligation assay (PLA). Although ATG16L1 colocalized with HCV replicase, no interaction between ATG16L1 and the HCV replicase was observed suggesting that the interaction of ATG5-12/16L1 with viral replicase occurs via ATG5-12 but not ATG16L1. Surprisingly, LC3 was not recruited along with the elongation complex to the site of HCV replication and no colocalization of LC3-II with HCV proteins was observed. By using dominant negative forms of ATG proteins, we

i

demonstrated that ATG5-12 conjugate, but not LC3-II formation, was vital for HCV replication.

In the second article, we extended our research to investigate at which stage of HCV replication cycle the ATG5-12/16L1 was required. By using siRNA approach, we showed that ATG5-12/16L1 was required for HCV RNA replication but not HCV entry or infectious virus particle formation. In contrast, LC3 was required only for the onset of HCV genome translation. By isolating HCV-induced membranous web, we were able to detect the elongation complex component by using western blotting whereas LC3 was undetectable in the isolated membranes. Interestingly, we revealed that silencing of ATG12 or ATG7, but not LC3, has led to subcellular aggregation of the HCV replicase proteins. Electron microscopy analysis has revealed a dramatic decrease in number and size of double membrane vesicles, a major component of HCV MW, and a complete disappearance of multimembrane vesicles from the MW composition upon ATG12 silencing.

In conclusion, the results represented in this thesis highlights a novel role of the ATG5-12/16L1 in HCV genome replication and the formation of HCV MW.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

AC	KNOW	LEDGEMENTS	.III
RÉ	SUMÉ	EN FRANÇAIS	V
EN	IGLISH	SUMMARY	I
ТА	BLE OF	CONTENTS	.ш
LIS	ST OF F	IGURES	V
LIS	ST OF A	BBREVIATIONS	.vi
С⊦	IAPTER	1: INTRODUCTION	1
1		HEPATITIS C VIRUS	2
	1.1	HEPATITIS C HISTORY AND DISCOVERY	2
	1.2	HCV PREVALENCE AND GENOTYPES DISTRIBUTION	4
	1.3	HCV GENOME ORGANIZATION	5
	1.3.1	IRES-mediated translation initiation	7
	1.4	STRUCTURAL PROTEINS	10
	1.4.1	Core Protein	10
	1.4.2	E1 and E2 glycoproteins	11
	1.5	NONSTRUCTURAL PROTEINS	13
	1.5.1	P7	13
	1.5.2	NS2	13
	1.5.3	NS3-4A complex	14
	1.5.4	NS4B	15
	1.5.5	NS5A	16
	1.5.6	NS5B	17
	1.6	HCV VIRION STRUCTURE	18
	1.7	HCV ATTACHEMENT	21
	1.7.1	Scavenger receptor class B type I	22
	1.7.2	CD81	23
	1.7.3	Claudin 1 and Occludin	23
	1.7.4	Receptor tyrosine kinases	24
	1.7.5		
	1.7.6		
	1.7.7	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

	1.8	HCV REPLICATION AND MEMBRANOUS WEB FORMATION	27
	1.9	HCV ASSEMBLY AND RELEASE	29
2		AUTOPHAGY	31
	2.1	THE AUTOPHAGY MACHINERY	31
	2.2	THE NON-CANONICAL AUTOPHAGY	33
	2.3	SELECTIVE AUTOPHAGY	35
3		AUTOPHAGY AND VIRUSES	
	3.1	AUTOPHAGY AS ANTI-VIRAL RESPONSE	38
	3.2	AUTOPHAGY IN VIRAL IMMUNE RESPONSE	39
	3.3	VIRUS SUBVERSION OF AUTOPHAGY	40
	3.4	AUTOPHAGY AS A PROVIRAL MECHANISM	41
	3.5	AUTOPHAGY AND HCV	43
	3.5.1	ER-stress in HCV-induced autophagy	48
	3.5.2	Autophagy modulation by HCV proteins	50
	3.5.3	Autophagy in HCV replication	51
HY	POTHE	SIS AND OBJECTIVES	54
СН	APTER	2: PUBLICATIONS	55
	THE AU	JTOPHAGY ELONGATION COMPLEX (ATG5-12/16L1) IS RECRUITED AT HCV REPLICATION SITE	
		AND IS REQUIRED FOR VIRAL REPLICATION	56
	THE AL	JTOPHAGY ELONGATION COMPLEX (ATG5-12/16L1) POSITIVELY REGULATES HCV REPLICATION	
		AND IS REQUIRED FOR WILD-TYPE MEMBRANOUS WEB FORMATION	100
СН		3: DISCUSSION	137
	4.1	ATG5-12/16L1 COMPLEX FORMATION IN HCV-INFECTED CELLS	139
	4.2	ATG5-12/16L1 COLOCALIZES WITH HCV REPLICATION COMPLEX	140
	4.3	ATG5-12/16L1 COMPLEX IS RECRUITED TO HCV MW	141
	4.4	ATG12 CONJUGATION TO ATG5, BUT NOT LC3 LIPIDATION, IS REQUIRED FOR HCV	
		REPLICATION	143
	4.5	THE ATG5-12 CONJUGATE IS IMPLICATED IN THE HCV LIFECYCLE AT A POST-TRANSLATIONAL	
		STEP	143
	4.6	ATG5-12 CONJUGATE IS CRUCIAL FOR THE PROPER MORPHOLOGY OF HCV-INDUCED MW	145
	4.7 Au	TOPHAGY AS A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR HCV TREATMENT	146
СС	NCLUS	SION AND PERSPECTIVES	148
RE	FEREN	ICES	151

APPENDIX	177	7
	1//	,

# LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1. SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM FOR THE FIRST SUCCESSFUL IDENTIFICATION OF HCV. 3	3
FIGURE 2. WORLD HCV PREVALENCE AND GENOTYPES DISTRIBUTION	5
FIGURE 3. HCV GENOME ORGANIZATION AND POLYPROTEIN PROCESSING	6
FIGURE 4. HCV IRES STRUCTURE AND MODEL FOR 80S COMPLEX FORMATION	8
FIGURE 5. HCV E1 AND E2 GLYCOPROTEINS12	13
FIGURE 6. THE COMPONENTS OF EACH HCV PARTICLE TYPE	20
FIGURE 7. MODEL OF HCV ENTRY	26
FIGURE 8. HCV INDUCED MEMBRANOUS WEB FORMATION	29
FIGURE 9. SCHEME OF AUTOPHAGY MECHANISM	33
FIGURE 10. NON-CANONICAL AUTOPHAGY	35
FIGURE 11. DIFFERENT TYPES OF MAMMALIAN SELECTIVE AUTOPHAGY AND THEIR RESPECTIVE	Е
RECEPTORS	37
FIGURE 12. THE ANTIVIRAL ROLE OF AUTOPHAGY	39
FIGURE 13. THE PROVIRAL ACTIVITY OF AUTOPHAGY	43
FIGURE 14. THE MECHANISM OF UNFOLDED PROTEIN RESPONSE	49

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. HOST FACTORS INVOLVED IN HCV RNA	9
TABLE 2. SUMMARY OF HCV-AUTOPHAGY INTERACTIONS	46

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

aa: Amino acid

AH1: Alpha helix 1

AH2: Alpha helix 2

apo: Apolipoprotein

ATF6: Activating transcription factor 6

ATG: Autophagy-related gene

ATG12-DN2: ATG12 dominant negative

ATG4BDN2: ATG4B dominant negative

ATG5-DN2: ATG5 dominant negative

CDK: Cyclin-dependent kinase

CEs: Cholesteryl esters

CKII: casein kinase II

CLDN1: Claudin-1

cLDs: Cytoplasmic lipids droplets

CMA: Chaperon-mediated autophagy

coV: Coronaviruses

CypA: cyclophilin A

D1: Core N-terminal hydrophilic domain

D2: Core C-terminal hydrophobic domain

DAAs: Direct Acting Antivirals

**DENV:** Dengue virus

DFCP1: Double-FYVE-containing protein 1

DGAT1: Diacylglycerol acyltransferase-1

EGFR: Epidermal growth factor receptor

EIA: Enzyme immunoassay

EM: Electron microscopy

EphA2: Ephrin receptor A2

ER: Endoplasmic reticulum

ERAD: ER-associated degradation

gHV68: Murine gamma-herpesvirus 68

GSK3: Glycogen synthase kinase 3

HAV: Hepatitis A virus

HBV: Hepatitis B virus

HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma

HCMV: Human cytomegalovirus

HCV: Hepatitis C virus

HCVcc: Cell culture grown HCV

HCVpp: HCV pseudoparticles

HDLs: High-density lipoproteins

hPLIC1: Human homolog 1 of protein linking integrin-associated protein and cytoskeleton

HSPG: Heparan sulfate proteoglycan

HSV1: Herpes Simplex Virus 1

HVRs: Hyper variable regions

IAV: Influenza A virus

igVR: Intergenotypic variable region

IRE1: Inositol-requiring enzyme 1

IRES: Internal ribosomal entry site IRGM: Immunity-associated GTPase family M KSHV: Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus LCS: Low complexity sequences LDLR: LDL receptor LDLs: Low-density lipoproteins LDs: Lipid droplets LVP: Lipo-viro-particle MAVS: Mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein MDA-5: Melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5 MEFs: Mouse embryonic fibroblasts MHV: Mouse hepatitis virus MKNK1: MAPK interacting serine/threonine kinase 1 MNV: Murine norovirus mTORC1: Mechanistic/mammalian target of rapamycin MW: Membranous web NANBH: Non-A, Non-B hepatitis NBM: Nucleotide-binding motif NPC1L1: Niemann-Pick C1-like 1 cholesterol absorption receptor NS: Nonstructural protein nt: Nucleotide NTR: Untranslated region OCLN: Occludin **ORF:** Open reading frame

PAS: Phagophore assembly site

PERK: PKR-like ER kinase

PLA: Proximity ligation assay

PLEKHM1: Pleckstrin homology domain containing protein family member 1

pRb: Retinoblastoma tumor suppressor protein

RdRp: RNA-dependent RNA polymerase

**RLRs: RIG-I-like receptors** 

RTK: Receptor tyrosine kinases

SARS: Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome

SLI: Stem-loop I

SMVs: Single-membrane vesicles

SNARE: Soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein receptor

SPP: Signal peptide peptidase

SR-BI: Scavenger receptor class B type I

STING: STimulator of INterferon Genes

TC-PTP: T-cell protein tyrosine phosphatase

TFA: Tubule forming agent

TfR1: Transferrin receptor 1

TM: Transmembrane

TMD: Transmembrane domain

TRIF: Toll/IL-1 receptor homology domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN-β

Ub: Ubiquitin

UBDs: Ub-binding domains

UPR: Unfolded protein response

UVRAG: UV radiation resistance-associated gene product

- VCP: Valosin-containing protein
- VLDLs: Very low density lipoproteins

**CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION** 

## **1 HEPATITIS C VIRUS**

### 1.1 Hepatitis C history and discovery

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is a pathogen with globally high prevalence and is a leading cause of liver cirrhosis, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), and death. The initiation of the field of viral hepatitis in the 1940s and 1960s was by the recognition of infectious serum hepatitis (Krugman et al., 1962). Later on, it was identified as hepatitis A virus (HAV) infection by Dr. Feinstone and colleagues (Feinstone et al., 1973) and hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection by Dr. Blumberg and Dr. Prince (Bayer et al., 1968). Following the development of serological tests to detect HAV and HBV infections in the 1970s, the majority of parentally transmitted hepatitis were surprisingly not due to either virus (Feinstone et al., 1975). Thus, it was termed Non-A, Non-B hepatitis (NANBH). Initial studies on viral hepatitis used chimpanzees as a reliable model for passaging infection from human materials (Alter et al., 1978, Hollinger et al., 1978). The use of chimpanzees as a model provided evidences about the existence of NANBH agents. These agents have been shown to cause the formation of tubule-like structures within the cytoplasm of the chimpanzee hepatocytes (Shimizu et al., 1979). The tubule forming agent (TFA) has appeared to be a lipid-enveloped agent as it could be inactivated upon organic solvents treatment and it could be filtered through a 80 nM pore-size filter (Bradley, 1985).

In the 1980s, it was suggested that it could be a novel enveloped virus that is related to either the flaviviridae, togaviridae or hepatitis delta (Bradley, 1985). Simultaneously, it has been reported that with gradual progression of NANBH disease about 20% of infected patients slowly develop liver cirrhosis over many years (Dienstag *et al.*, 1986). During this period, several trials to propagate the NANBH agents in culture were performed. However, no successful cell culturing of NANBH was observed during this period.

In 1989, Dr. Michael Houghton and colleagues in Chiron company were able for the first time to isolate and identify the NANBH agent, named as HCV, by immunoscreening bacterial expression cDNA libraries from NANBH patient sera (Figure 1) (Choo *et al.*, 1989). Later on, the same group developed the first enzyme immunoassays (EIA) tests

2

specific for NANBH-specific antibodies, which showed that HCV was the main cause of parenterally-transmitted NANBH around the world (Kuo *et al.*, 1989).



**Figure 1. Schematic diagram for the first successful identification of HCV**. A lambda gt11 cDNA library from both RNA and DNA present in the ultra-centrifuged pellet NANBH chimpanzee plasma was generated using random primers and screened with serum obtained from a NANBH patient with high serum ALT levels. One small clone of 150 bp, named clone 5-1-1, was found to be derived from HCV genome using the criteria in the figure (Houghton, 2009).

## **1.2 HCV prevalence and genotypes distribution**

The most recent estimation of HCV global burden showed an increased seroprevalence over the last 15 years to more than 185 million people worldwide. The global distribution of HCV infection is markedly variable (Figure 2). The highest prevalence is reported in Africa and Middle East with lower prevalence in Europe, Australia and North and South America (Hajarizadeh *et al.*, 2013). Based on phylogenetic and sequence analysis, HCV strains are classified into seven genotypes (1-7). Different genotypes vary in 30-35% of nucleotide content. Genotypes are further classified into 67 confirmed subtypes, 20 provisional and 21 unassigned ones. Strains that belong to the same subtype differ in less than 15% of nucleotide content (Smith *et al.*, 2014).

Globally, genotype 1 accounts for the highest number of HCV cases (46% of cases) compared to other genotypes with over one third of its cases located in East Asia. Genotype 3 is the second most abundant and accounts for 30.1% of cases, nearly three-quarters of which occur in South Asia. The majority of the remaining cases worldwide are due to genotype 2,4, and 6 (9.1%, 8.3% and 5.4% of the cases respectively). Genotype 2 and 6 are mainly located in East Asia while genotype 4 is located mainly in North Africa and the Middle East. Genotype 5 was estimated to account for the fewest HCV cases in the world, less than 1% of all HCV cases, most of which occur in Southern and Eastern sub-Saharan Africa (Messina *et al.*, 2015). Until now, only three genotype 7 subjects have been reported. These subjects were all Central African immigrants located in Canada (Murphy *et al.*, 2015).



Figure 2. World HCV prevalence and genotypes distribution (Hajarizadeh et al., 2013)

#### 1.3 HCV genome organization

HCV in an enveloped positive-sense single-stranded RNA virus and is grouped with the genus Hepacivirus within the Flaviviridae family (Lindenbach *et al.*, 2013).HCV genomic RNA is 9,6 kb in length that is composed of a single open reading frame (ORF) of nearly 3040 codons flanked by two untranslated regions (NTR) the 5' and 3' NTRs (Figure 3). The viral genome is directly translated by a mechanism mediated by the internal ribosomal entry site (IRES) to a single polyprotein that is localized to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). This polyprotein is cleaved co- and post-translationally by the action of viral and cellular proteases into 10 mature structural and nonstructural proteins (NS). The one third aminoterminal region of the polyprotein encodes the structural proteins E1, E2 and Core, which are incorporated, into viral particles. The remaining two thirds of the carboxy-terminal region encodes the NS proteins which includes P7, NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A and NS5B (Figure 3). These NS proteins are not incorporated in viral particles. Instead, they function to orchestrate different activities required for HCV RNA replication, forming what is called the replication complex (Moradpour *et al.*,

2013). The expression of the NS protein has been shown to induce a massive membrane remodeling within the cytoplasm of the infected cell forming the replication factories, termed as the membranous web (MW) (Egger *et al.*, 2002).With the help of host factors and viral structural proteins, the NS proteins have also been shown to participate in virion maturation (Lindenbach, 2013). In addition, several NS proteins modulate host immune defense and play a role in establishing chronicity (Lindenbach, 2013, Morikawa *et al.*, 2011).



**Figure 3. HCV genome organization and polyprotein processing.** The HCV RNA single strand (SS) with positive polarity is shown on the top. The RNA Secondary structures include cis-acting RNA elements (CREs) in the untranslated regions (NTRs) are also shown on the top. miR-122 binding sites in the 5' NTR containing the internal ribosome entry site (IRES) are shown. The proteins resulting from the single polyprotein cleavage and their functions are indicated. Scissors represent proteases that cleaves the virus polyprotein. SP, signal peptidase; SPP, signal peptide peptidase. (Paul *et al.*, 2014).

#### **1.3.1 IRES-mediated translation initiation**

HCV protein translation initiation is directed by a group of regulatory structural RNA elements at the 5' NTR that define IRES. The HCV IRES spans a region of ~341 nucleotides (nt) and is composed of three distinctly structured domains II, III, and IV. The boundaries of the IRES have been carefully mapped to be between 25 and 46 nt of the 5'NTR, stretching up to about 24-40 nt within the coding region. The first domain of the IRES, stem-loop I (SLI), is not required for translation, but is important for replication (Figure 4a). SLII is comprised of a stem having several internal loops (Figure 4a, boxed in yellow, left side). The larger domain SLIII consists of branching hairpin stem-loops (Illabcdef) organized in 3- and 4-way junctions and a pseudoknot near the base of the stem-loop. SLIV is a small structure that resembles a hairpin and contains the start codon AUG at position 342. After its binding with the 40S ribosomal subunit, the central IRES core domain with the double pseudoknot positions the start codon on the 40S into the mRNA binding cleft (Berry et al., 2011). To form preinitiation 48S ribosomal complexes, the HCV IRES requires just three initiation factors, eukaryotic initiation factor (eIF) 2, eIF3, and eIF5. The eIF3 binds to the apical region of SLIII (Sizova et al., 1998) (Figure 4a, boxed in magenta) and associates with the ribosomal 40S subunit (Jackson et al., 2010). The eIF2 associates with the initiator tRNA and GTP to form the ternary complex eIF2-GTP-Met-tRNAi<sup>Met</sup> which brings the Met-tRNAi<sup>Met</sup> to the 40S subunit (Pestova et al., 1998). Consequently, eIF5 promotes start codon recognition by the ternary complex eIF2-GTP-Met-tRNAi<sup>Met</sup> and acts as a GTPaseactivator protein for eIF2 (Pestova et al., 1998). This is sufficient to allow the bound 40S subunit to lock onto the HCV initiation codon and associate with the large ribosomal 60S subunit to form translation-competent 80S (Pestova et al., 1998, Terenin *et al.*, 2008) (Figure 4b).

In addition to these canonical translation initiation factors, several host factors have been identified to interact with HCV IRES and/or 3'NTR and modulate viral RNA translation (Table 1). Since the IRES-mediated translation is a critical step in HCV life cycle, the IRES-mediated translation became an important target for developing therapeutic strategies to eradicate HCV.

7



**Figure 4. HCV IRES structure and model for 80s complex formation.** (a) The secondary structure of the HCV 5'NTR consisting of 4 different domains (I, II, III, IV). The domains for 40S binding are boxed in yellow while the domain for eIF3 binding is boxed in magenta. The translation start codon is in red color (b) a model for HCV IRES mediated initiation of translation. [modified from (Fraser et al., 2007)]

Cellular factors	Effect on	Proposed mechanisms	Cellular functions	References
	HCV			
	translation			
Gemin5	-	Binds to IRES and forms complex with eIF3a, b, c. Addition of purified Gemin5 resulted in down- regulation of HCV IRES activity, while shRNA knockdown of Germin5 resulted in increase of HCV IRES activity	snRNA binding protein of SMN complex, which is involved in biogenesis of snRNPs, a component of mRNA slicing machinery. Also, involved in down-regulation of cellular translation in which a complex containing eIF4E is formed	(Pacheco <i>et al.</i> , 2009)
HMGB1	+	Facilitates viral replication by interaction with the HCV RNA	A nuclear protein involved in a group of diseases, including infectious diseases, metabolic and immune disorders, and cancer.	(R. Yu <i>et al.</i> , 2015)
hnRNP D (AUF1)	+	Interacts with SLII of HCV IRES. Knockdown inhibits translation but increases replication suggesting a role in balancing viral translation and replication	Involved in mRNA decay, telomere maintenance and translation initiation	(Paek <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
hnRNP L	+	Binds to 30 -end of HCV IRES. hnRNP L-specific RNA aptamers inhibited IRES function in dose dependent manner	Role in mRNA processing including alternative splicing, mRNA export and mRNA stability	(Hahm <i>et al.</i> , 1998, B. Hwang <i>et al.</i> , 2009)
Hu antigen R (HuR)	+	Binds to polyU/UC region of 30 -UTR. Overexpression enhances HCV IRES activity while knockdown down-regulates HCV IRES activity	Selectively binds and stabilizes AU-rich element containing mRNAs	(Rivas-Aravena <i>et al.</i> , 2009, Spangberg <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2000)
IGF2BP1 (IMP-2)	+	Binds to 50 - and 30 -UTRs. siRNA knockdown down-regulates HCV IRES activity. May stimulate translation by promoting RNA circularization and/or recruitment of eIF3	Binds to and regulates the translation of certain mRNA such as insulin-like growth factor 2 and b-actin	(Weinlich <i>et al.</i> , 2009)
La autoantigen	+	Binds near the initiation AUG codon of IRES. Thought to alter the conformation which facilitates formation of the initiation complex and stimulate internal initiation of translation	Multifunctional protein with roles in RNA biogenesis. Binds to the 30 termini of many newly synthesized RNAs, particularly those made by RNA pol III, protecting the 30 ends from exonucleases. Autoantigen in systemic autoimmune diseases	(Ali <i>et al.</i> , 1997, Pudi <i>et al.</i> , 2004)
LSm1-7	+	LSm1-7 ring binds to 50 -UTR dependent on SLIII. Also binds to poly(U/UC) tract of 30 -UTR. Silencing of LSm1 selectively down-regulates HCV translation	Component of P-bodies. Involved in mRNA turnover. Binds to short oligo (A) tracts at 30 - end of de-adenylated mRNA and inhibits 30 degradation while promoting decapping and 50 –30 degradation	(Scheller <i>et al.</i> , 2009)
miR-122	+	Binding to S1 and S2 sites in 50 -UTR upstream of the IRES enhances translation. Thought to enhance the association of 40S ribosomal subunit and HCV RNA. May protect 5'-end of viral genome from degradation	Well-conserved, highly abundant, liver specific microRNA. Binding to 30 -UTR of cellular mRNA encoding cationic amino acid transporter CAT-1 results in down-regulation of CAT-1 protein levels	(Henke <i>et al.</i> , 2008, Jangra <i>et al.</i> , 2010, Jopling <i>et al.</i> , 2005)
miR-199a	?(-)	Target sequence in domain II of the HCV IRES. Over-expression results in down-regulation of viral replication	Implicated in the post-transcriptional regulation of gene expression for various genes such as Ceruloplasmin (CP)	(Murakami <i>et al.,</i> 2009)
miR-196	-	Potential target sequence present in HCV NS5A coding region. Over-expression results in down- regulation of HCV protein expression and replication	Implicated in the post-transcriptional regulation of gene expression for various genes such as Bach1	(Hou <i>et al.</i> , 2010)
Nucleolin	?(+)	No data using HCV reporter. Identified by mass spectrometry as a component of HCV IRES bound 40S ribosomal subunit. Bound by yeast inhibitor RNA (IRNA). Stimulates poliovirus IRES	Implicated in a variety of processes including rRNA maturation, and ribosome assembly	(Izumi <i>et al.</i> , 2001)
NSAP1 (SYNCRIP, hnRNP Q)	+	Binds to adenosine rich region downstream of AUG start codon in core coding sequence. Over- expression enhances IRES activity while knockdown down-regulates IRES activity	A member of hnRNP family of proteins implicated in mRNA processing mechanisms. Component of the spliceosome	(Ali <i>et al.</i> , 1995)
РТВ	?	Interacts with both 50 - and 30 -UTRs of HCV RNA. Role in HCV protein translation is unclear with contradictory reports suggesting stimulation, inhibition, or no effects on HCV protein translation	Implicated in the regulation of pre-mRNA splicing	(Ali <i>et al.</i> , 1995, Tischendorf <i>et al.</i> , 2004)

PSMA7	+	Knockdown by siRNA or ribozymes results in significant inhibition of HCV translation	Human 20S proteasome a-subunit type 7 is a component of 20S core structure of proteasome	(Kruger <i>et al.</i> , 2001)
Staufen 1	+	Knockdown by siRNA decreased virus secretion	a dsRNA-binding protein involved in the regulation of translation, trafficking, and degradation of cellular RNAs	(Blackham <i>et al.</i> , 2013)

### 1.4 Structural proteins

#### 1.4.1 Core Protein

The first protein to be translated from the ORF is the core protein. The presence of an internal signal sequence between core and E1 directs the nascent polyprotein to the ER where cleavage of the signal sequence takes place by the action of signal peptidase (SP) (Figure 3). This cleavage yields immature core protein with 191 amino acid (aa). Further processing of the C-terminus by signal peptide peptidase (SPP), an intramembrane cleaving protease, yielding the mature 21-kDa core protein, with ~177 amino acid (aa) (Figure 3) (Oehler et al., 2012, Santolini et al., 1994). Mature core is a homodimeric membrane protein stabilized by the formation of disulfide bond at Cys 128 (Kushima et al., 2010). HCV core has two main domains, the N-terminal hydrophilic domain (D1) that is rich in basic as residues with highly flexible intrinsic disordered structure that allows an expansion of interaction with viral and host molecules (Uversky, 2011). It also harbors critical residues required for Core function. Indeed, core D1 can bind HCV RNA promoting RNA encapsidation. As other nucleocapsid proteins, D1 has RNA chaperone activity required for structural remodeling and packaging of the RNA during virion formation (Cristofari et al., 2004). In addition, core D1 can regulate translation of viral proteins (Boni et al., 2005, Lourenco et al., 2008). Moreover, the C-terminus of D1 harbors motifs for BH3 interaction capable of binding cellular proteins to regulate apoptosis (Mohd-Ismail et al., 2009). The other core protein domain is the C-terminal hydrophobic domain (D2), which mediates the binding with lipid droplets (LDs). This association with LDs impedes core nuclear localization exerted by a nuclear localization signal found in the N-terminal RNA binding domain (Suzuki et al., 1995). Core D2 contains a central hydrophobic loop that connects two amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helices and interacts with phospholipids interface on LDs (Boulant *et al.*, 2007).

It has been shown that the association of core with LD and its interaction with NS5A plays a crucial role in virion assembly process (Miyanari *et al.*, 2007, Shavinskaya *et al.*, 2007).

#### 1.4.2 E1 and E2 glycoproteins

The envelope glycoproteins E1 and E2 are type 1 transmembrane with an ectodomain at the N terminus (~160 aa and ~360 aa for E1 and E2 respectively) facing ER lumen and a short transmembrane domain (TMD) of ~30 aa at C terminus (Moradpour et al., 2013) (Figure 5a). During their biogenesis, the ectodomains of E1 and E2 translocate into the ER lumen and inserts their TMDs (shown in black, Figure 5a) into the ER membrane. The TMDs are strongly implicated in the functions of E1 and E2, including membrane anchoring and ER retention. In addition, they participate in the formation of E1-E2 noncovalent heterodimer, which is supposed to represent the building units for HCV envelope. The E1 and E2 embedded in the virus envelope were shown to form large covalent complexes stabilized by disulfide bonds (Vieyres et al., 2010). The folding of these two proteins, that occurs in the ER, is a complex process that requires ER chaperones, disulfide bridging, and glycosylation. Indeed, E1 and E2 contain up to 6 and 11 glycosylation sites (trees in Figure 5a), respectively. Despite the high genetic variability, this extensive glycosylation is quite conserved across all genotypes (Brown et al., 2010, Goffard et al., 2005).

The genes that encode E1 and E2 are uniquely variable with several hyper variable regions (HVRs) that have been identified within E2 (shown in red, Figure 5a). These HVRs differs by up to 80% across the different genotypes. The HVR1 consists of the first 27 aa of E2 and is responsible for eliciting type-specific neutralizing antibodies (Figure 5a) (Penin *et al.*, 2001). HVR2, from aa 91 to 97 of E2, has up to 100% sequence diversity across genotypes (Figure 5a). The intergenotypic variable region (igVR), aa 187 to 197, is widely variable between different genotypes while it contains a single conserved N-linked sugar moiety

11

(Figure 5a). HVR2 and igVR are essential for the structural integrity and hence for the function of HCV glycoproteins (McCaffrey *et al.*, 2011). However, in contrast to HVR1, they are not targets for humoral immune response.

Recently, two independent crystal structures have been provided for the core ectodomain of E2 protein (Khan *et al.*, 2014, Kong *et al.*, 2013) (Figure 5b and c, respectively) and amino-terminal domain of E1 (El Omari *et al.*, 2014) (Figure 5d). The structures of E1 and E2 lack the hallmarks of viral membrane fusion proteins suggesting a possible new entry mechanism for HCV.

а



**Figure 5. HCV E1 and E2 glycoproteins.** (a) Schematic of the HCV E1 and E2 that shows the conserved glycosylation sites (trees). (b) and (C) Two structures of the core ectodomain of E2. (D) Represents the structure of the amino terminal domain of E2.

### 1.5 Nonstructural proteins

#### 1.5.1 P7

P7 is a small, 63 aa, integral membrane protein located at the junction between structural and nonstructural proteins (Lin *et al.*, 1994). It is classified as viroporin, as influenza virus M2 protein, based on its ability to alter membrane permeability (Nieva *et al.*, 2012). It comprises two transmembrane  $\alpha$ -helices with an N and C termini oriented towards ER lumen connected by a cytosolic loop (Carrere-Kremer *et al.*, 2002, Vieyres *et al.*, 2013). P7 forms hexameric or heptameric structures with cation channel activity to facilitate the formation of infectious viral particles (Chandler *et al.*, 2012). It was shown that trafficking of viral and cellular glycoproteins is delayed by the action of P7. Furthermore, P7 could act to prevent acidification in intracellular compartment to promote infectious viral particles production (Wozniak *et al.*, 2010). Recently, it was shown that, in addition to its function as viroporin, P7 could act as lipid raft adhesion factor for HCV budding process (G. Y. Lee *et al.*, 2016). Although P7 is required for virus assembly but not replication, the exact function of P7 has not been elucidated yet (Scull *et al.*, 2015).

#### 1.5.2 NS2

NS2 is a 217 aa integral membrane protein. It binds to intracellular membranes via its hydrophobic N-terminal domain that contains 3 transmembrane segments (Jirasko *et al.*, 2008). NS2 gene encodes for a cysteine protease responsible for its autocleavage from the HCV polyprotein precursor at NS2/NS3 junction. The activity of this cysteine protease has been shown to be greatly improved by one third N-terminal of the NS3 protein (Schregel *et al.*, 2009). The catalytic activity resides at the C-terminal domain. The crystal structure of this domain revealed a dimer with two active sites (Lorenz *et al.*, 2006). Despite the fact that NS2 is dispensable for RNA replication, NS2 plays a crucial organizing role in the assembly of infectious viral particles. This action was shown to be independent of its protease activity and may involve interaction network with other structural and

nonstructural proteins (Boson *et al.*, 2011, Stapleford *et al.*, 2011). Recently, it was proposed that NS2 protease activation in modulated by a conserved NS3 surface patch (Isken *et al.*, 2015).

#### 1.5.3 NS3-4A complex

NS3 and its co-factor, NS4A, form a non-covalent complex (J. L. Kim et al., 1996). NS3 is a 70 kDa multifunctional protein with a serine protease located in the Nterminal (aa 1-180) and an NTPase/RNA helicase in the C-terminal (aa 181-631). The activity of both enzymes is well characterized and their crystal structures have been resolved (Morikawa et al., 2011, Raney et al., 2010, Yao et al., 1999). NS3-4A protease activity is required for cleavage at four junctions in the HCV polyprotein, NS3/NS4A, NS4A/NS4B, NS4B/NS5A. and NS5A/NS5B (Bartenschlager et al., 1993, Grakoui et al., 1993). In addition, NS3-4A protease was shown to target, so far, three cellular factors for cleavage. These include Tcell protein tyrosine phosphatase (TC-PTP), mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein (MAVS), and toll/IL-1 receptor homology domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN- $\beta$  (TRIF), which may be implicated in the development of chronic infection and HCC (K. Li et al., 2005, Meylan et al., 2005). Accordingly, NS3-4A protease plays essential roles not only in the replication but also in the persistence and pathogenesis of HCV (Morikawa et al., 2011). This made the NS3-4A protease a primary target for DAAs. The binding of NS4A to NS3 was shown to stabilize the NS3 structure and hence enhances its catalytic activity and directs it to cellular membrane localization via the hydrophobicity of the N-terminal transmembrane  $\alpha$ helix of NS4A (Abian et al., 2010). Furthermore, the C-terminal acidic portion of NS4A is involved in the regulation of HCV RNA replication and virus assembly by interacting with other viral nonstructural proteins forming what is called the replication complex (Morikawa et al., 2011). NS4A was also shown to regulate HCV replication through its role in NS5A hyperphosphorylation (Lindenbach et al., 2007). The NS3 NTPase/RNA helicase belongs to the superfamily 2 DExH/Dbox helicases (Raney et al., 2010). It combines ATP hydrolysis activity to its capability

14

to unwind either double-stranded RNA or single-stranded RNA regions with extensive secondary structure. Although the NS3 helicase is essential for HCV RNA replication and also plays a role in viral particle assembly, its precise role (s) in HCV life cycle remain(s) still not determined.

#### 1.5.4 NS4B

NS4B is a hydrophobic 27 kDa protein that is poorly characterized (Hugle et al., 2001). It is an integral protein consists of a N-terminal part (aa 1-69), a central portion with at least four predicted transmembrane (TM) domains (aa 70-190), and a C-terminal part (aa 191-261) (Gouttenoire et al., 2009b, Hugle et al., 2001, Lundin *et al.*, 2003). The N-terminal part comprises two amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helices, AH1 (aa 3-35) and AH2 (aa 42-66). The AH2 is conserved across different genotypes and is crucial for HCV replication (Elazar et al., 2004, Gouttenoire et al., 2014). This segment plays an important role in the assembly of a functional replication complex. The C-terminus comprises a highly conserved amphipathic αhelix, H1, (aa 201–213) and a membrane-associated amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helix, H2, (aa 229–253), and two other palmitoylation sites (Gouttenoire et al., 2009b, G. Y. Yu et al., 2006). Upon NS4B dimerization/ multimerization, the N-terminus can translocate its AH1 part into the ER lumen promoting recruitment of the replication complex via its role in the formation of membranous web (MW), a specific membrane alteration consisting of confined membranous vesicles that serves as a scaffold for the HCV replication complex, thus allowing HCV RNA replication (Egger et al., 2002, Gosert et al., 2003, Gouttenoire et al., 2009a, Romero-Brey et al., 2012). In addition, NS4B interacts with other viral nonstructural proteins and can bind viral RNA (Einav et al., 2008). The central portion of NS4B harbors a nucleotide-binding motif (NBM) Walker A located between TM2 and TM3 domains with NTPase activity. This NBM walker A exists in all HCV genotypes and shows importance in HCV life cycle (Einav et al., 2004, Jones et al., 2009). Altogether, NS4B is considered as a master organizer of HCV replication complex formation.

Therefore, NS4B is also considered as a potential target for antivirals (Cannalire *et al.*, 2016, Rai *et al.*, 2011).

#### 1.5.5 NS5A

NS5A is a 447-aa membrane-associated phosphoprotein that plays an important role in modulating HCV RNA replication and particle formation. It can be found in basally phosphorylated (56 kDa) and hyperphosphorylated (58 kDa) forms. NS5A has N-terminal membrane anchoring domain in addition to three other domains, D1, D2 and D3 separated by two low complexity sequences (LCS). D1 (aa 36-213) and D2 (aa 250-342) are mainly involved in HCV RNA replication while D3 (aa 356-447) is implicated in viral assembly (Appel et al., 2008, S. Kim et al., 2011, Tellinghuisen et al., 2008, Tellinghuisen et al., 2004). Moreover, D1 was shown to be involved in lipid droplets (LDs) binding (Miyanari et al., 2007) whereas D2 is involved in the interaction with core protein (Masaki et al., 2008). The basal phosphorylation of NS5A protein is a conserved feature within flaviviruses (Reed et al., 1998). In the case of HCV NS5A, it occurs at the C-terminal and the central portion of the protein while hyperphosphorylation of the protein requires the serine residues 225, 229, and 232 in the first LCS. Indeed, cell culture adaptive changes often affect these centrally located serine residues suggesting that the phosphorylation state of NS5A modulates the efficiency of HCV RNA replication (Appel et al., 2005, Evans et al., 2004, Neddermann et al., 2004). Cellular protein kinases in the CMGC kinase family, named by the initials of some members of the family, mediate NS5A phosphorylation. These include cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK), mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK), glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) and casein kinase II (CKII) (Asabe et al., 1997, Koch et al., 1999, Lindenbach et al., 2007, Macdonald et al., 2004, Tellinghuisen et al., 2008). The subcellular distribution of both forms of NS5A seems to be similar. Thus, the phosphorylation level of NS5A does not alter its localization to the ER membrane (Tanji et al., 1995). However, the phosphorylation of NS5A is shown to enhance its degradation and decreases the protein half-life (Y. Huang et al., 2007b). NS5A

16

is also involved in the production of infectious virions through its interaction with core protein, which needs a basal phosphorylation of NS5A (Masaki *et al.*, 2008). The role of NS5A in HCV RNA replication and virion formation made it an attractive target for DAA (Adler *et al.*, 2014)

#### 1.5.6 NS5B

NS5B is a conserved 68 kDa protein with RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) activity. It is the key enzyme responsible for the initiation of complementary negative-strand RNA synthesis and subsequent synthesis of genomic positivestrand RNA using this negative-strand RNA as template. Due to the lack of proofreading of RdRp, HCV replication is error-prone. This 591 aa viral enzyme has been widely studied and characterized (Behrens et al., 1996, Lesburg et al., 1999, Lohmann et al., 1997, Simister et al., 2009). The NS5B catalytic domain is located at the N-terminal 530 aa and contains motifs that are common in all RdRps. These include the hallmark GDD sequence within motif C, and the classical fingers, palm, and thumb subdomain organization of a right hand. The catalytic domain and the C-terminal membrane anchor are separated by a 40-aa linker between (aa 570-591) that occludes the active site. Within the palm and thumb domains, there are four allosteric sites which serve as potential targets for DAA development (Beaulieu, 2009, Court et al., 2016, Pierra Rouviere et al., 2016). NS5B can interact with other viral proteins such as NS3, NS4A and NS5A (Ishido et al., 1998). In addition, it can interact with cellular proteins like hVAP-33, which facilitates the formation of the viral RNA replication complex (Tu et al., 1999). Recently, it was shown to interact with Valosin-containing protein (VCP), which is a AAA+ATPase that can modulate viral replication (Yi et al., 2016). It can also form a complex with the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor protein (pRb) and promote pRb degradation in a ubiquitin-dependent manner, thus contributing to HCC development (Munakata et al., 2007). Moreover, NS5B was found to interact with ubiquitin-like protein hPLIC1 (human homolog 1 of protein linking integrinassociated protein and cytoskeleton) and causes NS5B ubiquitination. The

17

ubiquitination modification of NS5B through hPLIC1 binding promotes ubiquitindependent proteasome degradation, resulting in reduction of NS5B level (Gao *et al.*, 2003). As NS5B primarily functions in RNA replication, decrease in NS5B through proteasome degradation leads to decrease in HCV RNA replication. Thus up-regulation of NS5B ubiquitination could be a potential target for anti-viral development.

### 1.6 HCV virion structure

Despite the significant progress in cell culture systems which enables the production of viral particles as well as several biochemical and morphological studies, the structure of the HCV particle remains elusive.

Viral particles purified from patients' sera or cell culture media by filtration and visualized by electron microscopy (EM) revealed that, HCV has a spherical morphology of different sizes (range 40-80 nm diameter) (Catanese *et al.*, 2013, Kaito *et al.*, 1994, X. Li *et al.*, 1995). The HCV genome interacts with the core protein to form the nucleocapsid that is surrounded by a lipid membrane, called the viral envelope, in which are anchored two envelope glycoproteins, E1 and E2. These two glycoproteins assemble as a E1E2 heterodimer that is stabilized by disulfide bonds on the viral particle where they represent the major viral determinants of HCV entry (Figure 6).

One unique feature of HCV virion is its association with apolipoproteins (apo) such as apoE, apoB, apoA1, apoC1, apoC2 and apoC3 (Andre *et al.*, 2002, Catanese *et al.*, 2013, Chang *et al.*, 2007, Meunier *et al.*, 2008, Nielsen *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, analysis of cell culture-produced viral particles by mass spectrometry indicates that their lipid composition resembles the one of the very low-density lipoproteins (VLDLs) and low-density lipoproteins (LDLs) with cholesteryl esters (CEs) accounting for almost half of the total HCV lipids (Merz *et al.*, 2011). Purified infectious virions showed a pleomorphic nature of HCV virions and show viral particles with a rather smooth and even surface (Merz *et al.*, 2011).
The type of the interactions occurring between HCV virion components and the lipoprotein remains elusive. One proposed model suggested that HCV particles form a lipo-viro-particle (LVP), a combination of a virion moiety and a lipoprotein moiety (see figure 6A) (Andre et al., 2002, Bartenschlager et al., 2011). However, alternative models have also been suggested, with lipoproteins peripherally associated with canonical viral particles via interaction between apolipoproteins and HCV envelope lipids or proteins (Lindenbach, 2013). In both models, the interaction of virus particles with lipoprotein may contribute to the protection of virus particles from circulating neutralizing antibodies (Andre et al., 2002, Catanese et al., 2013, Dao Thi et al., 2012). Importantly, apolipoprotein(s) associated with HCV particles play a critical role in HCV entry. The difficulty to investigate natural HCV, or LVP, and its different lipoprotein or immunoglobulinassociated forms is due to low infectivity of serum-derived HCV either in primary hepatocytes or hepatoma cell lines (Fournier et al., 1998, Rumin et al., 1999). In addition, the mechanism(s) by which LVPs mediate cell entry, leading to release of HCV genetic material and RNA replication, have not been fully characterized.



**Figure 6.** The components of each HCV particle type. The apolipoprotein composition of each type of viral particle is indicated in the figure. [modified from (Douam *et al.*, 2015)]

The development of several surrogate in vitro assays to overcome these limitations has been successfully achieved. Among them, two main assays consist of cell culture grown HCV (HCVcc) derived from a fulminant hepatitis C JFH-1 and JFH-1-derived recombinant genomes (Lindenbach *et al.*, 2005, Wakita *et al.*, 2005) and of HCV pseudoparticles (HCVpp) harboring authentic E1E2 glycoproteins which is particularly beneficial to study viral entry (see figure 6C) (Bartosch *et al.*, 2003a, Drummer *et al.*, 2003). HCVcc exists as a mixture of infectious and noninfectious particles and displays a broad density profile similar to HCV derived from patients' sera. Higher specific infectivity was shown to be associated to low-density fractions (Gastaminza *et al.*, 2006, Lindenbach *et al.*, 2006, Podevin *et al.*, 2010). The lipid composition of HCVcc particles was determined and found similar to that of VLDL and LDL (Merz *et al.*, 2011). Highly purified HCVcc particles were found to contain

several apoE molecules on their surface as well as apoC-I and, to some extent, apoB (see figure 6B). This comes in line with the finding that HCV formation and secretion rely on VLDL assembly and secretion pathway (Chang *et al.*, 2007, Gastaminza *et al.*, 2008, H. Huang *et al.*, 2007a, Jiang *et al.*, 2009, Meunier *et al.*, 2008). While HCVcc, which are produced in human hepatoma cells typically Huh7 and Huh-7.5 cells, further permit investigation of the late steps of infection, HCVpp provide a flexible platform to study the structure/ function relationship of HCV glycoproteins *in vitro*. It is noteworthy that, since HCVpp are produced from 293T kidney cells, they are not associated to lipoproteins (Flint *et al.*, 2004), which, in turn, allows to investigate the cell entry events that are specifically linked to the functions of the E1E2 glycoproteins (Bartosch *et al.*, 2005). In addition, this provides a suitable tool to reconstitute some of the interactions of HCV with lipoproteins or apolipoproteins (Dreux *et al.*, 2007, Dreux *et al.*, 2006, Meunier *et al.*, 2005). Altogether, utilizing HCVcc and HCVpp allows the dissection of the cellular and viral factors involved in HCV infection.

## 1.7 HCV attachement

Hepatocytes are the main target cells for HCV infection. However, infection of dendritic cells, B cells, and other cell types have also been reported. Viral entry into the host cell involves a complex multistep series of interactions including attachment, entry and fusion. The initial capture of HCV virion by its cell surface receptor/co-receptors may involve HVR1 in HCV E2 (Flint *et al.*, 2000). Depending on virion density, this step may be mediated by heparan sulfate proteoglycan (HSPG) syndecan-1 and/or syndecan-4 (Lefevre *et al.*, 2014, Shi *et al.*, 2013) or by the scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) (Figure 7) (Dao Thi *et al.*, 2012). Although, the initial binding of virions to HSPG or SR-BI was thought to be through HCV glycoproteins (Barth *et al.*, 2003) (Scarselli *et al.*, 2002), a more recent data showed that apoE, rather than HCV glycoproteins, could be implicated in this binding (Dao Thi *et al.*, 2012, Jiang *et al.*, 2013). As HCV particle interacts with

lipoproteins, the LDL receptor (LDLR) has also been suggested to be involved in the early phase of HCV entry (Agnello *et al.*, 1999). However, this interaction may result in non-productive entry pathway and can potentially lead to viral particle degradation (Albecka *et al.*, 2012). After initial attachment step, and in addition to HSPG, SR-BI, and LDLR, several entry factors for HCV have been identified, including CD81, tight junction proteins claudin-1 (CLDN1) and occludin (OCLN), the receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK) epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), ephrin receptor A2 (EphA2), Niemann-Pick C1-like 1 cholesterol absorption receptor (NPC1L1) (Evans *et al.*, 2007, Liu *et al.*, 2009, Lupberger *et al.*, 2011, Pileri *et al.*, 1998, Ploss *et al.*, 2009, Sainz *et al.*, 2012), and the two recently identified entry factors transferrin receptor 1 and E-cadherin (Q. Li *et al.*, 2016, Martin *et al.*, 2013).

### 1.7.1 Scavenger receptor class B type I

The SR-BI is a 509 aa cell surface glycoprotein receptor that is present on many cell types with higher expression within the liver (Meredith et al., 2012). It has been identified as HCV E2 binding partner along with CD81(Pileri et al., 1998, Scarselli et al., 2002). SR-BI is involved in the lipid metabolism and is known to be a major receptor for high-density lipoproteins (HDLs) promoting its selective uptake into hepatocytes (Acton et al., 1996). It can also bind other lipoprotein classes such as the VLDL and LDL (Van Eck et al., 2008). A role of SRB1 in HCV entry was first suggested through its binding of HCV E2 HVR1 (Bartosch et al., 2003b, Catanese et al., 2007, Scarselli et al., 2002). The lipid transfer capability of SRB1 may be required for HCV cell entry as HCV entry is enhanced by HDL and could be inhibited by oxidized LDL (Dreux et al., 2009a, Meuleman et al., 2012). It was shown that SR-BI mediates primary attachment of HCV particles that have intermediate density to cell surface and that these interactions require apolipoproteins, such as apoE (Dao Thi et al., 2012). Recently it was shown that, introducing three specific mutations (Y507L, V514A, and V515A) located within E2 neutralizing epitope modulated HCV dependence on the viral receptor SRB1

(Lavie *et al.*, 2014). SRB1 antagonist was shown to inhibit HCV replication with additive to synergistic potency when used in combination with other antiviral therapeutics (Zhu *et al.*, 2012).

#### 1.7.2 CD81

Human CD81 is a tetraspanin adaptor cell surface molecule that is broadly expressed in many cell types (van Spriel *et al.*, 2010). It is involved in many cellular functions including adhesion, morphology, proliferation and differentiation. It harbors four transmembrane domains, two short intracellular domains and two extracellular loops, named SEL and LEL (Meredith *et al.*, 2012). The involvement of CD81 in HCV entry is likely to be after the very early attachment phase (i.e. after SRB1), promoting a conformational change in the HCV E1/E2 glycoproteins. This conformational change facilitates low pH-dependent fusion and viral endocytosis (Sharma *et al.*, 2011). HCV, through its envelope glycoprotein E2, binds CD81 large extracellular loop to facilitate HCV entry (Petracca *et al.*, 2000, Pileri *et al.*, 1998). The CD81 large extracellular loop sequence is conserved between humans and chimpanzees. However, CD81 from other species, including species that are not permissive to HCV infection, can support HCV entry *in vitro* suggesting that CD81 sequence variability is not sufficient to define HCV susceptibility (Flint *et al.*, 2006).

## 1.7.3 Claudin 1 and Occludin

Claudin 1 and Occludin are two tight junction proteins that were identified after screening of a cDNA library of potential cellular factors implicated in HCV entry utilizing HCVpp (Evans *et al.*, 2007, Ploss *et al.*, 2009). Neither CLDN1 nor OCLN directly interact with HCV envelope. Although, CLDN1 may interact with CD81 as a part of the HCV receptor complex (Harris *et al.*, 2010, Harris *et al.*, 2008). It was suggested that CLDN1 and OCLN are involved in a later phase of HCV entry, after SRB1 and CD81, although their exact roles are still elusive. It was also shown that

HCV envelope glycoproteins promote co-endocytosis of CD81 and CLDN1 and fusion with early endosome (Farquhar *et al.*, 2012). It was shown that anti-CLDN1 monoclonal antibodies can inhibit HCV infection in primary hepatocytes *in vitro* as well as in cell lines by neutralizing the interactions between HCV E2 and CLDN1 (Fofana *et al.*, 2010, Krieger *et al.*, 2010). Synchronized infection assays showed that HCV utilizes CD81, Claudin-1, and Occludin in this order during the attachment and entry. In addition, downregulation of Occludin reduces both HCV entry and glycoprotein-mediated cell fusion (Sourisseau *et al.*, 2013).

#### 1.7.4 Receptor tyrosine kinases

The two RTKs including the EGFR and EphA2 were identified as HCV entry cofactors using a functional RNAi kinase screen (Lupberger et al., 2011). EGFR is known to regulate several key processes including cell proliferation, survival, and differentiation during development, tissue homeostasis and tumorigenesis (Schneider et al., 2009). While EphA2 is involved in cell positioning, cell morphology, polarity and motility (Lackmann *et al.*, 2008). These RTKs appear to participate in HCV entry after the initial engagement step, by regulating CD81 and CLDN1 co-receptor interactions and viral E2-mediated membrane fusion by EGFR-dependent signaling pathways (Lupberger et al., 2011). Indeed, the small GTPase HRas (Harvey Rat Sarcoma oncogene homologue) was identified as a host signal transducer that represents the physical link between the HCV–CD81– CLDN1 complex and the EGFR/Shc1/Grb2/HRas signaling pathway (Zona et al., 2013). Stimulation of EGFR activates the Ras/MEK/ERK pathway which promotes MAPK interacting serine/threonine kinase 1 (MKNK1) activation. Later on, MKNK1 was identified as a host factor in HCV entry, which possibly act to facilitate the steps that are downstream of the EGFR (S. Kim et al., 2013a).

#### 1.7.5 Niemann-Pick C1-like 1 cholesterol absorption receptor

Niemann-Pick C1-like 1 cholesterol absorption receptor (NPC1L1) is a 13 transmembrane-domain cell surface cholesterol-sensing receptor expressed on the apical surface of intestinal enterocytes and human hepatocytes. NPC1L1 is responsible for cellular cholesterol absorption and whole-body cholesterol homeostasis (Castro-Torres *et al.*, 2014, L. Yu, 2008). HCV entry was shown to be inhibited by the available NPC1L1 antagonist ezetimibe which is FDA-approved to treat hypercholesterolemia (Sainz *et al.*, 2012). Based on an experiment comparing the susceptibility of HCVpp and HCVcc entry to ezetimibe, it was demonstrated that the cholesterol content of viral particles correlates with NPC1L1-mediated infection (Sainz *et al.*, 2012).

#### 1.7.6 Transferrin receptor 1

Transferrin receptor 1 (TfR1) is the main receptor for cellular iron uptake into cells and is ubiquitously expressed in all tissues. After TfR1 binds to its extracellular ligand, iron-bound transferrin, the TfR1-trafficking protein (TTP) facilitates its internalization via clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Once iron is released in the cytoplasm, TfR1 will be recycled back to the cell surface (Tosoni *et al.*, 2005). It has been shown that HCV infection can alter the expression of TfR1. In addition, blocking of the cell surface TfR1 inhibits HCVcc and HCVpp infection, demonstrating that TfR1 acts at the level of HCV glycoprotein-dependent entry. The role of TfR1 in HCV entry was suggested to be beyond CD81 and might be specifically involved in HCV particle internalization (Martin *et al.*, 2013).

#### 1.7.7 E-cadherin

E-cadherin, encoded by the CDH1 gene, is a major classical adherent junction protein. It is a transmembrane glycoprotein that plays an important role in maintaining cell-cell adhesion. In addition, it performs a vital role in establishing epithelial architecture and maintaining cell polarity and differentiation (Stemmler, 2008, van Roy *et al.*, 2008). Recently, E-cadherin was identified as key modulator of HCV entry (Q. Li *et al.*, 2016). Depletion of E-cadherin has been shown to drastically diminishes the cell-surface distribution of the CLDN1 and OCLN in various hepatic cell lines. Thus, suggesting that E-cadherin plays an important regulatory role in CLDN1/OCLN localization on the cell surface (Q. Li *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 7. Model of HCV entry. The main HCV entry receptors and cofactors are indicated. The entry is composed of 7 main steps as indicated. (Douam *et al.*, 2015)

HCV entry to the cell occurs by clathrin-mediated endocytosis, a dynamindependent pinocytosis endocytic mechanism (Figure 7) (E. Blanchard *et al.*, 2006b). During this process, particle attachment induces the inward budding of the plasma membrane and the formation of a clathrin pit that internalizes the particle– receptor complex. Down regulation of the clathrin heavy chain was shown to inhibit HCVpp and HCVcc infection (A. A. Blanchard et al., 2006a). Moreover, internalization of CD81–Claudin-1 complexes through clathrin-dependent endocytosis has been observed during HCV infection. This was shown to be consistent with the fact that CD81–Claudin-1 association is critical for virus internalization and that virus internalization occurs prior to the fusion step (Farguhar et al., 2012, Harris et al., 2010, Harris et al., 2008, Krieger et al., 2010). Following endocytosis, HCV-receptor complexes migrate to the RAB5A-positive endosomal compartments. Fusion is thought to occur at these compartments to allow the release of HCV RNA (Coller et al., 2012, Meertens et al., 2006). The release of viral RNA is believed to be through membrane fusion which is mediated by endosomal acidification. This is based on the observation that the use of bafilomycin A1 which prevents the endosomal re-acidification, has been shown to block HCV infection (Meertens et al., 2006, Sharma et al., 2011). By using transdominant-negative mutants in an HCVpp experiment, it has been shown that HCV membrane fusion occurs in an early endosomal compartment that was not positive for RAB7 (Meertens et al., 2006). Few evidences suggested that the interaction of HCV with CD81 may trigger a conformational change permitting low pH-induced membrane fusion (Sharma et al., 2011). Altogether, the mechanisms behind the activation of HCV for low pH-induced fusion, the fusion step, and the identity of the fusion peptide(s) are still unknown.

#### **1.8 HCV replication and membranous web formation**

A hallmark of all positive-strand RNA viruses is the induction of extensive cytoplasmic membrane proliferation and remodeling (Romero-Brey *et al.*, 2014). Depending on the virus type, the induced membrane structures derived from either ER, Golgi apparatus, mitochondria or even lysosomes provide suitable microenvironments for viral replication. The exact role of membranes in viral RNA synthesis is not understood. Evidences suggest that they may serve to increase local concentration of host and viral factors required for efficient RNA replication,

to facilitate spatial coordination of different steps of the viral replication cycle, and to protect viral RNA and proteins from degradation and immune defense (Paul et al., 2013, Paul et al., 2014, Romero-Brey et al., 2015). The induced membrane rearrangement by positive-strand RNA viruses can be confined to two main morphological subclasses: the invaginated vesicle/spherule type within the ER and the double-membrane vesicle (DMV) type (Chatel-Chaix et al., 2014, Romero-Brey et al., 2014). Unlike other related flaviviruses, HCV is known uniquely to induce a matrix of DMVs, designated membranous web (MW) (Figure 8). EM analysis of HCV polyprotein expressing cells in recent studies revealed that the diameter of these DMVs is with an average of 150 nm. and contain active replicase complexes, supporting the model that they form to support viral RNA replication (Paul et al., 2013, Romero-Brey et al., 2012). The outer membranes of ~50% of DMVs connect to the ER membrane via a neck-like structure. Biochemical analyses of purified vesicles revealed the presence of ER calnexin and calreticulin proteins, confirming the ER as a major source of membranes for MW formation (Ferraris et al., 2010, Miyanari et al., 2003)

For a period of time, it was believed that viral NS4B protein was responsible for the induction of MW formation during HCV infection since its sole expression can induce massive membrane rearrangements (Egger *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, mutations in NS4B inhibiting self-interaction affect DMVs morphology and block HCV RNA replication (Paul *et al.*, 2011). However, by using a replication-independent polyprotein expression approach, it has been found that NS5A was the only protein capable of inducing DMVs, while only single-membrane vesicles (SMVs) were observed in NS3/4A-, NS4B-, and NS5B-expressing cells (Reiss *et al.*, 2011, Romero-Brey *et al.*, 2012). The contribution of SMVs to HCV replication is unknown, but one model postulates that local, HCV-induced exvaginations form SMVs and, while the vesicles remain attached to the ER, a secondary invagination produces DMVs (Romero-Brey *et al.*, 2012). Since none of the HCV proteins expressed solely was capable of inducing a MW, this suggests that MW formation most likely requires a concerted action of the replicase proteins.

Several host cell factors are also involved in this membrane remodeling. Among these critical players is the prolyl-peptidyl *cis-trans* isomerase cyclophilin A (CypA) that binds to the D2 domain of NS5A. CypA has been shown to be critical for RNA replication and its pharmacological inhibition has been shown to block *de novo* formation of DMVs (Madan *et al.*, 2014). In addition to CypA, NS5A also associates with phosphatidyl-inositol-4-kinase-IIIa (PI4KIIIa) and induces the accumulation of PI4P within the MW (Figure 8). Knockdown of PI4KIIIa expression or NS5A mutations abrogates this interaction cause size reduction and aggregation of DMVs, strongly correlating with serious defects in RNA replication (Reiss *et al.*, 2013).



**Figure 8. HCV induced membranous web formation.** HCV induces a massive remodeling of intracellular membranes, the majority of which are double-membrane vesicles (DMVs) while multimembrane vesicles (MMVs) are less frequent. (1) The interaction of PI4KIIIa with NS5A and NS5B induces high levels of PI4P. (2) The oxysterol-binding protein (OSBP) traffics cholesterol to HCV-induced MW which is facilitated by the increase of PI4P levels and the interactions with VAPs and NS5A. (Paul *et al.*, 2014)

## 1.9 HCV assembly and release

HCV assembly is the complex process of packaging viral genome into nucleocapsid and their subsequent envelopment. This process is dependent on

cytoplasmic lipids droplets (cLDs), which are organelles responsible for neutral lipid storage and involved in many cellular processes (McLauchlan, 2009). cLDs are composed of a neutral lipid core consisting of triglycerides and cholesterol esters, surrounded by a phospholipid monolayer likely derived from the ER outer leaflet. Within the MW in a position juxtaposed to the ER as revealed by EM, cLDs are regarded as platforms for HCV virion assembly (Miyanari *et al.*, 2007).

Two HCV proteins, the core and NS5A, associate with cLDs during virion assembly. On one hand, the core recruits other viral proteins and host cell factors involved in regulation of infectious particle production to the periphery of cLDs. On the other hand, NS5A has an intrinsic cLD targeting sequence and may act to traffic viral RNA out of DMVs to the cLD surface where the encapsidation by core is initiated (Appel *et al.*, 2008, Filipe *et al.*, 2015). Interestingly, the transfer of core and NS5A to cLDs is linked via common host factors (e.g., diacylglycerol acyltransferase-1 (DGAT1), Rab18 and apolipoprotein J) (Filipe *et al.*, 2015). The process of infectious HCV particles assembly appears to be orchestrated by NS2 that interacts on one hand with p7 and the envelope glycoproteins (E1 and E2) and on the other hand with NS3, which is part of the viral replicase (Lindenbach, 2013). Thus, NS2 might link the RNA-containing replicase with the machinery required for envelopment of HCV particles. Moreover, p7 appears to be involved in capsid envelopment and may protect virus particles against acidic pH during passage through the secretory pathway.

In addition to cLDs, HCV assembly also relies on host cell machineries, such as components of the low-density lipoprotein pathway (H. Huang *et al.*, 2007a). This is consistent with the nature of HCV particles circulating in the blood as the LVP (Andre *et al.*, 2002).

During egress, HCV particles depend on p7 to neutralize acidic compartments within the secretory pathway. The virus particles might undergo post-synthetic lipidation, similar to the VLDL assembly pathway, since the intracellular HCVcc particles have a higher buoyant density than extracellular particles and acquire their low buoyant density in a post-ER compartment (Gastaminza *et al.*, 2008). Recently, it has been shown that, instead of being packaged into nucleocapsid,

HCV RNA can be released within exosomes and transferred between cells (Bukong *et al.*, 2014). This suggests that exosomes mediate viral transmission of HCV to cells in a receptor-independent manner.

# 2 AUTOPHAGY

## 2.1 The autophagy machinery

Autophagy (literally "self-eating") is an intracellular degradation process that mammalian cell performs in order to survive under stress conditions related to nutrition starvation or infection (Deretic *et al.*, 2009). The canonical autophagy process can be divided in six sequential steps: (1) induction, (2) membrane nucleation, (3) membrane expansion and autophagosome formation, (4) fusion with the lysosome, and (5) degradation (Figure 9). In the initial step of autophagy induction (initiation and vesicle nucleation), the ULK/Atg1 complex activates the class III phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase complex, which recruits a series of autophagy-related genes (ATG) proteins to the phagophore (isolation membrane) which originates either via *de novo* lipid synthesis or from preexisting organelles (Green *et al.*, 2014, Simonsen *et al.*, 2009). Subsequently, the edges of these phagophores elongate to sequester part of the cytoplasm, leading to the formation of double-membrane vesicles, known as autophagosomes.

During phagophore elongation and vesicle completion, two ubiquitin-like conjugation systems (Atg12-conjugation and microtubule-associated protein 1A/1B light chain 3 (LC3)-conjugation system) control the covalent conjugation of Atg5 to Atg12 and the conversion of LC3 (LC3-I) to its phosphatidylethanolamine-conjugated form (LC3-II) (Ohsumi, 2001). LC3-II is generated by a process resembling ubiquitination that involves E1, E2, and E3 ligases. The LC3-I is generated by the action of a protease, ATG4, which cleaves LC3 to form LC3-I. This is bound by the E1, ATG7, and transferred to the E2, ATG3 which facilitate the lipidation of LC3-I forming the membrane bound form LC3-II with the help of the E3 ligase. The E3 ligase is a complex composed of ATG16L1 and ATG5-12 (named as the elongation complex); the latter is produced by another reaction in

which ATG12 is bound by the E1, ATG7, transferred to a different E2, ATG10, and from there to ATG5. The process by which ATG12-5 and LC3-II are formed is referred to as the conjugation reaction and is required for the formation of the autophagosome.

Once the autophagosome is formed, the outer membrane of the mature autophagosome fuses with the lysosome to form an autolysosome allowing the degradation of the sequestered cytoplasmic material by the action of lysosomal enzymes (Levine et al., 2008). The precise mechanism that mediates this fusion event has been recently identified, and involves soluble N-ethylmaleimidesensitive factor attachment protein receptor (SNARE) complexes, including STX17, SNAP29, and VAMP8 (Itakura et al., 2012b). The fusion between autophagosomes and lysosomes is regulated by the adaptor protein SNAP29 with SNAP29-STX17 located on the through two-way interactions, autophagosome membrane and SNAP29-VAMP8 located on the lysosome membrane. In addition, Rab7, a small GTPase belonging to the Ras-like GTPase superfamily, has been shown to modulate autophagosome-lysosome fusion (Gutierrez et al., 2004, Jager et al., 2004). Recently, Pleckstrin homology domain containing protein family member 1 (PLEKHM1), a multivalent endocytic adaptor protein that links LC3 to HOPS and Rab7, and ATG14 were found to be critical for the maturation of autophagosomes (Diao et al., 2015, McEwan et al., 2015). Interestingly, in a recent study it has been shown that the mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTORC1), a known negative regulator of early autophagy events, regulates autophagosome maturation by phosphorylating UV radiation resistanceassociated gene product (UVRAG) protein (Y. M. Kim *et al.*, 2015)



**Figure 9. Scheme of autophagy mechanism.** Autophagy is initiated with the formation of limiting membrane, phagophore. Cargo sequestration occurs either in bulk or selective manner. After engulfment, the sealed autophagosome fuses with lysosome to deliver the cargo where its degradation takes place by lysosomal hydrolases.(J. Huang *et al.*, 2014)

## 2.2 The non-canonical autophagy

Canonical autophagy involves the sequential activity of defined molecular complexes, whose roles and importance have been described earlier. However, it has been revealed that the formation of functional autophagosomes can bypass certain steps, eliminating the use of particular molecular autophagy complexes (Figure 10) (Codogno *et al.*, 2011). For example, LC3 lipidation still occurs in *ulk1/(atg1) and ulk2* knockout mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs), suggesting

that the ULK1 complex is not essential for activation of the LC3 conjugation machinery and that the autophagy events can be initiated in an ULK1-independent manner (Cheong *et al.*, 2011, Wong *et al.*, 2013). In addition, Atg5- and Atg7-independent autophagy has also been described, which does not involve LC3 conversion, and might specifically involve the formation of autophagosomes from late endosomes and the *trans*-Golgi network (Figure 10) (Nishida *et al.*, 2009). Recently, Atg5- and Atg7-independent autophagy has been shown to be required for clearance of mitochondria in reticulocytes (Honda *et al.*, 2014)

The discovery of alternative, autophagy pathways suggests that autophagic processes are more diverse than initially anticipated. Concomitantly, depending on the stimuli and cellular condition, only a subset of autophagy-related complexes/proteins may be activated at one time to degrade and recycle material.



**Figure 10. Non-canonical autophagy.** The autophagic proteins that has been proposed to participate in non-canonical autophagy are in blue, while proteins that are not required are transparent. Proteins that are required for certain forms of non-canonical autophagy are in green (Lindqvist *et al.*, 2015).

## 2.3 Selective autophagy

In contrast to the canonical autophagy, which is characterized by random sequestration of cytosolic contents, selective autophagy operates under nutrientrich conditions and is marked by the presence of specialized autophagosomes confining substrates such as damaged or superfluous organelles, including mitochondria and peroxisomes, as well as invasive microbes in a selective manner (Yang *et al.*, 2010). Each specific process involves a core set of machinery, as well

as specific components, and accordingly is identified with a unique name. For example, selective degradation of mitochondria by autophagy is termed mitophagy, xenophagy for pathogens, pexophagy for peroxisomes, aggrephagy for aggregated proteins, etc. (Figure 11) (Deffieu et al., 2009, Dunn et al., 2005). The selectivity relies on autophagy receptors which link the cargo, through their degradation signals, to the autophagosomal membrane, leading to the engulfment of cargo by the autophagosome (Johansen et al., 2011). In yeast, five receptors have been described so far to mediate cargo selection: Atg19 and Atg34 (Cvt pathway), Atg32 (mitophagy), Atg36 and Atg30 (pexophagy), some of which have homologues in higher eukaryotes (Meijer et al., 2007). In mammalian cells, more than 20 autophagy receptors were identified by the yeast two-hybrid system and proteomic approaches (Behrends et al., 2010, Kirkin et al., 2009). The most prevalent autophagy targeting signal in mammals is the modification of cargos with ubiquitin (Ub), a small conserved protein that when originally added to a protein signals its degradation via proteasomes (Kirkin et al., 2007). The efficiency of ubiquitylation, as a cargo signal, is both critical and sufficient to induce their autophagic clearance through binding to Ub-binding domains (UBDs) that are currently identified in most of autophagy receptors (Wild *et al.*, 2014). In contrary, selective autophagy receptors in yeast do not use Ub modifications as a degradation signal which is similar to few mammalian autophagy receptors like NIX or BNIP3, which are located at the outer mitochondrial membrane (J. Zhang et al., 2009).



**Figure 11. Different types of mammalian selective autophagy and their respective receptors.** Receptors in black are well established selective autophagy receptors, while receptors in red are putative selective autophagy receptors (Rogov *et al.*, 2014).

# 3 AUTOPHAGY AND VIRUSES

Autophagosomes were first observed during viral infection in 1965 when Dales and colleagues observed the presence of vesicles with two lipid bilayers late in poliovirus infection using EM (Dales *et al.*, 1965). They noticed the existence of virions near and often within, these vesicles. The authors suggested that these vesicles, termed at that time autolytic vesicles, appear as a secondary response to infection. Similar vesicles, named membrane-vesicle complexes, were later observed by EM of mouse pancreas infected with Coxsackie virus, suggesting that these structures, autophagosomes, were present during infection of multiple picornaviruses (Burch *et al.*, 1979).

## 3.1 Autophagy as anti-viral response

The hypothesis that autophagy would engulf and destroy pathogens has proven to be true for several pathogens and the process has been termed xenophagy (Paulus et al., 2015). In the case of viruses, it has been shown that binding partner of the anti-apoptotic regulatory protein Bcl-2, Beclin 1, a homologue of the yeast ATG6, when expressed from a recombinant Sindbis Virus, reduces virus load and protects mice from fatal encephalitis (X. H. Liang et al., 1999, X. H. Liang et al., 1998). In addition, several viruses encode a Beclin 1-binding protein, such as the Herpes Simplex Virus 1 (HSV1) protein, ICP34.5, (Orvedahl et al., 2007). Indeed, ICP34.5 binding to Beclin 1 inhibits the formation of autophagosomes in neurons, suggesting that the virus has evolved to actively inhibit autophagy. Other viral proteins inhibiting autophagy through Beclin 1 binding such as the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) open-reading-frame 16 protein and the murine gammaherpesvirus-68 M11 protein have been reported (Ku et al., 2008, M. Su et al., 2014). In addition to ICP34.5's Beclin 1 binding, HSV US11 protein inhibits autophagy through direct interaction with the PKR kinase, suggesting that HSV encodes at least two proteins capable of inhibiting autophagy, which may indicate the antiviral role of autophagy against this particular virus (Lussignol et al., 2013).

In xenophagy, the STimulator of INterferon Genes (STING), a transmembrane protein that act as xenophagy effector, senses dsDNA viruses and directs them for autophagic degradation (Barber, 2014). In addition, STING induces type I IFN, which suggests a role for autophagy in cell-to-cell immune signaling. Degradation of viral antigens via xenophagy can feed into the MHC Class II presentation pathway as well, indicating that xenophagy can play a role in both cell clearance of pathogens and prolonged presentation of antigen from those pathogens (Figure 12) (Paludan *et al.*, 2005).



**Figure 12. The antiviral role of autophagy.** Autophagy can limit viral replication and spread by the direct capture of virions, viral genome, or viral proteins, and the subsequent delivery of these to their respective compartments. A) Viral genome will be delivered to endosomal TLRs to induce innate immune sensors which, in turn, can also stimulate autophagy. B) Fusion of autophagosome, containing captured virions, with the lysosome which will lead to direct virion degradation. C) The autophagosome can transport viral antigens to MHC-I and -II complexes to stimulate antigen presentation (Jordan *et al.*, 2012).

## 3.2 Autophagy in viral immune response

The anti-viral capacity of autophagy in systemic immunity varies depending on the overall environment of the host and type of viral infection. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are involved in detecting virus components, such as single- and double-stranded viral RNAs (Zeng *et al.*, 2012). Intracellular sensors such as retinoic acid-inducible gene-1 (RIG-I) and melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5 (MDA-5), all named RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), can also detect viral nucleic acids in the

cytoplasm (Loo *et al.*, 2011). Several TLRs are known to activate innate responses during viral infections, including TLR2, TLR3, TLR4, TLR7 and TLR8. TLR-dependent autophagy has been shown to be required for an antiviral response against Rift Valley fever virus, Vesicular Stomatitis virus, and other viruses (Figure 12) (Moy *et al.*, 2014).

The autophagy machinery has also been shown to be required for a successful IFN $\gamma$  response against murine norovirus (MNV). Interestingly, this effect does not involve autophagic degradation (S. Hwang *et al.*, 2012). In addition, evidence suggests that placental trophoblasts protect the fetus from viruses by secreting exosomes that contain C19MC miRNAs, the largest known miRNA cluster, which are capable of inducing autophagy in neighboring cells to confer anti-viral resistance (Delorme-Axford *et al.*, 2013).Surprisingly, in this specific case, autophagy is anti-viral even for viruses which have been shown to be resistant to the anti-viral effects of autophagy, suggesting that a cell tropism governs the nature of the relationship between viruses and the autophagy.

## 3.3 Virus subversion of autophagy

Similar to evasion of the innate immune response, some viruses have developed strategies to defeat the antiviral effects of autophagy. Viruses have been reported to interfere with autophagy mechanism at two checkpoints. Either early during autophagosome formation or at the step of autophagosome fusion with late endosomes or lysosomes. HSV-1 ICP34.5 represents an example of viruses that inhibit early checkpoint of the mechanism by blocking the induction of autophagy by binding Beclin 1, thereby contributing to HSV-1 neurovirulence (Leib *et al.*, 2009, Orvedahl *et al.*, 2007). In addition, ICP34.5 blocks PKR/eIF2a signaling via dephosphorylation of eIF2a, thus employing a second mechanism to inhibit autophagosome formation, which is induced by PKR/eIF2a signaling (Talloczy *et al.*, 2002, Talloczy *et al.*, 2006). Other viruses including murine gamma-herpesvirus 68 (gHV68) and Kaposi's Sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV)

also encode a Beclin-1-interacting protein, v-Bcl2, that prevents autophagy at the step of autophagosome formation (Ku *et al.*, 2008, Pattingre *et al.*, 2005, Sinha *et al.*, 2008). On the other hand, HSV encodes for another protein, US11, that inhibits autophagy without interacting with Beclin 1.(Lussignol *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, KSHV also inhibits autophagy in a BECN1-independent manner by the action of its K7 protein, which blocks autophagosome maturation and fusion with lysosomes (Q. Liang *et al.*, 2013). A beta-herpesvirus, the human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) also inhibits autophagosome formation in primary human fibroblasts, possibly by stimulating the mTOR signaling pathway in infected cells.

Another example for viruses that subvert autophagy is influenza A virus (IAV). This subversion has been found to be dependent on the viral Matrix 2 (M2) ion-channel protein, which blocks fusion of autophagosome with lysosome (Gannage *et al.*, 2009).

## 3.4 Autophagy as a proviral mechanism

In contrast to DNA viruses, most of which inhibit autophagosome formation, RNA viruses often induce the accumulation of autophagic vesicles. As an intracellular membranous structure, autophagy has been proposed to act as a scaffold for replication factories of RNA viruses that are known to replicate and assemble in the cytoplasm or to support viral particle release (Figure 13). It has been shown that viral RNA replication/transcription complexes of nidoviruses, such as equine arteritis virus and coronaviruses (coV), are found anchored on DMVs which have two membranous layers and a size similar to autophagosomes (Figure 13). (Goldsmith *et al.*, 2004, Gosert *et al.*, 2002, Pedersen *et al.*, 1999, Posthuma *et al.*, 2008, Snijder *et al.*, 2001). Although these observations remain controversial, DMVs in cells infected with corona viruses like mouse hepatitis virus (MHV) or Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS)-CoV have been shown to contain viral components and to be positive for the autophagic marker, LC3II (Prentice *et al.*, 2004a, Prentice *et al.*, 2004b, Snijder *et al.*, 2006). In rota virus

infection, NSP4, a viral protein involved in virus replication and in budding of immature double- layered particles into the lumen of ER, co-localizes with LC3 and NSP5, a marker of rota virus RNA replication site (Berkova *et al.*, 2006). It is noteworthy that, in certain cases, the autophagy machinery is not necessarily involved in the formation of DMVs. As an example, the autophagy regulators Beclin1 and Atg5 are not involved in the formation of DMVs that contain immature vaccinia virions (H. Zhang *et al.*, 2006). Additionally, it has been reported that Atg5 is not required for replication and release of MHV, and that the morphological analysis did not show any differences in the structure of the intracellular membranes regardless of the presence or absence of Atg5 in MHV-infected primary macrophages and low passage of primary MEFs, despite of the controversy in this regard (Stertz *et al.*, 2007, Zhao *et al.*, 2007). Nevertheless, it is still possible that MHV induces DMVs formation by hijacking only part of the autophagy machinery.

Dengue virus (DENV), a single-stranded RNA virus, stimulates autolysosome formation during infection (Y. R. Lee et al., 2008, Panyasrivanit et al., 2009). Induction or inhibition of autophagy by using pharmacological drugs modulate DENV infection suggesting that the autophagy machinery is required for viral replication (Y. R. Lee et al., 2008). In cell infected with DENV, LC3II colocalizes with the DENV non-structural protein NS1 and with double-stranded RNA, suggesting the existence of replication complexes in autophagic vesicles (Panyasrivanit et al., 2009). It has been also shown that DENV induction of autophagy regulates lipid metabolism by processing LDs and triglycerides to release free fatty acids and production of ATP (Figure 13) (Heaton et al., 2010). A recent study has showed that autophagy-associated DENV vesicles can be released from infected cells and are capable of infecting new cells (Wu et al., 2016). These vesicles contained viral proteins E, NS1, prM/M, and viral RNA, as well as host LDs and LC3-II. The authors suggested that the virus uses this vesiclemediated transmission to evade the neutralizing antibodies (Wu et al., 2016). It is important to note that, while inhibition of autophagic and lysosomal membrane fusion increased DENV serotype 2 yield, it resulted in decreased production for DENV serotype 3 (Khakpoor *et al.*, 2009, Panyasrivanit *et al.*, 2009). This sheds light on the complex relation between the autophagy machinery and DENV infection that could be determined, at least in part, by viral factors whose roles vary between DENV serotypes.



**Figure 13. The proviral activity of autophagy.** By harnessing autophagosomes as membrane platform for viral replication complexes or to mediate virus assembly and release. In addition, viruses can trigger selective autophagy to degrade either lipids (LDs) for energy production during viral replication or to subvert immune responses via selectively degrading specific regulatory molecules (Chiramel *et al.*, 2013)

# 3.5 Autophagy and HCV

In the past few years, many research articles have been published to show that HCV could induce autophagy to support its own replication (mostly summarized in table 2). It could induce LC3 lipidation and the accumulation of autophagic vesicles

in immortalized primary human hepatocytes, Huh7 hepatoma cells and the derivatives of Huh7 cells. This induction has been shown to be independent of HCV genotypes (Ait-Goughoulte et al., 2008, Dreux et al., 2009b, Sir et al., 2008, Tanida et al., 2009). The induction of autophagic vesicles was observed in the hepatocytes derived from patients chronically infected by HCV (Rautou et al., 2011, Vescovo et al., 2012). Moreover, this induction was shown in cells either transfected by the HCV RNA or infected by HCV, and also in cells harboring the replicating HCV subgenomic RNA replicon (Ke et al., 2011, Mizui et al., 2010, Shrivastava et al., 2012, Sir et al., 2012, Taguwa et al., 2011, L. Wang et al., 2015). Sir et al. reported that HCV JFH1, a genotype 2a strain, induced the accumulation of autophagosomes in Huh7 cells. In addition, they observed that the fusion between autophagosomes and lysosomes was perturbed. This has raised the question regarding whether HCV is able to induce a complete autophagic flux (Sir et al., 2008). However, it was subsequently shown that HCV could efficiently induce the fusion between autophagosomes and lysosomes and allow a complete autophagic flux (H. Huang et al., 2013, Ke et al., 2011). In a more recent report the authors proposed an explanation to why HCV induced incomplete autophagy in some studies but complete autophagy in others. They noticed that the maturation of autophagosomes in HCV-infected cells was temporally regulated (L. Wang et al., 2015). In this study, the maturation of autophagosomes was inefficient early in HCV infection while it was efficient in the late stage of infection. The author attributed this temporal regulation to the differential induction of Rubicon and UVRAG by HCV, which negatively and positively regulate the maturation of autophagosomes, respectively (C. Liang et al., 2008, Matsunaga et al., 2009, Sun et al., 2010). They showed that the induction of Rubicon by HCV infection preceded the induction of UVRAG. This has led to an inhibition of the fusion between autophagosomes and lysosomes at the beginning and subsequently accumulation of the autophagosomes. This inhibition was reversed in the later stage of infection when the expression of UVRAG exceeded that of Rubicon (L. Wang et al., 2015). It is noteworthy that different HCV genotypes had also been

shown to act differently on the maturation of autophagosomes (Taguwa et *al.*, 2011).

HCV had also been shown to induce selective removal of mitochondria by mitophagy. Indeed, Siddiqui and colleagues have shown that HCV could induce the expression of PINK1 and Parkin and cause the perinuclear clustering of mitochondria and the translocation of Parkin to mitochondria to initiate mitophagy (S. J. Kim *et al.*, 2013b). They suggested that the fission of mitochondria enhances HCV replication and attenuates cellular apoptosis (S. J. Kim *et al.*, 2014, S. J. Kim *et al.*, 2013b). Kurt and colleagues have reported that HCV could also induce Chaperon-mediated autophagy (CMA) by promoting the expression of LAMP2A, a CMA receptor, and HSC70, a cytosolic chaperone required for CMA. Silencing of CMA machinery enhanced innate antiviral response and restored degradation of interferon-alpha receptor-1 expression (Kurt *et al.*, 2015).

HCV genotype	Expression	Model	Analysis of autophagy activation	Physiological significance	Ref.
HCV-77 (1a)	Transfection of viral RNA	IHH cells	<ol> <li>Detection of GFP-LC3 punctate structure formation</li> <li>Accumulated autophagosome in TEM analysis</li> <li>Upregulation of Beclin expression and ATG5-ATG12 conjugate</li> </ol>	Promotion of viral RNA replication	(Ait-Goughoulte <i>et</i> al., 2008)
HCV-JFH1 (2a)	Transfection of viral RNA	Huh7.5 cells	<ul> <li>1 Upregulated expression of LC3-II</li> <li>2 No overlapping signal of GFP-LC3 punctate with lysosome</li> <li>3 Autophagic activation by UPR</li> <li>4 An incomplete autophagic process lacking enhanced autophagic degradation of long- lived proteins and p62</li> </ul>	Promotion of viral RNA replication	(Sir <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
HCV-JFH1 (2a)	HCVcc infection	Huh7 cells	<ol> <li>1 Upregulation of LC3-II</li> <li>2 Accumulation of GFP-LC3 dot-like vesicles</li> <li>3 No colocalization of autophagic vacuoles with viral proteins</li> </ol>	Enhanced translation of the incoming viral RNA	(Dreux <i>et al.</i> , 2009b)
HCV-JFH1 (2a)	HCVcc infection	Huh7.5-1 cells	1 Increase of GFP-LC3 dot-like structures 2 No colocalization of autophagic vacuoles with viral proteins	Promotion of virion assembly	(Tanida <i>et al.,</i> 2009)
HCV-JFH1 (2a)	HCVcc infection	Huh7 cells	1 Transient interaction of ATG5 with NS5B and NS4B	Promotion of viral RNA replication	(Guevin <i>et al.</i> , 2010)
HCV-JFH1 (2a) infection	HCVcc infection	Huh7 cells	<ol> <li>Detection of early- and late-stage autophagic vacuoles by TEM analysis</li> <li>Colocalization of autophagic vacuoles with lysosome</li> <li>Complete autophagic process by HCV infection</li> </ol>	Promotion of viral RNA replication by suppressing antiviral immunity	(Ke <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
HCV-H77 (1a); HCV- JFH1 (2a)	HCVcc infection	IHH	<ol> <li>Activated IFN response in the HCV- infected cells by silencing of Beclin and ATG7</li> <li>Increased caspase-dependent apoptosis by knockdown of Beclin and ATG7 in the HCV-infection cells</li> </ol>	Promotion of viral RNA replication by suppressing antiviral immunity	(Shrivastava <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2011)

## Table 2. Summary of HCV-autophagy interactions modified from (Ke et al., 2014)

HCV-Con1	Replicon viral	Huh7 cells;	1 An inverse correlation between hepatic	Promotion of	(Vescovo et al.,
(1b) and JFH1	RNA transfection	Huh7.5-1	steatosis and activation of autophagy in liver	catabolism of LDs	2012)
(2a)		cells; Liver	biopsy samples of infected patients		
		biopsy	2 Colocalization of autophagic vacuoles with LDs		
HCV-JFH1	Replicon viral	Huh7 cells;	1 Enhanced ROS level in mitochondria in	Regulation of	(Chu <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
(2a)	RNA transfection	HCV-	HCV viral RNA-transfected cells	oxidative	
		transgenic	2 Activated autophagy by expression of HCV	response in	
		mice	NS proteins	mitochondria	
			3 Alteration of antioxidant response by		
			upregulation of antioxidant enzymes in HCV		
			NS protein-expressing cells		
HCV-JFH1	HCVcc infection	Huh7 cells;	1 Accumulation of mito autolysosome in	Elimination of	(S. J. Kim <i>et al.</i> ,
(2a)		Huh7.5-1	HCV-infected cells	damaged	2013b)
		cells	2 Stimulation of Parkin and Pink 1	mitochondria and	
			expression in HCV-infected cells	promotion of viral	
			3 Activation of mitophagy via a Parkin-	RNA replication	
			dependent pathway		
HCV-JFH1	HCVcc infection ;	Huh7 cells	1 Activation of autophagy through AKT1-	Promotion of viral	(H. Huang et al.,
(2a) HCV-N	Replicon viral		TSC-mTORC1 signaling	RNA replication	2013)
(1b)	RNA transfectio		2 Activation of autophagy via UPR		
HCV-JC1 (2a)	HCVcc infection ;	Huh7.5 cells	1 Activation of autophagy by HCV NS4B	Organization of	(W. C. Su <i>et al.</i> ,
infection ;	Ectopic		amino acid 1-190	virus replication	2011)
HCV NS4B	overexpression		2 Requirement of Rab5 and PI3K for	site	
			autophagic activation		
HCV-JFH1	HCVcc infection	IHH cells	1 Transcriptional activation of Beclin gene	Promotion of viral	(Shrivastava et
(2a)			expression	RNA replication	al., 2012)
			2 Autophagy activation in a Bcl2-Beclin		
			dissociation- and mTOR inhibition-		
			independent manner		
HCV-JFH1	HCVcc infection	Huh7.5 cells	1 Activation of autophagy through IRGM	Promotion of viral	(Gregoire et al.,
(2a)			2 Interaction of HCV NS3 with IRGM	RNA replication;	2012)

## 3.5.1 ER-stress in HCV-induced autophagy

The accumulation of unfolded or misfolded protein in the endoplasmic reticulum will induce ER-stress. This induction of ER-stress will lead to the activation of the activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6), the inositol-requiring enzyme 1 (IRE1), and the double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase-like ER kinase (PERK) to trigger downstream signaling events which are collectively known as the unfolded protein response (UPR) (Figure 14) (Hetz, 2012). The UPR activation will mitigate ER stress by reducing protein synthesis, promoting the expression of ER chaperon proteins to facilitate protein folding, and enhancing protein degradation through autophagy and the ER-associated degradation (ERAD) pathway. The failure of UPR to alleviate ER stress will lead to the induction of apoptosis (M. Wang *et al.*, 2014b).



Figure 14. The mechanism of unfolded protein response. ER stress induces the UPR.as an adaptive response. Three main stress sensors control UPR-dependent responses: IRE1g. PERK and activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6). These proteins transduce signals to the cytosol and nucleus to restore the capacity of protein folding via various pathways. (a) IRE1α RNase activity processes the mRNA encoding the transcription factor X-box binding protein 1 (XBP1). This results in the expression of an active XBP1s that upregulates a group of UPR target genes, ER-associated protein degradation (ERAD), protein quality control, and organelle biogenesis. IRE1α also capable of degrading selected mRNAs via regulated IRE1-dependent decay (RIDD). Furthermore, IRE1a activates the JUN N-terminal kinase (JNK)- apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1) pathway through its binding to adaptor proteins, such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor-associated factor 2 (TRAF2). (b) Activation of PERK decreases protein synthesis via phosphorylation of the eIF2a. EIF2a phosphorylation permits the selective translation of the ATF4 mRNA, which encodes a transcription factor that induces the expression of genes involved in different processes including autophagy. ATF4 controls the expression of the pro-apoptotic components GADD34 and CHOP. GADD34 can bind protein phosphatase 1C (PP1C) to dephosphorylate eIF2a. c Under ER stress, ATF6 translocates from the ER to Golgi apparatus where it is processed by a site 1 protease (S1P) and site 2 protease (S2P) releasing its cytosolic domain (ATF6f). ATF6f mediates the upregulation of specific UPR target genes. (Hetz et al., 2013)

HCV infection has been shown to induce ER stress and activate the UPR (Joyce *et al.*, 2009, Tardif *et al.*, 2005). This induction of UPR has been reported to be necessary for the induction of autophagy by HCV (Ke *et al.*, 2011, Shinohara *et al.*, 2013, Sir *et al.*, 2008, J. Wang *et al.*, 2014a). Obviously, the silencing of three UPR sensors, PERK, ATF6 or IRE1, by using of siRNAs or the inhibition of the ER stress using pharmacological inhibitors reduced the ability of HCV to induce

autophagy (Ke *et al.*, 2011, Sir *et al.*, 2008, J. Wang *et al.*, 2014a). In contrary, a separate report has challenged the importance of the UPR for the induction of autophagy by HCV. This challenge was based on three main observations. The first was that the accumulation of LC3II in HCV-infected cells has preceded the detection of the UPR induction; second, the HCV SGR, which did not induce UPR, could still induce autophagy; and third, the silencing of IRE1 did not inhibit HCV-induced autophagy (Mohl *et al.*, 2012). However, the observations that the HCV SGR could not induce the UPR and that the silencing of IRE1 could not inhibit autophagy were not consistent with the previous reports (Sir *et al.*, 2008, Tardif *et al.*, 2002). The explanation of this discrepancy is still unknown and further investigations are needed to resolve this apparent discrepancy.

## 3.5.2 Autophagy modulation by HCV proteins

Both HCV structural and non-structural proteins have been shown to modulate autophagy. The HCV core protein has been shown to induce the ER stress and activate PERK and ATF6 signaling pathways, but not the IRE1 pathway, of the UPR (J. Wang *et al.*, 2014a). The same group have shown that the activation of PERK induced the expression of the transcription factor ATF4 and its downstream effector CHOP, which, in turn, upregulated the expression of LC3 and ATG12 to induce autophagy (J. Wang *et al.*, 2014a). Even though HCV p7 was shown to bind Beclin-1, the over-expression of p7 did not affect autophagy (Aweya *et al.*, 2013). On the other hand, the expression of HCV nonstructural polyprotein NS3-NS5B has been shown to be sufficient to induce DMVs that are similar to autophagosomes (Chatterji *et al.*, 2015).

It is worth mentioning that, HCV NS3/4A can bind to mitochondria-associated immunity-associated GTPase family M (IRGM), a member of the interferoninducible GTPase family (Gregoire *et al.*, 2011). IRGM can interact with multiple autophagy proteins, including ATG5 and ATG10, to regulate autophagy. The knockdown of IRGM expression impaired the lipidation of LC3 and the induction of autophagy by HCV (Gregoire *et al.*, 2011). Although IRGM is clearly important for

the induction of autophagy by HCV, the possible role of its interaction with HCV NS3/4A in this induction is still elusive.

The HCV NS4B protein has also been shown to induce LC3II and autophagosomes accumulation (W. C. Su *et al.*, 2011, L. Wang *et al.*, 2015). However, NS4B has been shown to block autophagosome maturation by inducing the expression of Rubicon (L. Wang *et al.*, 2015). NS4B could also bind to Beclin-1, Rab5, and hVps34 (Stone *et al.*, 2007, W. C. Su *et al.*, 2011). Rab5 is an early endosomal GTPase that regulates membrane trafficking while hVps34 is the catalytic subunit of the PI3KC3 complex that positively regulates autophagy. Either knocking down Rab5 or inhibiting hVps34 has diminished the ability of NS4B to induce autophagosome accumulation (W. C. Su *et al.*, 2011). The sole expression of NS4B has been reported to be sufficient for the activation of the UPR which could be the mechanism by which NS4B induces autophagy (S. Li *et al.*, 2009, L. Wang *et al.*, 2015, Zheng *et al.*, 2005).

HCV NS5A protein has also been shown to upregulate the expression of Beclin-1 via NS5ATP9, a protein involved in the regulation of diverse pathways including DNA repair, cellular signaling, cell cycle control and cell growth, and could induce autophagy (Emanuele *et al.*, 2011, Quan *et al.*, 2014, Shrivastava *et al.*, 2012). In a previous report by our group, we showed that HCV NS5B can bind ATG5 in yeast two-hybrid and co-immunoprecipitation experiments and colocalize with ATG5 in the early time points after HCV infection (Guevin *et al.*, 2010). ATG5 also colocalized with HCV NS4B in HCV SGR cells. The silencing of ATG5 inhibited HCV RNA replication, suggesting a role of autophagy and/or the interaction between ATG5 and NS5B in HCV RNA replication (Guevin *et al.*, 2010).

#### 3.5.3 Autophagy in HCV replication

Several groups, including our lab, have demonstrated that the inhibition of autophagy would suppress HCV replication, indicating the participation of autophagy in HCV replication cycle (Ait-Goughoulte *et al.*, 2008, Dreux *et al.*, 2009b, Guevin *et al.*, 2010, Ke *et al.*, 2011, Mohl *et al.*, 2012, Shrivastava *et al.*,

2012, Sir *et al.*, 2008, W. C. Su *et al.*, 2011, Taguwa *et al.*, 2011). These reports have investigated the role of autophagy in HCV replication utilizing different HCV infection models including cells infected by HCVcc, cells transfected by the HCV genomic RNA or SGRs, or cells that stably express HCV SGR. Although all of them agreed on that autophagy positively regulates HCV replication cycle, there were controversies regarding the stage of HCV replication cycle at which autophagy is involved.

Dreux *et al.* reported that autophagy was important for the initiation of HCV RNA translation upon infection but not important for the later stage of HCV replication cycle (Dreux *et al.*, 2009b). However, the role of autophagy in the onset of HCV RNA translation has been challenged by Ke *et al.* who suggested that autophagy was required for the efficient production of infectious HCV particles (Ke *et al.*, 2011). While several groups, including ours, showed consensus on a crucial role of autophagy in HCV RNA replication (Ferraris *et al.*, 2010, Guevin *et al.*, 2010, Ke *et al.*, 2011, Sir *et al.*, 2008, Sir *et al.*, 2012).

By using iodexanol fractionation assay, Ferraris et al. have shown that membranous fractions containing LC3 were positive for components of HCV replication complex (Ferraris et al., 2010). By conducting electron microscopy and immunogold staining, they also demonstrated the presence of HCV doublestranded RNA (i.e., replicative intermediates) on double-membrane vesicles that resembled autophagosomes (Ferraris et al., 2010). Their results were also consistent with a more recent study by Sir et al. who showed that NS5A and NS5B proteins, two important components of the HCV replication complex, along with HCV RNA colocalized with LC3 positive vesicles, likely autophagosomes, in HCV SGR cells by using immunofluorescence (Sir et al., 2012). They further confirmed these results by co-immunoprecipitation and immunoelectron microscopy studies (Sir et al., 2012). Interestingly, they failed to reproduce similar results in HCV infected cells (Sir et al., 2012). Moreover, other reports were unable to mark colocalization between HCV replication complex and LC3II suggesting a differential involvement of autophagy in different HCV replication systems (Dreux et al., 2009b). Recently, a study by Mohl et al. has shown that the double-FYVE-

containing protein 1 (DFCP1) is required for HCV RNA replication, in both SGR cells and virus infection, however, it did not modulate virus entry or initial translation (Mohl *et al.*, 2016). DFCP1 is a PI3P binding protein that generates cupshaped protrusions from the ER membrane, termed omegasomes, which afford a platform for the formation of autophagosomes (Axe *et al.*, 2008). They also showed that, early during HCV infection, the viral replication complexes transiently colocalize with omegasomes (Mohl *et al.*, 2016). These findings highlighted the possibility that, early autophagosomal membranes could be utilized by HCV to generate DMVs which facilitate viral replication.

# Hypothesis and objectives

We based our research project on our lab'sprevious reports which showed a potential involvement of the autophagy protein ATG5 in HCV replication. As ATG5 represents one component of the autophagy elongation complex (ATG5-1216L1), our hypothesis was that the ATG5-12/16L1 complex plays a role in HCV replication. This has led us to the following research objectives:

- 1) Assessment of the subcellular localization of the ATG5-12/16L1 complex and its possible interactions with HCV replicase.
- Identification of the HCV replication cycle step at which ATG5-12/16L1 complex is involved.
# **CHAPTER 2: PUBLICATIONS**

# Publication No.1

(Submitted manuscript)

# The autophagy elongation complex (ATG5-12/16L1) is recruited at HCV replication site and is required for viral replication

Ahmed M Fahmy, Matthieu Blanchet, Christian Duguay and Patrick Labonté\*

INRS-Institut Armand-Frappier, Institut National de la Recherche Scientifique, Laval,

Canada

\*Corresponding author, Mailing Address:

INRS-Institut Armand-Frappier, Institut National de la Recherche Scientifique,

531 Boulevard des Prairies, Laval, Canada H7V 1B7.

Tel.: 450 687 5010,

Fax: 450 686 5314.

E-mail: patrick.labonte@iaf.inrs.ca

Running title: Autophagy elongation complex is involved in HCV replication.

# **Contribution of the authors:**

Ahmed M. Fahmy: Designed the experiments, performed experiments for all the manuscript figures, and wrote the manuscript

Matthieu Blanchet: Performed the qRT-PCR for Figure 6 and revised and corrected the manuscript

Christian Duguay: Optimized the Iodexanol gradient floatation assay, participated in parts of Figure 5 and 6.

Patrick Labonté: Designed the experiments, revised and corrected the manuscript and figures.

# Abstract

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection is known to induce autophagosome accumulation as observed by the typical punctate cytoplasmic distribution of LC3-II in infected cells. Previously, we showed that viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (NS5B) interacts with ATG5, a major component of the autophagy elongation complex and is involved in the formation of double-membrane vesicles (DMV). In this study, we evaluate the involvement of the autophagy elongation complex (ATG5-12/16L1) in HCV replication. We demonstrate that the elongation complex is recruited at the site of viral replication and act as a proviral factor. Indeed, ATG5-12 as well as ATG16L colocalized with the viral replicase in infected cells. Using in situ proximity ligation assay, we show that ATG5 interacts with several replicase components. Interestingly, LC3 is not recruited along with the elongation complex to the site of viral replication and no sign of colocalization of LC3-II with viral proteins was observed. Finally, using dominant negative forms of ATG proteins, we demonstrate that ATG5-12 conjugate, but not LC3-II formation, is critical for viral replication. Altogether, these findings suggest that HCV recruits the autophagy elongation complex to the site of viral replication where it promotes replication.

# Introduction

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection leads to a wide spectrum of diseases ranging from asymptomatic to end-stage liver diseases including cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (1). HCV is an enveloped, positive-strand RNA virus that belongs to the *Flaviviridae* family. The HCV genome is approximately 9.6 kb in length and consists of a single ORF flanked by two non-coding regions (NCRs). The translated polyprotein is processed by cellular and viral proteases into the structural proteins (core, E1, and E2) and the nonstructural proteins (p7, NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A, and NS5B)(2). HCV replication is marked by the formation of a membrane-associated replication complex with a unique membrane alteration referred to as the membranous web (3). Double membrane vesicles (DMVs) have been observed inside the membranous web suggesting that autophagy is involved in the establishment of the HCV replication scaffold (4-6).

Autophagy is an intracellular catabolic process essential to maintain cell homeostasis which is particularly noticeable under nutrient-deprivation conditions such as starvation (7). In addition, autophagy provides a cell-autonomous defense system against microbial infections and intracellular pathogens via the autophagosome/lysosome pathway (8, 9). Autophagy is initiated by the formation of the isolation membrane, the phagophore, which extends to form a closed DMV known as the autophagosome. This structure then, fuses with a lysosome to form an autolysosome. The fusion allows the degradation of the autophagosomal cargo by lysosomal enzymes. So far, more than 30 autophagy-related gene (ATG) products have been identified (10). Although autophagy has antiviral capability, several viruses and especially positive-strand RNA viruses can use the autophagy machinery for their own benefit (11-15). Among them, HCV is known to induce accumulation of LC3-II punctate structures (16, 17). Furthermore, it was shown that at least a part of the autophagy process is absolutely required for the HCV life cycle *in vitro* (18, 19). It has been proposed that HCV may induce autophagosome formation through the unfolded protein response (UPR)(20, 21); however recent data have suggested that autophagy is triggered independently of the UPR in HCV-infected cells (22). Apart from other HCV proteins, NS4B expression has been shown to be sufficient to induce the accumulation of autophagosomes as seen by the redistribution of diffused LC3 (LC3-I) to punctate structures (LC3-II) in NS4B-transfected cells (23). It has been demonstrated that induction of autophagy by HCV is important for the suppression of the antiviral interferon response (21, 24). In addition to this indirect action of autophagy that favors the establishment and the maintenance of HCV, it has been suggested that autophagic proteins promote HCV replication by either facilitating protein translation (17) or virus maturation (19). It was also shown that upon HCV infection, NS5A transcriptionally upregulates Beclin1, enhances phospho-mTOR expression, and thus, activates mTOR signaling pathway (25). On the other hand, a more recent study proposed that HCV-induced autophagy occurs through inhibition of AKT-TSC-mTOR via ER stress (26). In a previous study, we have shown that HCV RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp), the NS5B, colocalizes and interacts with ATG5, a component of the autophagy elongation complex and a key factor for the formation of autophagosomes (27). Therefore, we have proposed that autophagy may provide assistance in the formation of membranous structures used by the virus for its replication. In this study, we confirm that the autophagy elongation complex (ATG5-12/16L1) is recruited at the HCV replication site, where it acts to promote HCV replication.

#### Materials and methods

#### Cell culture and reagents

Huh7 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (Gibco), supplemented with 10% v/v fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Multicell), 100 U/ml penicillin, 100µg/ml streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine (Gibco) at 37°C, 5% CO2, in a humidified incubator.

#### Plasmids and antibodies

hATG5 and hATG16L1 sequences were cloned into peGFP-C1 plasmid (Clontech) to form pGFP-ATG5 and pGFP-ATG16L1, respectively. The peGFP-LC3 construct was kindly provided by Dr. Tamotsu Yoshimori (Japan) (28). The pmStrawberry-ATG4BC74A (ATG4B-DN), pcDNA3-mRuby2 and pCI-neo-hApg5-K130R-HA (ATG5-DN) constructs were purchased from Addgene (Cambridge, USA). The Flag-tagged ATG12 (pATG12) and its dominant-negative derivative pATG12ΔG140 (ATG12-DN) constructs were kindly provided by Dr. Adi Kimchi (Israel) (29). Rabbit polyclonal anti-LC3, rabbit polyclonal anti-ATG5 (used for western blot), mouse monoclonal anti-Flag, and mouse monoclonal anti-β-actin antibodies were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (USA). Mouse monoclonal anti-ATG5 (used for immunofluorescence) and anti-P62 antibodies were purchased from Abnova (Taiwan). Rabbit polyclonal anti-ATG12 was purchased from Cell Signaling (USA). Rabbit polyclonal anti-ATG16L1 antibody was purchased from MBL (USA). Mouse monoclonal anti-dsRNA was purchased from English & Scientific Consulting (Hungary). Mouse monoclonal anti-HA was purchased from Roche (USA). Mouse monoclonal anti-Core was purchased from Virostat (USA). Mouse monoclonal anti-NS3 and anti-NS5A antibodies were purchased from BioFront (USA). Rabbit polyclonal anti-NS3 and NS5A were obtained from Dr. Olivier Nicolas. Rabbit polyclonal anti-NS4B and anti-NS5B antibodies were kindly provided by Drs. Kouacou Konan (USA) and Takaji Wakita (Japan), respectively. Mouse monoclonal anti-GAPDH was purchased from Santa Cruz (USA). Rabbit polyclonal anti-calnexin was purchased from Enzo.Life Sciences (USA).

#### Preparation of viral stock and infections

The cell culture-derived HCV (HCVcc) JFH1 virus was generated in Huh7 cells by transfection of *in vitro*-transcribed full-length JFH1 RNA (MEGAscript, Ambion) and viral stocks were produced by infection of Huh7 cells at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.01, as described previously (30). To reach 90% infected cells, huh7 cells were infected at MOI of 0.01 and passaged for 7 days then analyzed by immunofluorescence using anti-NS5A antibody.

# Western blot analysis

Cells were lysed in 300 µl of lysis buffer [25 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% NP40, Complete<sup>™</sup> protease inhibitor (Roche)]. Lysates were normalized for total protein content using the BCA protein assay kit (Pierce). Proteins were then resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes (Bio-Rad), blocked for 30 min at room temperature (RT) with PBS-5% milk, and then incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibody in PBS-5% milk. After washing with 0.1% Tween 20 in PBS (PBST), membranes were incubated 1 h at RT with a goat-anti-rabbit or goatanti-mouse IgG conjugated to horseradish peroxidase in PBS-5% milk. Protein bands were visualized with either the Super Signal West-Pico or -Femto chemiluminescence substrates (Pierce).

#### Indirect immunofluorescence

Huh7 cells infected at greater than 90% were transfected with different plasmids as indicated in figure legends. At 24 h post-transfection, cells were trypsinized and grown on glass coverslips for another 24 h. The coverslips were then fixed with 4% formaldehyde in PBS for 10 min, washed in PBS and incubated in blocking buffer (PBS, 3% bovine serum albumin, 10% FBS, 0.1% Triton X-100) for 30 min at RT. In case of GFP-LC3 cells were permeabilized with 0.05% saponin to remove dispersed LC3 (26). After washing with PBS, the coverslips were incubated with primary antibody in blocking buffer for 1 h at RT. Coverslips were then washed in PBS and incubated with either Alexa fluor<sup>TM</sup>-(488 or 568) goat anti-mouse IgG or Alexa fluor<sup>™</sup>-(488 or 568) goat anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen) for 1h at RT. After washing, coverslips were mounted on glass slides with Prolong Antifade (Invitrogen) and examined with either a laser scanning confocal BioRad Radiance 2000 or a Zeiss LSM 780. The Manders' coefficient of colocalization was obtained using ImageJ software (NIH) in randomly selected regions that were positive for the targeted proteins from different cells. Manders' coefficient values over 0.4 were considered as strong colocalization.

# In situ proximity ligation assay (PLA)

Huh7 cells infected at greater than 90% were grown on glass coverslips for 24 h prior to fixation with 4% formaldehyde in PBS for 10 min. They were then washed in PBS and incubated in blocking buffer (PBS, 3% bovine serum albumin, 10% FBS, 0.1% Triton X-

100) for 30 min at RT. Coverslips were incubated with primary antibodies for 1 h at RT then washed three times with 1x wash buffer A (Duolink) and incubated with PLA probes (anti-rabbit plus and anti-mouse minus) diluted with the provided buffer in a humidity chamber for 1 h at 37°C. Coverslips were then washed three times with 1x wash buffer A and incubated with ligase-ligation solution in a humidity chamber for 30 min at 37°C. Amplification and mounting steps were performed according to manufacturer's instructions. Mounted coverslips were examined with laser scanning confocal a Zeiss LSM 780. Each detected signal represents an interaction event. The analysis of PLA signal frequency was done using Duolink Image Tool.

#### Denisty gradient fractionation

Huh7 cells were infected with HCVcc JFH1 at a MOI of 0.01. Three weeks post-infection cells were trypsinized, washed with PBS, resuspended in 500  $\mu$ l of 0.25M sucrose in PBS and left on ice for 20 min. Cells were lysed using a Dounce homogenizer. Cell debris and nuclei were then removed by centrifugation at 1000 xg for 10 min at 4°C. Supernatant was mixed with iodixanol to make a solution of 40 % W/V. This solution was then overlaid with 420  $\mu$ l of 25%, 1.68 ml of 20% and 630  $\mu$ l of 15% iodixanol. This gradient solution was centrifuged at 100,000–150,000 xg for 16 h at 4°C before collecting 13 fractions and subject them to Western Blotting as described earlier.

# Quantification of HCV RNA in iodixanol fractions by qRT-PCR

RNA isolated from equal volumes of all fractions was reverse transcribed with M-MLV (Invitrogen). Generated cDNA was used for qPCR as described earlier (31). Results were analyzed using the comparative  $\Delta$ Ct method. Strand specific detection of HCV RNA was conducted as follow: Total RNA was extracted as described above. Reverse transcriptions

for the specific detection of HCV minus- and plus-strand were conducted using forward (5'-TCTGCGGAAACCGGTGAGT-3') primer and primer (5'reverse GAGTGGGTTTATCCAAGAAAG-3'), respectively. SuperScript<sup>®</sup> Ш Reverse Transcriptase (Life technologies) was used for the reverse transcription according to the manufacturer's instruction with the exception of a polymerization at 60°C for 8 min to increase reaction specificity. The resulting cDNA were then quantified as described above. For the detection of GAPDH mRNA, total RNA was reverse transcribed using the iScript reverse transcription Kit (Biorad) according the manufacturer's instructions. qPCR amplification was carried out using the Ssofast Evagreen Supermix (Biorad) with the following F-5'-GTGAACCATGAGAAGTATGAC-3'; R-5'primers: ATGAGTCCTTCCACGATAC-3'. Cycling was conducted as described above.

#### *Flow cytometry*

Huh7 cells infected at greater than 90% were transfected with either mock (pcDNA3mRuby2) or ATG4B-DN. At day 2 cells were trypsinized and washed twice with PBS. Dead cells were labeled using FVD780 (eBioscience). Cells were fixed with 4% formaldehyde for 10 min at RT, incubated with blocking buffer (PBS, 2% BSA, 0.2% Saponin) for 20 min at 4°C and incubated with primary antibody diluted in blocking buffer for 30 min at 4°C. After washing with PBS, cells were incubated with Alexa fluor<sup>TM</sup>-488 goat anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen) for 30 min at 4°C. Cells were analyzed using BD LSRFortessa cell analyzer (BD Biosciences) and Cyflogic software (CyFlo Ltd).

#### Statistical analyses

Results shown represent the mean of at least three independent experiments. ANOVA analysis was performed to identify statistically significant differences in viral NS3 protein

expression and LC3-I/LC3-II ratios. P values below 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

# Results

Formation of the ATG5-12 conjugate and the autophagy elongation complex ATG5-12/16L1 in Huh7 cells

We have shown in a previous study that HCV polymerase interacts with ATG5, a protein that participates in early events during induction of autophagy (27). Since ATG5 is normally conjugated to ATG12, we first compared the conjugation status of ATG5 in Huh7 infected and uninfected cells. The results showed that the unconjugated form of ATG5 (32 kDa) was undetectable in both infected and uninfected cells. Indeed, ATG5 was exclusively detected as ATG5-12-conjugated form (55 kDa) (Fig. 1A). The absence of detection of the unconjugated ATG5 suggests that most of the ATG5 is readily conjugated to ATG12 in Huh7 cells as previously reported for others cell types (32). Additionally, HCV infection did not hamper this conjugation. Moreover, results show that infection induces the accumulation of LC3-II, a hallmark of induced autophagy (Fig. 1A).

Once ATG5 is conjugated to ATG12, it can form a multimeric complex by association with ATG16L1 (33). To confirm that this interaction occurs within the cells at endogenous level of the proteins, we investigated the presence of ATG5-12/16L1 complex by *in situ* proximity ligation assay (PLA). This novel technique has been used in several studies to detect specific *in situ* interactions (34-37). Clearly, endogenous ATG5-12/16L1 complexes were detected in both infected and uninfected cells (Fig. 1B and C). It is noteworthy that the count of interaction signals was slightly lower in infected cells. Although, the

significance of this reduction is not ascertained at this moment, our results suggest that HCV infection still allows the formation of the high molecular weight complex ATG5-12/16L1 that normally occurs spontaneously *in vitro* (38, 39).

#### The ATG5-12 conjugate co-localizes and interacts with viral nonstructural proteins

We then assessed the colocalization between the endogenous ATG5-12 conjugate and the components of the viral replicase in JFH1-infected Huh7 cells using an anti-ATG5 antibody. The results presented in Figure 2 (A and B) show distinct membrane-like structures that are positive for the ATG5-12 conjugate as well as for HCV NS3, NS4B, NS5A, and NS5B. The distribution of ATG5-12 in uninfected cells is shown in Figure 2 (C). We also confirmed the colocalization of ATG5-12 conjugate with the viral nonstructural proteins using an ATG12-Flag protein (Fig. 3). Because NS3, NS5A, and NS5B are the main constituents of the viral replicase and since NS4B is localized on vesicles of the membranous web where the replicase is located, these results raise the hypothesis of an action of the ATG5-12 conjugate as a proviral factor at either the viral translation and/or replication site.

To evaluate putative weak and/or transient *in situ* interaction between the ATG5-12 conjugate and components of the viral replicase, we first analyzed the known ATG5/NS5B interaction in infected cells by PLA. The result showed that on average, around 380 ATG5-12/NS5B interactions were detected in infected cells (Fig. 4E). We then sought to screen

for all other possible interactions between ATG5-12 conjugate and HCV non-structural proteins for which colocalization was observed. As we showed earlier, NS3, NS4B and NS5A colocalize with ATG5-12 (Fig. 2 and 3). Indeed, PLA experiments showed that ATG5 interacts with these viral proteins *in situ* (Fig. 4B-D). In contrast, no interaction was observed between endogenous ATG5 and the viral core protein (Fig. 4A). Since no colocalization in infected cells was detected between these two proteins (data not shown), this PLA experiment was used as a specificity control of the assay. These results confirm the previous colocalization findings from figure 2 and 3 and strengthen the putative involvement of ATG5-12 conjugate in HCV replication.

The autophagy elongation complex (ATG5-12/ATG16L1) is found at the HCV replication site

In order to complete its normal function, the ATG5-12 conjugate associated with ATG16L1 to form the autophagy elongation complex that allows the expansion of the autophagosomal membrane (33, 40). Therefore, we sought to determine if the elongation complex, and not only ATG5-12 conjugate, is recruited to the site of viral replication. The subcellular localizations of either the endogenous ATG16L1 or a GFP-tagged human ATG16L1 protein were monitored in infected Huh7 cells. The GFP-ATG16L1 was used only when detection of endogenous ATG16L1 was not readily possible due to conflict in antibody species. Results show a marked colocalizations between ATG16L1 and several HCV nonstructural proteins that constitute the viral replicase as well as the NS4B protein (Fig. 5). Despite the obvious colocalization of ATG16L1 with NS3 and NS5A, we were

unable to detect *in situ* interaction of endogenous ATG16L1 and these proteins in infected cells using PLA (Fig. S1A and B). These results suggest that the interaction of ATG5-12/16L1 with viral NS3 and NS5A occurs through ATG5-12 rather than ATG16L1.

We next hypothesized that the elongation complex ATG5-12/16L1 resides with the viral replicase at the replication site. To test this hypothesis, we performed an iodixanol density gradient to segregate the replicase from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). In this gradient, fractions where collected from bottom to top; higher to lower density. The chaperone protein calnexin was used to identify the fraction corresponding to the ER (Fig. 6A lower panel). Most of the calnexin protein was located in fraction 4 to 7 while lower amount of the protein was detected in lighter fractions (11-13) which most likely represent ERderived HCV-induced membranous web (6). While the majority of ATG5-12 conjugate fractionated at higher density fractions where the soluble protein GAPDH is located, a proportion of ATG5-12 co-fractionated with ATG16L1 and the viral replicase proteins NS3 and NS5B at lower density fractions (Fig. 6A lower panel, lanes 12-13). Next, we examined all fractions for viral RNA and found that it segregated into two distinct areas, one overlapping the ER marker (Fig. 6A upper and lower panels lanes 4-7), and the other fractionating with the autophagy elongation complex (Fig. 6A upper and lower panels, lanes 11-13). From these results, we deduced that HCV RNA translation site was within fractions 5-6 whereas viral replication machinery was located in fractions 11-13 (Fig. 6A). To verify this, we performed strand-specific HCV RNA amplification by RT-qPCR. We found that HCV negative-strand RNA was located at the gradient top fractions (12 and 13) whereas the HCV positive-strand RNA resides at both the top as well as with the ER marker (Fig. 6A lower panel and B). These results are in line with the presence of the replication complex in fraction 12 and 13. As control, the mRNA of GAPDH was amplified and used to mark the translation site (fractions 4-6). Since the segregation of the proteins in different fractions is based on density and might not reflect their subcellular localization. We confirmed the recruitment of the autophagy elongation complex by analyzing its colocalization with dsRNA (Fig.7). In infected cells, most of the dsRNA is expected to represent the HCV replication intermediate and thus, the replication site. As a positive control, the dsRNA-NS3 colocalization was assessed and as expected, HCV dsRNA markedly colocalized with the viral NS3 protein which harbors helicase activity and is known to be a constituent of the replicase. The specificity of dsRNA antibody was confirmed in uninfected Huh7 cells (Fig. 7C). Results showed that HCV dsRNA colocalizes with both ATG5-12 conjugate and ATG16L1 confirming that ATG5-12 and ATG16L1 are present at the HCV replication site. However, no *in situ* interaction was observed between ATG16L1 and HCV dsRNA (Fig. S1C).

#### LC3 lipidation is not essential for HCV replication in vitro

Following the recruitment of ATG5-12/16L1 complex to the isolation membrane, LC3-I protein is activated by conjugation to phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) to form the LC3-II membrane-bound protein. This action is made with the help of ATG4B, a cysteine protease that prepares LC3-I for conjugation through a proteolytic process (41). The active LC3-II protein, in turn, decorates the inner and the outer side of the isolation membrane during autophagosome formation. Thus, as a consequence of elongation complex recruitment, LC3-II was expected to be found at the HCV replication site (42). However, no

colocalization was observed between GFP-LC3 and NS3, NS5A, or core protein in infected cells (Fig. S2) suggesting that the presence of the elongation complex (ATG5-12/16L1) at the HCV replication site did not result in LC3 lipidation at this site. To determine the importance of LC3 lipidation for HCV replication, we utilized a dominant negative form of ATG4B (ATG4B-DN). Overexpression of this ATG4B-DN has been shown to inhibit LC3 lipidation and its downstream-dependent events such as P62 degradation (43). Indeed, upon overexpression of ATG4B-DN in Huh7 cells, we observed a marked decrease in LC3-II formation and accumulation of P62 (Fig. 8A). Surprisingly, overexpression of ATG4B-DN had no obvious inhibitory effect on HCV polyprotein expression in cells already infected, as indicated by the levels of NS3 and core protein (Fig. 8B). Since these results were obtained upon transient expression using transfection with efficiency around 40-50%, we decided to perform a FACS analysis gating specifically on Huh7 cells expressing ATG4B-DN and monitoring the level of NS3 expression in this targeted population. The result confirmed that expression of the dominant-negative form of ATG4B has no adverse effect on viral protein expression (Fig. 8C). Together, these results suggest that LC3 lipidation is not mandatory for viral replication in established infection.

#### ATG12 conjugation to ATG5 is required for HCV replication in Huh7 cells

We next investigated the effect of decoupling the ATG5-12 conjugate on HCV replication by overexpressing the dominant-negative form of ATG12 (ATG12-DN) lacking the Cterminal glycine that is essential for conjugation with ATG5 in HCV-infected Huh7 cells (29). As expected, the overexpression of this dominant negative form of the protein hampered the conjugation of ATG12 to ATG5 as well as its subsequent events, the formation of ATG5-12/16L1 complex, and LC3 lipidation (Fig. 8D). Interestingly, this conjugation-defective mutant, when compared to a wild-type ATG12, displays an adverse effect on HCV lifecycle, as indicated by a decrease in the NS3 and core protein (Fig. 8B). To confirm this result, we overexpressed a dominant negative form of ATG5 (ATG5-DN) that blocks its conjugation to ATG12 (Fig. 8D) and showed that overexpression of ATG5-DN also affected HCV lifecycle (Fig. 8B). Together, these results suggest that the ATG5-12 conjugated form, rather than the individual ATG5 and ATG12 proteins, act as HCV proviral factor.

#### Discussion

In a previous study, we showed that HCV RdRp colocalizes and interacts with ATG5, a member of the elongation complex (27). Here we show that the ATG5-12 conjugate colocalizes clearly on structures that harbor several HCV nonstructural proteins such as NS3, NS4B, NS5A, and NS5B (Fig. 2 and 3). We then performed *in situ* PLA to identify interaction between members of the viral replicase and that of the elongation complex. The results indicate that several HCV nonstructural proteins are in very close proximity to ATG5 in infected cells (Fig. 4). Since ATG5-12 forms a high molecular weight multimeric complex with ATG16L1 that is absolutely required for autophagosome formation (40), we then analyzed the recruitment of ATG16L1 at the site of HCV replication (Fig. 5). Several membranous structures were positive for both ATG16L1 and viral nonstructural proteins. Using cell fractionation, we showed that proteins of the autophagy elongation complex were present in the fractions harboring the HCV replication complex. Indeed, HCV RNA (positive and negative-strand) as well as the viral helicase and polymerase were found at higher concentrations in those fractions (Fig. 6A, lanes 12-13 and Fig. 6B). Furthermore, by labeling dsRNA, we were able to show that the replicating HCV RNA colocalizes with the autophagy elongation complex (Fig. 7). Together, these results confirm that ATG16L1 is recruited at the site of HCV replication where the elongation complex is formed.

Although the mechanism by which the ATG5-12/16 complex leads to autophagosome formation is mostly uncharacterized, it is believed that direct interaction of this complex with Rab33b is required and precedes LC3-I lipidation (42, 44). Therefore, LC3-II was expected to colocalize with NS4B, NS3, or NS5B. Interestingly we, as well as several other groups (16, 17, 19), were unable to observe colocalization of LC3 with HCV proteins (Fig.

S2). This was very intriguing since HCV has ben shown to trigger the appearance of LC3-II throughout the infected cell (16).

As LC3 was not recruited at the site where viral replicase is localized, we decided to analyze the contribution of LC3-II formation in HCV replication. For this purpose, we used a dominant-negative form of ATG4B (ATG4B-DN) that blocks LC3-II formation. The results demonstrate that although LC3-II formation was indeed severely affected by the ATG4B-DN expression, no inhibitory effect on HCV replication was observed. The results presented in figure 8 also confirm that the ATG5-12 conjugate is truly important for HCV replication. Indeed, transfection of Huh7 with either ATG5-DN or ATG12-DN, led to a significant decrease in HCV replication. This result not only demonstrates the importance of both proteins but also shows that their conjugation is required for HCV replication.

How exactly the ATG5-12/16L1 complex modulates HCV replication is still unknown. We postulated that HCV infection might trigger *de novo* synthesis of DMV through activation of autophagy. Recently, it was shown that DFCP-1, a protein that generates omegasomes, is required for HCV RNA replication. Viral NS5A transiently colocalizes with DFCP-1 on ER protrusions suggesting that omegasomes may provide vesicles on which HCV can replicate (45). Since the autophagy elongation complex could be recruited at the nascent omegasome for its elongation, it might participate in the creation of the HCV- induced membranous web. Alternatively, the autophagy elongation complex could facilitate membranous web formation through its known capability of enhancing membrane tethering and vesicles aggregation *in vitro* (46).

In our previous study, using overexpression of GFP-ATG5, we showed that ATG5-NS5B colocalization was disappearing at day 5 post-infection. Here, all colocalizations were performed using endogenous ATG5 and the colocalization remained obvious in infected cells for a longer period. The discrepancy may arise from the unconjugation of ATG5 when overexpressed as exogenous GFP-ATG5. Indeed, endogenous ATG5 can only be seen as an ATG5-12 conjugated form (Fig. 1A) and this conjugation is likely important for HCV replication (Fig. 8).

In summary, recruitment of the autophagy elongation complex, which is normally involved in DMV formation, to the HCV replication site, promotes viral replication. However, our results do not exclude the possible involvement of autophagy proteins in the translation of the viral RNA as it has been suggested previously (17). Interestingly, the recruitment of the elongation complex is not accompanied by LC3 lipidation at this site. Therefore, we believe that HCV infection cycle is more dependent on ATG5-12 conjugation than on LC3 lipidation. Thus, the link between the recruitment of the elongation complex and the formation of DMV through an autophagy-like mechanism needs further confirmation. The recent identification of DMVs within the membranous web (4, 5) may suggest that autophagy proteins act by promoting membrane formation used for viral replication by a LC3-independent mechanism.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Takaji Wakita for providing the HCV JFH-1 and the NS5B antibody. We are also grateful to Dr. Kouacou Konan for providing the NS4B antibody and Dr. Adi Kimchi for providing the ATG12 $\Delta$ G140 plasmid. The GFP-LC3 and pmStrawberry-ATG4BC74A constructs were kindly supplied by Dr. Tamotsu Yoshimori. The pCI-neo-hApg5-K130R-HA and pcDNA3-mRuby2 constructs were kindly provided by Drs. Noboru Mizushima and Micheal Lin respectively. We also thank Quoc Tuan Le and Jessy Tremblay for technical assistance. This work was supported by a research grant from NSERC of Canada. Salary support is provided to PL by the FRSQ. AF and MB received fellowships from the NCRTP-HepC and the Fondation Armand-Frappier, respectively.

### References

1. Webster DP, Klenerman P, Collier J, Jeffery KJ. Development of novel treatments for hepatitis C. Lancet Infect Dis. 2009;9(2):108-17.

2. Moradpour D, Penin F, Rice CM. Replication of hepatitis C virus. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2007;5(6):453-63.

3. Wang QM, Hockman MA, Staschke K, Johnson RB, Case KA, Lu J, et al. Oligomerization and cooperative RNA synthesis activity of hepatitis C virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. J Virol. 2002;76(8):3865-72.

4. Sir D, Kuo CF, Tian Y, Liu HM, Huang EJ, Jung JU, et al. Replication of hepatitis C virus RNA on autophagosomal membranes. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(22):18036-43.

5. Combs C, Brunt EM, Solomon H, Bacon BR, Brantly M, Di Bisceglie AM. Rapid development of hepatic alpha1-antitrypsin globules after liver transplantation for chronic hepatitis C. Gastroenterology. 1997;112(4):1372-5.

6. Romero-Brey I, Merz A, Chiramel A, Lee JY, Chlanda P, Haselman U, et al. Threedimensional architecture and biogenesis of membrane structures associated with hepatitis C virus replication. PLoS Pathog. 2012;8(12):e1003056.

Klionsky DJ, Emr SD. Autophagy as a regulated pathway of cellular degradation.
 Science. 2000;290(5497):1717-21.

Oh JE, Lee HK. Modulation of pathogen recognition by autophagy. Front Immunol.
 2012;3:44.

9. Into T, Inomata M, Takayama E, Takigawa T. Autophagy in regulation of Toll-like receptor signaling. Cell Signal. 2012;24(6):1150-62.

 Levine B, Mizushima N, Virgin HW. Autophagy in immunity and inflammation. Nature. 2011;469(7330):323-35.

 Jackson WT, Giddings TH, Jr., Taylor MP, Mulinyawe S, Rabinovitch M, Kopito RR, et al. Subversion of cellular autophagosomal machinery by RNA viruses. PLoS Biol. 2005;3(5):e156.

12. Li JK, Liang JJ, Liao CL, Lin YL. Autophagy is involved in the early step of Japanese encephalitis virus infection. Microbes Infect. 2012;14(2):159-68.

13. McLean JE, Wudzinska A, Datan E, Quaglino D, Zakeri Z. Flavivirus NS4Ainduced autophagy protects cells against death and enhances virus replication. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(25):22147-59.

14. Heaton NS, Randall G. Dengue virus-induced autophagy regulates lipid metabolism. Cell Host Microbe. 2010;8(5):422-32.

15. Liu Q, Qin Y, Zhou L, Kou Q, Guo X, Ge X, et al. Autophagy sustains the replication of porcine reproductive and respiratory virus in host cells. Virology. 2012;429(2):136-47.

16. Ait-Goughoulte M, Kanda T, Meyer K, Ryerse JS, Ray RB, Ray R. Hepatitis C virus genotype 1a growth and induction of autophagy. J Virol. 2008;82(5):2241-9.

17. Dreux M, Gastaminza P, Wieland SF, Chisari FV. The autophagy machinery is required to initiate hepatitis C virus replication. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(33):14046-51.

Dreux M, Chisari FV. Autophagy proteins promote hepatitis C virus replication.
 Autophagy. 2009;5(8):1224-5.

19. Tanida I, Fukasawa M, Ueno T, Kominami E, Wakita T, Hanada K. Knockdown of autophagy-related gene decreases the production of infectious hepatitis C virus particles. Autophagy. 2009;5(7):937-45.

20. Sir D, Chen WL, Choi J, Wakita T, Yen TS, Ou JH. Induction of incomplete autophagic response by hepatitis C virus via the unfolded protein response. Hepatology. 2008;48(4):1054-61.

21. Ke PY, Chen SS. Activation of the unfolded protein response and autophagy after hepatitis C virus infection suppresses innate antiviral immunity in vitro. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(1):37-56.

22. Mohl BP, Tedbury PR, Griffin S, Harris M. Hepatitis C virus-induced autophagy is independent of the unfolded protein response. J Virol. 2012;86(19):10724-32.

23. Su WC, Chao TC, Huang YL, Weng SC, Jeng KS, Lai MM. Rab5 and class III phosphoinositide 3-kinase Vps34 are involved in hepatitis C virus NS4B-induced autophagy. J Virol. 2011;85(20):10561-71.

24. Shrivastava S, Raychoudhuri A, Steele R, Ray R, Ray RB. Knockdown of autophagy enhances the innate immune response in hepatitis C virus-infected hepatocytes. Hepatology. 2010;53(2):406-14.

25. Shrivastava S, Bhanja Chowdhury J, Steele R, Ray R, Ray RB. Hepatitis C Virus Upregulates Beclin1 for Induction of Autophagy and Activates mTOR Signaling. J Virol. 2012;86(16):8705-12.

26. Huang H, Kang R, Wang J, Luo G, Yang W, Zhao Z. Hepatitis C virus inhibits AKT-tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC), the mechanistic target of rapamycin (MTOR)

pathway, through endoplasmic reticulum stress to induce autophagy. Autophagy. 2013;9(2):175-95.

27. Guevin C, Manna D, Belanger C, Konan KV, Mak P, Labonte P. Autophagy protein ATG5 interacts transiently with the hepatitis C virus RNA polymerase (NS5B) early during infection. Virology. 2010;405(1):1-7.

28. Kimura S, Fujita N, Noda T, Yoshimori T. Monitoring autophagy in mammalian cultured cells through the dynamics of LC3. Methods Enzymol. 2009;452:1-12.

29. Rubinstein AD, Eisenstein M, Ber Y, Bialik S, Kimchi A. The autophagy protein Atg12 associates with antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family members to promote mitochondrial apoptosis. Mol Cell. 2011;44(5):698-709.

30. Guevin C, Lamarre A, Labonte P. Novel HCV replication mouse model using human hepatocellular carcinoma xenografts. Antiviral Res. 2009;84(1):14-22.

31. Blanchet M, Seidah NG, Labonte P. SKI-1/S1P inhibition: a promising surrogate to statins to block hepatitis C virus replication. Antiviral Res. 2012;95(2):159-66.

32. Hosokawa N, Hara Y, Mizushima N. Generation of cell lines with tetracyclineregulated autophagy and a role for autophagy in controlling cell size. FEBS letters. 2006;580(11):2623-9.

33. Mizushima N, Kuma A, Kobayashi Y, Yamamoto A, Matsubae M, Takao T, et al. Mouse Apg16L, a novel WD-repeat protein, targets to the autophagic isolation membrane with the Apg12-Apg5 conjugate. J Cell Sci. 2003;116(Pt 9):1679-88.

34. Chen YJ, Chen YH, Chow LP, Tsai YH, Chen PH, Huang CY, et al. Heat shock protein 72 is associated with the hepatitis C virus replicase complex and enhances viral RNA replication. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(36):28183-90.

35. Eyre NS, Fiches GN, Aloia AL, Helbig KJ, McCartney EM, McErlean CS, et al. Dynamic imaging of the hepatitis C virus NS5A protein during a productive infection. J Virol. 2014;88(7):3636-52.

36. Soderberg O, Gullberg M, Jarvius M, Ridderstrale K, Leuchowius KJ, Jarvius J, et al. Direct observation of individual endogenous protein complexes in situ by proximity ligation. Nat Methods. 2006;3(12):995-1000.

37. Le QT, Blanchet M, Seidah NG, Labonte P. Plasma Membrane Tetraspanin CD81 Complexes with Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 (PCSK9) and Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor (LDLR), and Its Levels Are Reduced by PCSK9. J Biol Chem. 2015;290(38):23385-400.

38. Kaufmann A, Beier V, Franquelim HG, Wollert T. Molecular mechanism of autophagic membrane-scaffold assembly and disassembly. Cell. 2014;156(3):469-81.

39. Kuma A, Mizushima N, Ishihara N, Ohsumi Y. Formation of the approximately 350-kDa Apg12-Apg5.Apg16 multimeric complex, mediated by Apg16 oligomerization, is essential for autophagy in yeast. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(21):18619-25.

40. Matsushita M, Suzuki NN, Obara K, Fujioka Y, Ohsumi Y, Inagaki F. Structure of Atg5.Atg16, a complex essential for autophagy. J Biol Chem. 2007;282(9):6763-72.

41. Tanida I, Ueno T, Kominami E. LC3 conjugation system in mammalian autophagy.Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2004;36(12):2503-18.

42. Fujita N, Itoh T, Omori H, Fukuda M, Noda T, Yoshimori T. The Atg16L complex specifies the site of LC3 lipidation for membrane biogenesis in autophagy. Mol Biol Cell. 2008;19(5):2092-100.

43. Fujita N, Hayashi-Nishino M, Fukumoto H, Omori H, Yamamoto A, Noda T, et al. An Atg4B mutant hampers the lipidation of LC3 paralogues and causes defects in autophagosome closure. Mol Biol Cell. 2008;19(11):4651-9.

44. Itoh T, Fujita N, Kanno E, Yamamoto A, Yoshimori T, Fukuda M. Golgi-resident small GTPase Rab33B interacts with Atg16L and modulates autophagosome formation.
Mol Biol Cell. 2008;19(7):2916-25.

45. Mohl BP, Bartlett C, Mankouri J, Harris M. Early events in the generation of autophagosomes are required for the formation of membrane structures involved in hepatitis C virus genome replication. J Gen Virol. 2016;97(3):680-93.

46. Romanov J, Walczak M, Ibiricu I, Schuchner S, Ogris E, Kraft C, et al. Mechanism and functions of membrane binding by the Atg5-Atg12/Atg16 complex during autophagosome formation. EMBO J. 2012;31(22):4304-17.

# **Figure legends**

#### Figure 1. Formation of the autophagy elongation complex in Huh7 cells.

A. Detection of the ATG5-12 conjugate by Western blot in mock (UI) and JFH1 infected Huh7 cells at more than 90% using an anti-ATG5 antibody. HCV infection and autophagosome accumulation were detected using anti-NS3 and anti-LC3 antibodies, respectively. β-actin represents loading control.

B. *In situ* ATG5-12/16L1 complex formation was analyzed using PLA in JFH1-infected at more than 90% or uninfected cells. Cells were labeled for ATG5-12 and ATG16L1 using anti-ATG5 and anti-ATG16L1 respectively. CTL represents negative control lacking anti-ATG5 antibody. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue).

C. The frequency of PLA signals were significantly higher in both JFH1-infected and uninfected cells compared to control cells (CTL) (based on the count in 40 cells for each condition) (P<0.0001, 1way ANOVA).

# Figure 2. Components of the HCV replicase colocalize with ATG5-12 conjugate in Huh7 cells.

A. JFH1-infected Huh7 cells at more than 90% were probed for endogenous ATG5-12 conjugate using mouse anti-ATG5 antibody and HCV nonstructural proteins (NS3, NS4B, NS5A, and NS5B) using rabbit specific antibodies as described in the materials and methods section. The nuclei were stained with DRAQ5 (blue). Confocal microscopy images displaying subcellular localization of endogenous ATG5-12 conjugate and viral NS3, NS4A, NS5A, and NS5B in merged image panels are shown. Marked colocalization

between endogenous ATG5-12 conjugate and components of the viral replicase (NS3, NS5A, and NS5B) or the membranous web (NS4B) was observed.

B. The average of colocalized pixels of ATG5-12 and HCV nonstructural proteins ( $n \ge 5$  cells) was determined. The values of overlapping fluorescence signal with HCV nonstructural proteins were calculated using Manders' colocalization coefficient.

C. Localization of ATG5-12 in uninfected cells. Uninfected Huh7 cells were immunostained for ATG5-12 using mouse anti-ATG5 antibody antibody.

# Figure 3. HCV viral nonstructural proteins colocalize with ATG12 protein in Huh7 cells.

A. Huh7 cells were infected with HCVcc and then transfected with recombinant ATG12. Confocal microscopy images displaying subcellular localization of ATG12 (green) and viral NS3, NS4B and NS5B (red) in merged images are shown. Colocalization between ATG12 and components of the viral replicase (NS3, and NS5B) or the membranous web (NS4B) was observed.

B. The average colocalization of ATG12 and HCV nonstructural proteins ( $n \ge 5$  cells) was calculated using Manders' colocalization coefficient.

Figure 4. Assessment of ATG5-12 interactions with viral proteins in infected cells as observed by proximity-ligation assay (PLA).

JFH1-infected at more than 90% or uninfected cells were fixed and processed for detection of ATG5-12-Core, ATG5-12-NS3, ATG5-12-NS4B, ATG5-12-NS5A or ATG5-12-NS5B complexes by PLA using appropriate antibodies. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue).

Each PLA signal (red dot) indicates one interaction and were calculated as described in experimental procedures. In A, no significant difference in the frequency of PLA signals between JFH1-infected (n=50) cells compared to uninfected controls (n=50) indicating undetectable interaction between ATG5-12 conjugate and core. However, the incidence of PLA signals in B-D were significantly higher in JFH1-infected (n  $\geq$ 23) cells compared to uninfected negative controls (N=50) (*P*<0.0001, Student's t-test) indicating complexes formation between ATG5-12 and NS5B, NS5A, NS4B and NS4A.

#### Figure 5. HCV nonstructural proteins colocalize with ATG16L1 in Huh7 cells.

A. Huh7 cells infected with JFH1 at more than 90% and then transfected with pGFP-ATG16L1 or immunostained for endogenous ATG16L1 using rabbit specific antibody. Confocal microscopy images displaying subcellular localization of GFP-ATG16L1 or endogenous ATG16L1 and viral NS3 (mouse), NS4B (rabbit), NS5A (mouse), and NS5B (rabbit) in merged images are shown.

B. The values of overlapping fluorescence signal of ATG16L1 and GFP-ATG16L1 with HCV nonstructural proteins were calculated in  $\geq$  5 cells using Manders' colocalization coefficient.

C. Distribution of endogenous ATG16L1 using rabbit specific antibody and ATG16L1-GFP in uninfected cells. Uninfected Huh7 cells were stained for ATG16L1 or transfected with ATG16L1-GFP and examined using confocal microscopy.

# Figure 6. Autophagy elongation complex (ATG5-12/16L1) is present at the HCV replication site.

(A) Analysis of HCV-infected cell homogenates separated on iodixanol gradient. The iodixanol step gradients were separated into 13 fractions and subjected to Western blotting. All fractions were analyzed for calnexin (ER marker), HCV replicase components (NS3, NS5A and NS5B), and the ATG5-12/16L1 complex using specific antibodies. RT-qPCR was used to quantify HCV RNA in the same fractions (A, upper panel). (B) Strand-specific RT-qPCR was used to quantify HCV RNA with positive or negative polarity in different fractions of iodixanol step gradients (see materials and methods). GAPDH mRNA quantification was used as a marker for cellular RNA fractionating with the translational machinery.

# Figure 7. The autophagy elongation complex colocalizes with HCV replicative intermediate dsRNA.

A. JFH1-infected Huh7 cells at more than 90% were immunostained for dsRNA and NS3 or ATG16L1. Alternatively, infected cells were transfected with pGFP-ATG5 and analyzed by confocal microscopy for dsRNA and GFP-ATG5.

B. The average of percent colocalization of NS3, GFP-ATG5 or ATG16L1 with dsRNA ( $n \ge 5$  cells) was determined. The values of overlapping fluorescence signal with dsRNA were calculated using Manders' colocalization coefficient.

C. Uninfected Huh7 cells immunostained for dsRNA. Negative staining shows specificity of dsRNA antibody utilized in this experiment.

#### Figure 8. ATG5-12 conjugate disruption affects HCV lifecycle.

A. Huh7 cells were either transfected with an empty plasmid (mock) or a plasmid encoding an enzymatically inactive dominant negative form of ATG4B (ATG4B-DN). Cell lysates were analyzed by Western blot at 72 h post-transfection for LC3-I to LC3-II conversion and P62 accumulation.

B. JFH1-infected Huh7 cells (>90% infected) were transfected with plasmids encoding the dominant negative forms of ATG5, ATG12, or ATG4B. Cell lysates of transfected cells were analyzed 72 h post-transfection for HCV core and helicase expression using anti-NS3 by western blot.  $\beta$ -actin was used for normalization.

C. Infected Huh7 cells (>90% infected) were either mock-transfected (empty plasmid) or transfected with a plasmid encoding ATG4B-DN. Transfected cells were stained for NS3 as described in materials and methods then analyzed by flow cytometry at 72 h post-transfection for NS3 expression getting on ATG4B-DN positive cells.

D. Huh7 cells were either transfected with an empty plasmid (mock) or a plasmid encoding a conjugation-defective dominant negative form of ATG5 (ATG5-DN) or ATG12 (ATG12-DN) tagged with HA or Flag respectively. Cell lysates were analyzed by Western blot at 72 h post-transfection for elongation complex formation (ATG5-12/16L1), ATG5-12 conjugation and LC3-I to LC3-II conversion.

#### Figure S1. PLA of ATG16L1 and viral replicase components.

No detectable interactions of ATG16L1 with NS3, NS5A or dsRNA (A, B and C respectively) as indicated by the frequency of PLA signals between JFH1-infected (n=50) cells compared to uninfected controls (n=50).

# Figure S2. HCV viral proteins does not colocalize with LC3 protein.

A. Huh7 cells were infected with JFH1 and then transfected with GFP-LC3. Confocal microscopy images displaying subcellular localization of GFP-LC3 and viral core, NS3, NS4B, NS5A and NS5B.

B. The values of overlapping fluorescence signal of GFP-LC3 with HCV nonstructural proteins were calculated in  $\geq$  5 cells using Manders' colocalization coefficient.

Figures



Α



в




NS3 Merge NS4B Merge Merge NS5A NS5B Merge -36







Uninfected

С

Figure 3

Α















94











Huh7







### Supplementary 1



## Supplementary 2

Α

Merge GFP-LC3 GFP-LC3 Merge Merge GFP-LC3 Merge GFP-LC3 GFP-LC3 Merge 60

В



### **Publication No.2**

### (Scientific Reports, 2017)

# The autophagy elongation complex (ATG5-12/16L1) positively regulates HCV replication and is required for wild-type membranous web formation

Ahmed M Fahmy and Patrick Labonté<sup>\*</sup>

INRS-Institut Armand-Frappier, Institut National de la Recherche Scientifique, Laval, Canada

Abstract: 184 words

\*Corresponding author, mailing address:

INRS-Institut Armand-Frappier, Institut National de la Recherche Scientifique,

531 Boulevard des Prairies, Laval, Canada H7V 1B7.

Tel.: 450 687 5010,

Fax: 450 686 5314.

E-mail: patrick.labonte@iaf.inrs.ca

Running title: The autophagy elongation complex is involved in HCV membranous web formation.

### **Contribution of the authors:**

Ahmed M. Fahmy: Designed and performed the experiments, and wrote the manuscript

Patrick Labonté : Designed the experiments, and revised the manuscript.

### Abstract

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection induces intracellular membrane rearrangements, thus forming a membranous web (MW) in which HCV replication and assembly occur. The HCV-induced MW is primarily composed of double membrane vesicles (DMVs) transfused by multi-membrane vesicles. The autophagy machinery has been proposed to participate in the formation of such vesicles. However, no clear evidence has been found linking autophagy to the formation of these DMVs. In this study, we evaluated the role of the autophagy elongation complex (ATG5-12/16L1) in HCV replication and MW formation. Using a dominant negative form of ATG12 and an siRNA approach, we demonstrated that the ATG5-12 conjugate, but not LC3-II formation, is crucial for efficient viral replication. Furthermore, purification of HCV MW revealed the presence of ATG5-12 and ATG16L1 along with HCV nonstructural proteins. Interestingly, LC3 was not recruited along with the elongation complex to the site of viral replication. Finally, inhibition of the elongation complex, but not LC3, greatly impaired the formation of the wild-type MW phenotype. To our knowledge, this study provides the first evidence of the involvement of autophagy proteins in the formation of wild-type MWs.

### Introduction

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection is a leading cause of liver diseases, including cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. HCV, a member of the *Flaviviridae* family, is a *Hepacivirus* with a positive-strand RNA genome<sup>1</sup>. The virus replicates exclusively in the cytoplasm of the host cell. After cell entry, the 9.6 kb HCV genome is released and translated at the rough endoplasmic reticulum (rER) into a single polyprotein. This translated polyprotein is then proteolytically processed by cellular and viral proteases into 10 distinct proteins consisting of structural (core, E1, and E2) and nonstructural (p7, NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A, and NS5B) proteins<sup>2</sup>. The expression of HCV proteins results in the induction of a major rearrangement of host cell membranes, thus leading to the formation of a complex membranous compartment termed the membranous web (MW), which favors viral RNA replication and assembly<sup>3,4</sup>. This massive remodeling of the host cell membrane network is associated with all positive-strand RNA viruses and is typically characterized by the generation of either convoluted membranes or double membrane vesicles (DMVs)<sup>5-8</sup>. Importantly, the HCV-induced MW is primarily composed of DMVs thus suggesting that autophagy plays a role in the construction of the HCV replication scaffold<sup>7,9</sup>.

Macroautophagy, referred to hereafter as autophagy, is a catabolic pathway that degrades proteins and organelles, thereby maintaining cell homeostasis and directing cell fate. During cellular stress such as amino acid starvation, autophagy is triggered, thereby forming an organelle called the autophagosome. The *de novo* formation of the autophagosome begins by initiation of the growth of a double-membraned phagophore that, by closing, sequesters cytoplasmic contents. The autophagosome then fuses with the lysosome, thus allowing the degradation of the intra-autophagosomal cargo by the action of lysosomal enzymes and the release of free amino acids and other products. This process is orchestrated by more than 30 autophagy-related gene (ATG) proteins and other autophagy-linked proteins<sup>10</sup>.

During the early steps of autophagosome biogenesis, ATG5, ATG12, and ATG16L1 form a stoichiometric complex known as the autophagy elongation complex (ATG5-12/16L1).

The elongation complex has been shown to determine the site of LC3 lipidation<sup>11</sup>, a process required for the association of LC3 with the autophagosomal membrane. The membrane-associated LC3 allows the completion of autophagosome formation<sup>12</sup>.

Although autophagy can act as an anti-viral mechanism, many reports have shown that positive-strand RNA viruses, including HCV, can hijack the autophagy machinery for virion morphogenesis and viral replication<sup>13-17</sup>. Several studies have shown that HCV induces autophagosome formation in vitro<sup>9,18-21</sup>. This finding has also been confirmed in liver biopsies obtained from patients chronically infected with HCV<sup>22</sup>. In addition, HCV infection has been shown to induce mitophagy, the selective removal of mitochondria, through the induction of phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN)-induced putative kinase 1 (PINK1) and Parkin on the outer surface of the mitochondria. It has been proposed that degradation of mitochondria enhances HCV replication and suppresses cellular apoptosis<sup>23</sup>. Although several studies have shown that HCV infection induces autophagy by ER-stress via induction of the unfolded protein response  $(UPR)^{20,24-27}$ , other studies have shown that HCV induces autophagy in a manner independent of ER-stress, through the direct interaction of viral proteins with autophagy proteins<sup>28,29</sup>. Moreover, HCV-induced autophagy has been found to play a crucial role in evading host microbial defense mechanisms at the level of innate and adaptive immune responses<sup>30</sup>. The induction of autophagy promotes HCV replication either by enhancing protein translation<sup>31</sup> or via viral maturation<sup>32</sup>. Owing to the morphological similarities between HCV-induced DMVs and the double-membrane nature of autophagosomes, it has been proposed that autophagy plays a role in the biogenesis of viral replication compartments<sup>7</sup>. Importantly, Atg5 induces the formation of DMVs in embryonic stem cells<sup>33</sup>. In addition, a previous study conducted by our lab has shown that ATG5 interacts with the viral polymerase (NS5B) and colocalizes with NS4B, a MW-associated viral protein<sup>34</sup>. Another group has shown that ATG12, Beclin 1, and ATG4B are required for the establishment of viral replication<sup>31</sup>. However, studies on the involvement of autophagy proteins in the assembly of the MW remain elusive. In this study, we investigated the putative role of the ATG5-12/16L1 complex in the HCV replication-cycle. We found that the autophagy elongation complex (ATG5-12/16L1) is recruited at the MW, where it promotes HCV replication in an LC3independent manner. Surprisingly, knock-down of one component of the elongation complex, ATG12, led to an aberrant MW phenotype, thus suggesting a novel role of autophagy proteins in the formation of the MW.

### Results

### HCV does not perturb formation of the ATG5-12/16L1 complex.

ATG5 forms a conjugate with ATG12, but the monomeric forms of these two proteins have been shown to be nearly undetectable under normal conditions<sup>35</sup>. We first tested whether this conjugation occurs in HCV-infected cells. The assessment of the ATG5 protein by western blotting showed that monomeric ATG5 (32 kDa) was undetectable in both infected and uninfected cells. ATG5 was detected only in the ATG5-12-conjugated form (55 kDa) (Fig. 1A). Infection with HCV JFH1 strain was confirmed by detecting HCV NS3 protein using anti-NS3 antibody (Fig. 1A). The difficulty in detecting unconjugated ATG5 suggested that the majority of the ATG5 is readily conjugated to ATG12 in Huh7 cells, as has previously been reported for other cell types<sup>36</sup>. In addition, HCV infection did not inhibit this conjugation. Furthermore, HCV infection induced LC3-II accumulation (Fig. 1A)This result confirms the capability of HCV to modulate autophagy, as has previously been reported by several groups<sup>9,18,19</sup>.

After ATG5 is conjugated to ATG12, it forms a multimeric complex by associating with ATG16L1. To test whether this complex forms in HCV-infected cells, we overexpressed ATG12-Flag in infected and uninfected cells. Using co-immunoprecipitation with an anti-flag monoclonal antibody, we detected the ATG5-12/16L1 complex under both conditions (Fig. 1B). Whereas ATG5-12 associates spontaneously with ATG16L1<sup>37,38</sup>, our results indicated that HCV infection did not disturb the formation of the ATG5-12/16L1 complex.

### Conjugation of ATG5-12 is required for HCV replication in infected cells.

To test whether the decoupling of the ATG5-12 conjugate influences HCV replication, we overexpressed the dominant-negative form of ATG12 (ATG12DN) in HCV-infected Huh7 cells. This mutated form of the ATG12 protein lacks the C-terminal glycine, which is crucial for conjugation with ATG5<sup>39</sup>. Interestingly, the overexpression of this conjugation-defective mutant had an adverse effect on HCV lifecycle, as indicated by a decrease in the NS3 protein (Fig. 1C), as well as the viral RNA level (Fig. 1D), as compared with the levels in mock-treated cells. The specificity of the effect of ATG12DN overexpression was assessed by trans-complementation with wild-type ATG12. As expected, trans-complementation with ATG12 restored the normal level of replication (Fig. 1C and D). Altogether, these results suggest that the ATG5-12 conjugate, rather than the monomeric form of the ATG5 and ATG12 proteins, acts as an HCV proviral factor.

### The ATG5-12 conjugate is involved in the HCV lifecycle at a post-translational step.

The conjugation of ATG12 to lysine 130 of ATG5 is mediated by ATG7, an E1-like enzyme, thus allowing the formation of the ATG5-12/16L1 complex. A fraction of the ATG5-12/16L1 complex localizes to the isolation membrane, where it facilitates LC3 lipidation. Another role of ATG7, along with ATG3, an E2-like enzyme, is to activate LC3 after its processing at the C-terminus by ATG4B, thus allowing its conjugation to the amino group of phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) and formation of the membrane-associated LC3-II, which assists in the expansion and closure of the autophagosome<sup>40,41</sup>. Therefore, silencing of ATG7 allows the inhibition of LC3-II and ATG5-12 conjugation (Fig. 2B). Thus, by silencing LC3, ATG7 or ATG12, we were able to analyze the independent contributions of the two autophagy conjugation systems in the HCV lifecycle. For this purpose, we first determined the efficiency of the selected siRNA to knock down their respective targets (Fig. 2A, B and C). We then analyzed the effects of the silencing of ATG12, LC3 or ATG7 on HCV entry, viral RNA translation/replication and virion

maturation and secretion. As shown in Figure 2D, Huh7 infection by HCVpp was not altered in cells treated with siRNA against LC3, ATG7 or ATG12, thus suggesting that neither LC3 nor the ATG5-12 conjugate is involved in viral entry.

Previously, Dreux and colleagues have reported that HCV RNA translation is affected by inhibition of LC3 conjugation using siRNA against ATG4B. In that report, the authors followed the luciferase activity expressed from a replication-defective subgenomic replicon RLuc/SGR harboring an inactivation mutation (GDD to GND) at the active site of the HCV polymerase NS5B (RLuc/SGR-GND)<sup>31</sup>. Using a similar approach, we evaluated the effects of LC3, ATG7 and ATG12 silencing on viral RNA translation and/or replication. We used full-length HCV JFH1 RNA with a firefly luciferase reporter containing the GND mutation in the active site of NS5B (JFH1/Fluc-GND) and then analyzed the Fluc activity expressed from the HCV internal ribosomal entry site (IRES). A significant decrease in luciferase activity (>80%) was observed in JFH1/Fluc-GNDtransfected cells pretreated with siLC3 (Fig. 2E). Silencing of ATG7, which inhibits LC3-II formation as well as ATG5-12 conjugation, decreased viral translation by 50%. This effect probably occurred through the inhibition of LC3-II conjugation, because silencing of ATG12 expression was much less efficient than LC3 silencing at inhibiting viral RNA translation (Fig. 2E). In contrast, silencing of ATG12 severely affected the luciferase activity of a replication competent JFH1/Fluc wild-type virus. The effect on replication was not due to the toxicity of siRNA treatment (Fig. S1), thus suggesting that the ATG5-12 conjugate is involved in an HCV lifecycle step(s) beyond entry and RNA translation (Fig. 2E), whereas LC3 expression and/or conjugation is primarily important for viral translation, as previously suggested<sup>31</sup>.

### The ATG5-12 conjugate positively regulates HCV RNA replication in an LC3independent manner.

To determine whether LC3 or the ATG5-12 conjugate modulates HCV RNA replication, we analyzed the effects of silencing these autophagy genes on viral RNA replication in Huh7 cells stably expressing the JFH1 subgenomic replicon (SGR). Using these specific cells, which are capable of only intracellular HCV RNA replication and lacked the capacity

to produce infectious viral particles, allowed us to study HCV RNA replication independently of viral entry and egress. Again, silencing of ATG12 but not LC3 efficiently inhibited RNA replication, thus supporting the role of the ATG5-12 conjugate in viral replication and ruling out the possibility that LC3 participates in viral replication (Fig. 3A and B). Because silencing of LC3 expression led to a clear inhibition of HCV RNA translation after electroporation of the viral RNA but did not significantly affect replication in JFH1-SGR cells, we sought to compare the effect of siRNA treatment before and after infection with HCVcc JFH1 (Fig. 3C). The results clearly demonstrated that siLC3 inhibited HCV only when it was transfected before infection, whereas siATG7 was effective when it was transfected before or after infection. These results suggest that LC3 is important early in infection and primarily for initial HCV RNA translation, as has previously been reported<sup>31</sup>. Finally, we evaluated the effects of siRNA treatment on intracellular and extracellular HCV infectious particle production in JFH1-infected cells (Fig. 3D). These results suggested that HCV maturation and secretion was not significantly affected by siRNA treatment. Although silencing ATG12 led to a significant decrease in HCV particle formation, this effect was attributed to a severe reduction in viral replication. Collectively, ATG12 silencing and to a lesser extent ATG7 but not LC3, impaired viral replication.

### ATG5-12 and ATG16L1 are associated with purified MW extract.

In a previous study from our lab, we have shown that ATG5 interacts with the HCV polymerase (NS5B) and co-localizes with the MW associated protein NS4B<sup>34</sup>. The major limitation in our ability to investigate the composition of the MW has recently been resolved by Dr. Ralf Bartenschlager's group, which has developed a method to purify the HCV MW by using HCV replicon cells harboring an HA-tag NS4B (NS4B-HA)<sup>42</sup>. This method allowed us to evaluate the presence of the autophagy elongation complex proteins in purified MW extract. Through this protocol, after membrane enrichment from a discontinuous sucrose gradient via ultracentrifugation, we pooled fractions that were rich in viral nonstructural proteins (fraction 3 to 7) but mostly devoid of soluble proteins

(GAPDH or LC3I, fractions 8-10) (Fig. 4A). The MW vesicles were then pulled down from pooled fractions by using a specific antibody against the HA-tag of the HCV NS4B protein. Subsequently, the MW-enriched extract was used for either western blot analysis or vesicle visualization by transmission electron microscopy (TEM). As expected, HCV NS4B<sup>HA</sup>, NS3 and NS5A were readily detectable in the purified extract from NS4B<sup>HA</sup> replicon cells but not that from control untagged NS4B replicon cells (Fig. 4B). The autophagy elongation complex proteins (ATG5-12 and ATG16L1) were also detected in the purified MW from NS4B<sup>HA</sup> replicon cells, but not in the control extract, thus indicating that the elongation complex is indeed present at the HCV replication site. In contrast, we were unable to detect LC3II in the purified MW (Fig. 4B), thereby suggesting that LC3 is not recruited with the autophagy elongation complex to the MW. We then examined the morphology of purified membranes and compared them with ER membranes purified from a cell line expressing HA-tagged Calnexin, as previously described<sup>42</sup>. The results showed that almost 90% of the NS4B<sup>HA</sup> purified membranes were spherical vesicles as compared with CLNXN<sup>HA</sup> purified material, in which the majority of membranes were composed of partially collapsed large membranes (Fig. 5A and B). Our results are in agreement with those of Paul and colleagues, who have demonstrated that most of the purified ER membranes are composed of elongated structures, as opposed to the spherical vesicles found in MW extracts<sup>42</sup>. Finally, the specificity of the pull-down using HA-beads was confirmed by using extracts from untagged SGR cells (Fig. 5C). Altogether, these results indicate that at least a fraction of the autophagy elongation complex is localized in the virus-induced MW compartments.

### Silencing of ATG12 or ATG7, but not LC3, alters the phenotype of the MW.

To evaluate the putative role of host cell proteins in MW formation, Reiss and colleagues have established a T7-polymerase-based HCV RNA synthesis system in which continuous production of HCV polyproteins persists even when HCV replication is abrogated<sup>43</sup>. This system is particularly useful to evaluate the formation of the MW while targeting host cell proteins in the absence of HCV RNA replication. With this system, it has been shown that

alterations in MW formation result in a clustered phenotype of HCV nonstructural proteins<sup>43,44</sup>. Thus, using the same system (obtained from Dr. Volker Lohmann), we analyzed MW formation indirectly by monitoring viral protein localization after treatment with siLC3, siATG7 and siATG12. Under normal conditions, the NS3 and NS5A cellular distribution appeared as small punctate structures that appeared to be membrane associated (Fig. 6A and B). Treatment with siLC3 did not alter the cellular distribution of the viral proteins, as observed by confocal microscopy (Fig. 6A, B and C). Strikingly, silencing of ATG7 or ATG12 resulted in the formation of larger protein clusters in most of the transfected cells (Fig. 6A, B and C). This effect was not due to decreased HCV protein expression level (Fig. 6D), thus suggesting that the ATG5-12 conjugate, but not LC3, is required to obtain a wild-type MW phenotype.

#### Silencing of ATG12 or ATG7, but not LC3, modifies MW morphology.

Next, using TEM, we analyzed MW morphology after treatment with siLC3, siATG7 or siATG12. Expression of pTM-NS3-5B in cells treated with siCTL induced heterogeneous membrane alterations composed of DMVs of an average size of 200 nm interspersed by multi-membrane vesicles (MMVs) that were distributed throughout the cytoplasm (Fig. 7A and B) and that were not seen in negative cells (Fig. 7E). Silencing of ATG7 resulted in more homogenous DMVs with a markedly decreased average size (90 nm) and led to the disappearance of MMVs (Fig. 7A, B and D). Silencing of ATG12 led to a similar effect but with a much lower abundance of DMVs (Fig. 7C). However, silencing of LC3 had no effect on the DMV size (average diameter 200 nm) (Fig. 7B) or on the vesicle types in which both DMVs and MMVs coexist (Fig. 7C and D). Thus, a similar morphology of membrane alterations was observed in siCTL-treated cells (Fig. 7A and B). These results strongly suggest that the ATG5-12 conjugate is crucial for the formation of a typical HCV-induced MW architecture.

### Discussion

In the present study, we demonstrated the requirement of the ATG5-12/16L1 complex for the completion of the HCV lifecycle. HCV infection does not hamper ATG12 conjugation to ATG5 or the formation of the multimeric complex ATG5-12/16L1 (Fig. 1A and B). In contrast, the conjugation of ATG12 to ATG5 is crucial for the HCV lifecycle. More specifically, our study suggests a role of the ATG5-12/16L1 complex in HCV genome replication and the formation of the MW. The involvement of the autophagy elongation complex in the HCV replication step was investigated by using siRNA targeting of ATG7, ATG12 or LC3. Because the silencing of ATG7 is known to inhibit the conjugation of both LC3 and ATG5, we were able to address the importance of these two conjugation systems in HCV replication. Indeed, the ATG5-12 conjugate acted as a proviral factor at a step beyond entry and RNA translation but before virion maturation and secretion, as depicted in Figures 2 and 3. We also observed that silencing of LC3 interfered with HCV RNA translation after electroporation of replication-defective replicon (Fig. 2E). These results are consistent with those of Dreux and colleagues, who have found a defect in viral RNA translation after silencing of Beclin-1 or ATG4B, thus leading to inhibition of LC3-II formation<sup>31</sup>. Silencing of ATG12 had little effect on replication-deficient virus but was detrimental to the replication of the JFH1/Fluc virus, thus indicating that its primary target is beyond the translation step (Fig. 2E). This result was further confirmed in cells stably expressing the JFH1 subgenomic replicon, in which silencing of ATG7 or ATG12, but not LC3, significantly inhibited HCV replication (Fig. 3A and B). Silencing of LC3 impeded HCV only when performed before infection, thus suggesting that the ATG5-12 conjugate, but not LC3, is important in viral replication after the establishment of infection (Fig. 3C).

In addition, the co-purification of the elongation complex proteins with the MW suggested that the ATG5-NS5B interaction previously described by our laboratory<sup>34</sup> might actually participate in targeting of the elongation complex to the MW and/or in supplying of autophagic isolation membranes for the formation of the virus-induced vesicles. In canonical autophagy, the ATG5-12/16L1 complex is recruited to the isolation membrane prior to LC3 and is released just before the completion of autophagosomes. The absence

of LC3 in the purified MW suggests that HCV either hijacks ATG5-12/16L1-positive LC3negative isolation membranes or initiates the *de novo* formation of the isolation membrane at the MW rather than utilizing LC3-positive autophagosomes for the formation of DMVs within the MW (Fig. 4). Interestingly, the recruitment of the elongation complex to the MW was not accompanied by LC3 lipidation or its relocation at that site. Recently, it has been demonstrated that the ATG5-12/16L1 complex has a membrane-tethering activity that is independent of LC3<sup>45,46</sup>. This finding highlights the possibility that in HCV infected cells the major role of the elongation complex is to tether vesicles during MW formation. Concomitantly, it has been reported that some ATG proteins, including ATG16L1, can traffic in LC3-free vesicle-like structures to the site where they probably act to generate *de novo* isolation membranes<sup>47</sup>. This finding also raises the possibility that HCV may recruit similar structures that aid in the formation of the MW.

Recently, Reiss and colleagues have developed a system to evaluate the importance of host factors in membranous web formation<sup>43</sup>. Using this system, we demonstrated that ATG7 as well as ATG12 expression, but not LC3, are important to obtain a wild-type MW phenotype, as observed using confocal microscopy (Fig. 6). Furthermore, the morphology of the HCV-induced vesicles was severely altered after silencing of ATG7 or ATG12, but not LC3. Notably, knocking down ATG12 decreased the size and the number of DMVs, whereas silencing of ATG7 mainly affected their size (Fig. 7). At the moment, it remains unknown whether the altered MW is HCV-replication competent. However, the importance of the ATG5-12 conjugate in HCV RNA replication suggests that the autophagy elongation complex inhibits HCV replication through destabilization of the viral replication factories present within the MW.

In summary, recruitment of the autophagy elongation complex to the MW, which is normally involved in DMV formation, promotes viral replication and maintains proper formation of the wild type MW.

#### Methods

**Cell culture and reagents.** Huh7 and Huh7-Lunet cells stably expressing Calnexin or NS4B-HA replicon were obtained from Dr Ralf Bartenschlager. Huh7-Lunet cells stably expressing the T7 polymerase (Huh7-Lunet-T7) was obtained from Dr. Volker Lohmann, and the Huh7.5 cell line was obtained from Dr. Charles Rice. All Huh7-derived cell lines were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Gibco) supplemented with 10% v/v fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Multicell), 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin, and 2 mM L-glutamine (Gibco) at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, in a humidified incubator. Cell lines harboring the wild-type replicon or NS4B<sup>HA</sup> were maintained in medium supplemented with G418 (Gibco) at a final concentration of 500 µg/ml. Huh7-Lunet-T7 and Huh7-Lunet cells stably expressing calnexin were cultured in the presence of 10 µg/ml blasticidin (InvivoGen).

**Plasmids and antibodies.** The hATG5 and hATG16L1 sequences were cloned into the peGFP-C1 plasmid (Clontech), thus forming pGFP-ATG5 and pGFP-ATG16L1, respectively. The Flag-tagged ATG12 (pATG12) and its dominant-negative derivative pATG12 $\Delta$ G140 (ATG12DN) constructs were kindly provided by Dr. Adi Kimchi<sup>39</sup>. The PTM vector for the expression of HCV nonstructural proteins NS3 to 5B (pTM-NS3-5B) was kindly provided by Dr. Volker Lohmann. Rabbit polyclonal anti-LC3, rabbit polyclonal anti-ATG5, mouse monoclonal anti-Flag, and mouse monoclonal anti- $\beta$ -actin antibodies were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. Rabbit polyclonal anti-ATG12 and anti-ATG7 were purchased from Cell Signaling. Rabbit polyclonal anti-ATG16L1 antibody was purchased from MBL. Mouse monoclonal anti-HA was purchased from Roche. Mouse monoclonal anti-NS3 and anti-NS5A antibodies were purchased from BioFront. Rabbit polyclonal anti-NS4B and anti-NS5B antibodies were kindly provided by Drs. Kouacou Konan and Takaji Wakita, respectively. Mouse monoclonal anti-GAPDH was purchased from Santa Cruz.

**Preparation of viral stock and infections.** The cell culture-derived HCV (HCVcc) JFH1 virus was generated in Huh7 cells by transfection of *in vitro*-transcribed full-length JFH1 RNA (MEGAscript, Ambion). Viral stocks were produced by infection of Huh7 cells at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.01, as described previously<sup>48</sup>. A replicative bicistronic JFH1-based full-genome construct expressing Firefly luciferase (pJFH1/Fluc) and a clone with a mutation in the viral polymerase (GDD-to-GND) (pJFH1/Fluc-GND) were generated as previously described<sup>49</sup>. To reach 90% infected cells, Huh7 cells were infected at an MOI of 0.01, passaged for 7 days and then analyzed by immunofluorescence using an anti-NS5A antibody.

Western blot analysis. Cells were lysed in 300 µl of lysis buffer [25 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% NP40, Complete protease inhibitor (Roche)]. The lysates were normalized for total protein content using the BCA protein assay kit (Pierce). The proteins were then resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes (Bio-Rad), blocked for 30 min at room temperature (RT) with PBS-5% milk, and then incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibody in PBS-2% BSA. After being washed with 0.4% Tween 20 in PBS (PBST), the membranes were incubated for 1 h at RT with a goat-anti-rabbit or goat-anti-mouse IgG conjugated to horseradish peroxidase in PBS-5% milk. Protein bands were visualized with either the Clarity western ECL (Bio-Rad) or Femto chemiluminescence substrates (Pierce).

**Immunoprecipitation.** HCVcc-infected and uninfected Huh7 cells were transfected with a plasmid encoding ATG12-Flag. At day 2 post-transfection, the cells were placed on ice and washed with PBS containing 1 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>. The cells were scraped in the presence of 300 µl of lysis buffer [1% NP-40, 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 135 mM NaCl supplemented with 50 mM NaF, 10 mM Na<sub>4</sub>P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub>, 1 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, 1.5 mM EGTA and Complete<sup>TM</sup> protease inhibitor (Roche)]. ATG12-Flag was immunoprecipitated from the total lysate by using anti-Flag antibody.

**Purification of HCV-induced MW.** HCV-remodeled membrane purification was performed using a method adopted from a previously described protocol<sup>42</sup>. Briefly, 7.5 x  $10^7$  Huh7-Lunet cells harboring either wild-type or HA-tagged NS4B replicons or control cells stably overexpressing CANX<sup>HA</sup> were washed, scraped and then resuspended in 500 µl of hypotonic buffer and incubated on ice for 30 min. The cells were lysed with 50 strokes with a Dounce homogenizer. The lysates were centrifuged at 800 x g for 10 min at 4°C. Supernatants were collected and layered on top of a discontinuous sucrose gradient (70% to 30%) and centrifuged at 130,000 x g for 4 h at 4°C using an SW60i rotor (Beckman Coulter). Ten fractions were collected from the bottom (300 µl each) and analyzed for protein content. For HA affinity capture, fractions 3 to 7 were pooled, and then an equal amount of protein contained in pooled fractions was equilibrated to 150 mM NaCl. Incubation with HA-agarose beads (Sigma-Aldrich) was performed as previously described<sup>42</sup>.

**Membrane visualization by transmission electron microscopy.** To examine purified membranes, 50 µl of eluted material was centrifuged at 10 p.s.i. on a copper grid for 5 min at RT in an Airfuge (Beckman). Structures were negatively stained using 2% aqueous uranyl acetate for 30 sec and examined with an H-7100 (Hitachi) transmission electron microscope.

**Quantification of HCV RNA by RT-qPCR.** Isolated RNA was reverse transcribed with M-MLV (Invitrogen). The generated cDNA was used for qPCR using Taqman probes, as previously described<sup>50</sup>. Results were analyzed using the comparative  $\Delta$ Ct method.

**Small interfering RNA (siRNA) transfection.** Huh7 cells were reverse transfected in a 24-well plate with siRNA (25 nM final concentration) using Lipofectamine RNAiMAX reagent (Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Huh7 cells were transfected with siRNA to GFP, LC3B siRNA (UACCUGUAUACGUUAGUGAAAUU)

or with an ON-TARGETplus human ATG7 siRNA-SMART pool (catalog no. L-020112-00-0005). To study the onset of replication, Huh7.5 cells were reverse transfected with siRNA, as described above, in 6-well plates. Forty-eight hours later, the cells were trypsinized, washed twice with cold PBS, resuspended in 100 µl of cold Ingenio electroporation solution (Mirus) and then electroporated with 5 µg of in vitro-transcribed viral RNA (JFH1/Fluc or JFH1/Fluc-GND) in 2 mm gap electroporation cuvettes by using a BTX Harvard Apparatus with the following settings: 820 V, 99 µS, 4 pulses, 1.1 s interval. The cells were then resuspended in DMEM-10% FBS and seeded in 96-well plates and further cultured for 24 h. The cells were then lysed in 20 µl luciferase lysis buffer (RLB) and stored at -80°C until measurement of luciferase activity. For the determination of intra- and extracellular virus titers, JFH1-infected Huh7 cells were reverse transfected with siRNA in 6-well plates. Two days later, the cells were washed three times with PBS and supplemented with fresh DMEM. After 24 h, cells and supernatants were harvested. The cells were washed twice with PBS, trypsinized, resuspended in 1 ml culture medium and subjected to 3 rapid freeze-thaw cycles in a dry ice/ethanol bath and 37°C water bath, respectively. Cell debris was removed by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 3 minutes. Samples were analyzed using a limiting dilution assay.

**Production of HCVpp and cell entry assay.** Viral pseudotyped particles harboring the HCV glycoproteins (HCVpp) were produced by transfection in Hek-293T cells of vectors encoding viral glycoproteins, packaging proteins and a Luciferase marker. After 48 h, viral pseudoparticle supernatants were harvested and filtered through 45- $\mu$ M filters to remove the cell debris. For the entry assay, Huh7.5 cells were reverse transfected with siRNA in 96-well plates. After 48 h, the cells were infected with 50  $\mu$ l HCVpp containing supernatant. Forty-eight hours post-infection, the cells were washed three times with PBS, lysed in 20  $\mu$ l luciferase lysis buffer (RLB) and stored at -80°C until measurement of luciferase activity.

**Luciferase assay.** Cell lysates were prepared with Reporter Lysis Buffer (RLB) (Promega), and luciferase activity was measured with a luciferase assay system (Promega), per the manufacturer's protocol.

Assessment of the MW phenotype. For the immunofluorescence experiment, Huh7-Lunet-T7 cells were reverse transfected with siRNA as previously described<sup>43</sup>. Forty-eight hours later, a second round of transfection with siRNA was performed. After 48 h, cells were transfected with pTM-NS3-5B using Lipofectamine 3000 (Invitrogen). The coverslips were then fixed with 4% formaldehyde in PBS for 10 min, washed in PBS and incubated in blocking buffer (PBS, 3% bovine serum albumin, 10% FBS, 0.1% Triton X-100) for 30 min at RT. After being washed three times with PBS, the coverslips were incubated with primary antibody in blocking buffer for 1 h at RT. Then, the coverslips were washed with PBS and incubated with either Alexa Fluor<sup>TM</sup>-(488 or 568) goat anti-mouse IgG or Alexa Fluor<sup>TM</sup>-(488 or 568) goat anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen) for 1 h at RT. After being washed, the coverslips were mounted on glass slides with Prolong<sup>TM</sup> Antifade (Invitrogen) and examined with a laser scanning confocal Zeiss LSM 780.

For TEM analysis, a similar setup was used, except that after transfection with pTM-NS3-5B, the cells were trypsinized and seeded into lab-tek chamber slides (Thermo Fisher). After 24 h, the monolayer of cells was washed with PBS, fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde (Electron Microscopy Science) and incubated overnight at 4°C. The cells were then washed in 0.1 M cacodylate (Electron Microscopy Science) and incubated in 1% osmium tetroxide (Mecalab) for 1 h at 4°C. The cells were dehydrated in a graded series of ethanol/deionized water solutions (from 50% to 100%). The cells were then infiltrated with a 1:1 and 3:1 Epon 812 for 1 h for embedding and polymerized overnight in an oven at 60°C. The polymerized blocks were trimmed, and 100 nm ultrathin sections cut with an UltraCut E ultramicrotome (Reichert Jung) and transferred onto 200-mesh copper grids (Electron Microscopy Science) with formvar support film. The sections were stained with 4% uranyl acetate (Electron Microscopy Science) for 8 min, then with lead citrate for 5 min (Fisher scientific). The cells were imaged with an FEI Tecnai 12 transmission electron microscope (FEI company) operating at an accelerating voltage of 120 kV and equipped with an AMT XR80C CCD camera. Vesicle size was measured using Image J (NIH).

**Cell viability assay.** Cells were reverse transfected with different siRNAs used in this study in a 96-well plate for 48 h. Cell viability was then assayed using the CellTiter 96® AQueous Non-Radioactive Cell Proliferation Assay reagent (Promega).

**Statistical analyses.** The results shown represent the mean of at least three independent experiments. Student's-t-test and one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test (as indicated in the figure legends) were performed using GraphPad Prism 5. P-values below 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

### Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Takaji Wakita for providing the HCV JFH-1 and the anti-NS5B antibody. The Huh7-Lunet, NS4B<sup>HA</sup>-replication and CANX<sup>HA</sup> cells were generously provided by Dr. Ralf Bartenschlager. The Huh7-Lunet-T7 cells and the pTM-NS3-5B vector were provided by Dr. Volker Lohmann. We are also grateful to Dr. Kouacou Konan for providing the anti-NS4B antibody and Dr. Adi Kimchi for providing the ATG12 and ATG12 $\Delta$ G140 plasmids. We also thank Dr. Hojatollah Vali and his group for performing TEM with AF. In addition, we thank David Paul, Jessy Tremblay and Micheline Letarte for technical assistance. This work was supported by a research grant from the NSERC of Canada. AF received fellowships from the NCRTP-HepC.

### **Author contributions**

AF and PL designed the study. AF performed the experiments. AF and PL analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript.

Competing financial interests: The authors declare no competing financial interests.

### References

- Webster, D. P., Klenerman, P., Collier, J. & Jeffery, K. J. Development of novel treatments for hepatitis C. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 9, 108-117, doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(09)70020-9 (2009).
- Moradpour, D., Penin, F. & Rice, C. M. Replication of hepatitis C virus. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 5, 453-463, doi:10.1038/nrmicro1645 (2007).
- 3 Gosert, R. *et al.* Identification of the hepatitis C virus RNA replication complex in Huh-7 cells harboring subgenomic replicons. *J. Virol.* **77**, 5487-5492, doi:10.1128/JVI.77.9.5487-5492.2003 (2003).
- Egger, D. *et al.* Expression of hepatitis C virus proteins induces distinct membrane alterations including a candidate viral replication complex. *J. Virol.* 76, 5974-5984, doi:10.1128/JVI.76.12.5974-5984.2002 (2002).
- 5 Knoops, K. *et al.* SARS-coronavirus replication is supported by a reticulovesicular network of modified endoplasmic reticulum. *PLoS Biol.* 6, e226, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060226 (2008).
- de Wilde, A. H. *et al.* MERS-coronavirus replication induces severe in vitro cytopathology and is strongly inhibited by cyclosporin A or interferon-α treatment.
  *J. Gen. Virol.* 94, 1749-1760, doi:doi:10.1099/vir.0.052910-0 (2013).
- Romero-Brey, I. *et al.* Three-dimensional architecture and biogenesis of membrane structures associated with hepatitis C virus replication. *PLoS Pathog.* 8, e1003056, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003056 (2012).

- 8 Ulasli, M., Verheije, M. H., de Haan, C. A. & Reggiori, F. Qualitative and quantitative ultrastructural analysis of the membrane rearrangements induced by coronavirus. *Cell. Microbiol.* **12**, 844-861, doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2010.01437.x (2010).
- 9 Sir, D. *et al.* Replication of hepatitis C virus RNA on autophagosomal membranes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 18036-18043, doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.320085 (2012).
- 10 Levine, B., Mizushima, N. & Virgin, H. W. Autophagy in immunity and inflammation. *Nature* **469**, 323-335, doi:10.1038/nature09782 (2011).
- Fujita, N. *et al.* The Atg16L complex specifies the site of LC3 lipidation for membrane biogenesis in autophagy. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 2092-2100, doi:10.1091/mbc.E07-12-1257 (2008).
- Tanida, I., Ueno, T. & Kominami, E. LC3 and Autophagy. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 445, 77-88, doi:10.1007/978-1-59745-157-4\_4 (2008).
- Jackson, W. T. *et al.* Subversion of cellular autophagosomal machinery by RNA viruses. *PLoS Biol.* 3, e156, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0030156 (2005).
- 14 Li, J. K., Liang, J. J., Liao, C. L. & Lin, Y. L. Autophagy is involved in the early step of Japanese encephalitis virus infection. *Microbes Infect* 14, 159-168, doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2011.09.001 (2012).
- McLean, J. E., Wudzinska, A., Datan, E., Quaglino, D. & Zakeri, Z. Flavivirus NS4A-induced autophagy protects cells against death and enhances virus replication. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 22147-22159, doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.192500 (2011).

- Heaton, N. S. & Randall, G. Dengue virus-induced autophagy regulates lipid metabolism. *Cell Host Microbe* 8, 422-432, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2010.10.006 (2010).
- Liu, Q. *et al.* Autophagy sustains the replication of porcine reproductive and respiratory virus in host cells. *Virology* 429, 136-147, doi:10.1016/j.virol.2012.03.022 (2012).
- 18 Wang, L., Tian, Y. & Ou, J. H. HCV induces the expression of Rubicon and UVRAG to temporally regulate the maturation of autophagosomes and viral replication. *PLoS Pathog.* **11**, e1004764, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004764 (2015).
- Huang, H. *et al.* Hepatitis C virus inhibits AKT-tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC), the mechanistic target of rapamycin (MTOR) pathway, through endoplasmic reticulum stress to induce autophagy. *Autophagy* 9, 175-195, doi:10.4161/auto.22791 (2013).
- 20 Ait-Goughoulte, M. *et al.* Hepatitis C virus genotype 1a growth and induction of autophagy. *J. Virol.* **82**, 2241-2249, doi:10.1128/JVI.02093-07 (2008).
- Chu, V. C. *et al.* Persistent expression of hepatitis C virus non-structural proteins leads to increased autophagy and mitochondrial injury in human hepatoma cells.
  *PLoS One* 6, e28551, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028551 (2011).
- Rautou, P. E. *et al.* Changes in autophagic response in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Am. J. Pathol.* 178, 2708-2715, doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.02.021 (2011).

- Kim, S. J., Syed, G. H. & Siddiqui, A. Hepatitis C virus induces the mitochondrial translocation of Parkin and subsequent mitophagy. *PLoS Pathog.* 9, e1003285, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003285 (2013).
- Sir, D. *et al.* Induction of incomplete autophagic response by hepatitis C virus via the unfolded protein response. *Hepatology* 48, 1054-1061, doi:10.1002/hep.22464 (2008).
- 25 Ke, P. Y. & Chen, S. S. Activation of the unfolded protein response and autophagy after hepatitis C virus infection suppresses innate antiviral immunity in vitro. J. *Clin. Invest.* 121, 37-56, doi:10.1172/JCI41474 (2011).
- 26 Chandra, P. K. *et al.* HCV infection selectively impairs type I but not type III IFN signaling. *Am. J. Pathol.* **184**, 214-229, doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.10.005 (2014).
- Wang, J. *et al.* Hepatitis C virus core protein activates autophagy through EIF2AK3
  and ATF6 UPR pathway-mediated MAP1LC3B and ATG12 expression.
  *Autophagy* 10, 766-784, doi:10.4161/auto.27954 (2014).
- 28 Mohl, B. P., Tedbury, P. R., Griffin, S. & Harris, M. Hepatitis C virus-induced autophagy is independent of the unfolded protein response. J. Virol. 86, 10724-10732, doi:10.1128/JVI.01667-12 (2012).
- 29 Gregoire, I. P. *et al.* IRGM is a common target of RNA viruses that subvert the autophagy network. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1002422, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002422 (2011).

- 30 Shrivastava, S., Raychoudhuri, A., Steele, R., Ray, R. & Ray, R. B. Knockdown of autophagy enhances the innate immune response in hepatitis C virus-infected hepatocytes. *Hepatology* **53**, 406-414, doi:10.1002/hep.24073 (2010).
- Dreux, M., Gastaminza, P., Wieland, S. F. & Chisari, F. V. The autophagy machinery is required to initiate hepatitis C virus replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 106, 14046-14051, doi:10.1073/pnas.0907344106 (2009).
- 32 Tanida, I. *et al.* Knockdown of autophagy-related gene decreases the production of infectious hepatitis C virus particles. *Autophagy* **5**, 937-945, doi:9243 [pii] (2009).
- 33 Mizushima, N. *et al.* Dissection of autophagosome formation using Apg5-deficient mouse embryonic stem cells. *J. Cell Biol.* **152**, 657-668 (2001).
- Guevin, C. *et al.* Autophagy protein ATG5 interacts transiently with the hepatitis
  C virus RNA polymerase (NS5B) early during infection. *Virology* 405, 1-7, doi:10.1016/j.virol.2010.05.032 (2010).
- 35 Mizushima, N. *et al.* Mouse Apg16L, a novel WD-repeat protein, targets to the autophagic isolation membrane with the Apg12-Apg5 conjugate. *J. Cell Sci.* **116**, 1679-1688 (2003).
- Hosokawa, N., Hara, Y. & Mizushima, N. Generation of cell lines with tetracycline-regulated autophagy and a role for autophagy in controlling cell size. *FEBS Lett.*580, 2623-2629, doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2006.04.008 (2006).
- Kaufmann, A., Beier, V., Franquelim, H. G. & Wollert, T. Molecular mechanism of autophagic membrane-scaffold assembly and disassembly. *Cell* 156, 469-481, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.022 (2014).

- 38 Kuma, A., Mizushima, N., Ishihara, N. & Ohsumi, Y. Formation of the approximately 350-kDa Apg12-Apg5.Apg16 multimeric complex, mediated by Apg16 oligomerization, is essential for autophagy in yeast. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 18619-18625, doi:10.1074/jbc.M111889200 (2002).
- Rubinstein, A. D., Eisenstein, M., Ber, Y., Bialik, S. & Kimchi, A. The autophagy protein Atg12 associates with antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family members to promote mitochondrial apoptosis. *Molecular cell* 44, 698-709, doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2011.10.014 (2011).
- 40 Mizushima, N., Yoshimori, T. & Levine, B. Methods in mammalian autophagy research. *Cell* **140**, 313-326, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.028 (2010).
- 41 Itakura, E. & Mizushima, N. Characterization of autophagosome formation site by a hierarchical analysis of mammalian Atg proteins. *Autophagy* **6**, 764-776 (2010).
- Paul, D., Hoppe, S., Saher, G., Krijnse-Locker, J. & Bartenschlager, R. Morphological and biochemical characterization of the membranous hepatitis C virus replication compartment. *J. Virol.* 87, 10612-10627, doi:10.1128/JVI.01370-13 (2013).
- Reiss, S. *et al.* Recruitment and activation of a lipid kinase by hepatitis C virus NS5A is essential for integrity of the membranous replication compartment. *Cell Host Microbe* 9, 32-45, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2010.12.002 (2011).
- Reiss, S. *et al.* The lipid kinase phosphatidylinositol-4 kinase III alpha regulates the phosphorylation status of hepatitis C virus NS5A. *PLoS Pathog.* 9, e1003359, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003359 (2013).

- Walczak, M. & Martens, S. Dissecting the role of the Atg12-Atg5-Atg16 complex during autophagosome formation. *Autophagy* 9, 424-425, doi:10.4161/auto.22931 (2013).
- 46 Romanov, J. *et al.* Mechanism and functions of membrane binding by the Atg5-Atg12/Atg16 complex during autophagosome formation. *EMBO J.* 31, 4304-4317, doi:10.1038/emboj.2012.278 (2012).
- 47 Itakura, E., Kishi-Itakura, C., Koyama-Honda, I. & Mizushima, N. Structures containing Atg9A and the ULK1 complex independently target depolarized mitochondria at initial stages of Parkin-mediated mitophagy. *J. Cell Sci.* **125**, 1488-1499, doi:10.1242/jcs.094110 (2012).
- Guevin, C., Lamarre, A. & Labonte, P. Novel HCV replication mouse model using human hepatocellular carcinoma xenografts. *Antiviral Res.* 84, 14-22, doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2009.07.009 (2009).
- 49 Blanchet, M., Sureau, C., Guevin, C., Seidah, N. G. & Labonte, P. SKI-1/S1P inhibitor PF-429242 impairs the onset of HCV infection. *Antiviral Res.* 115, 94-104, doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2014.12.017 (2015).
- 50 Blanchet, M., Seidah, N. G. & Labonte, P. SKI-1/S1P inhibition: a promising surrogate to statins to block hepatitis C virus replication. *Antiviral Res.* 95, 159-166, doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2012.05.006 (2012).

### FIGURE LEGENDS

# Figure 1. HCV does not alter the formation of the autophagy elongation complex in Huh7 cell.

(A) ATG5-12 conjugation was assessed by western blotting in mock (UI) or Huh7 cells infected at more than 90% with JFH1 using specific anti-ATG5 antibody. HCV infection and LC3 lipidation were detected using anti-NS3 and anti-LC3 antibodies, respectively.  $\beta$ actin represents loading control. (B) Uninfected or JFH1-infected Huh7 cells at more than 90% were transiently transfected with a plasmid encoding for Flag-ATG12 protein. Two days later, cells were lysed and ATG12 was immunoprecipitated using anti-Flag antibody or IgG as a control followed by western blot analysis using anti-Flag and anti-ATG16L1. (C) Huh7 cells were infected with JFH1 (>90% infected) before being transfected with control (mock), Flag-ATG12, GFP-ATG5, Flag-ATG12DN or Flag-ATG12 and Flag-ATG12DN encoding plasmids. Cell lysates were analyzed for HCV NS3, ATG5 and ATG12 protein expressions at 72 h post-transfection by western blotting. (D) JFH1infected cells at more than 90% were transfected with control plasmid (mock), Flag-ATG12DN or Flag-ATG12 and Flag-ATG12DN. Two days later, intracellular HCV RNA was quantified by RT-qPCR. Data were collected from three independent experiments (n=3). (\*\*P < 0.005, NS, None-significant. Statistical analysis was performed by using Oneway ANOVA).

### Figure 2. Silencing of ATG7 or ATG12 inhibits HCV lifecycle.

(A), (B) and (C) Huh7 cells were transfected with siRNA against a non-specific target (siCTL), LC3 (siLC3), ATG7 (siATG7) or ATG12 (siATG12) siRNA, respectively. The cells were lysed 48 h post-transfection and extracts from each treatment were analyzed by western blotting for the corresponding proteins as indicated in the figure.  $\beta$ -actin was used as loading control. (D) Huh7.5 cells were transfected with siCTL, siLC3, siATG7 or siATG12. The cells were infected with HCVpp 48 h later and the luciferase activity was assessed 24 h post-infection. Data were derived from two independent experiments (n=3). (E) Huh7.5 cells were transfected with siCTL, siLC3, siATG12 for 48 h and

then electroporated with 5  $\mu$ g of *in vitro*-transcribed viral RNA (JFH1/Fluc or JFH1/Fluc-GND). The cells were lysed 24 h later and the luciferase activity was determined from three independent experiments (n=3). (\*\*\**P*<0.001, Statistical analysis was performed by using Student's-t-test). RLU represents relative luciferase units.

### Figure 3. Silencing of ATG7 or ATG12 but not LC3 inhibits HCV replication.

(A) Huh7 cells stably expressing wild-type JFH1 SGR were transfected with siCTL, siLC3, siATG7 or siATG12 each for 48 h and then cell lysates were analyzed for NS3 by western blotting using specific anti-NS3 antibody.  $\beta$ -actin served as loading control. (B) Huh7 cells stably expressing wild-type JFH1 SGR were transfected as in (A) and analyzed for SGR RNA by using RT-qPCR. Data are derived from three independent experiments (n=2). (\**P*<0.05, NS, none-significant. Statistical analysis was performed by using One-way ANOVA). (C) Huh7 cells were transfected with siCTL, siLC3 or siATG7 prior to or 7 days post-infection with JFH1 (MOI=0.01). Transfected cells were cultured for 72 h, lysed and subjected to RT-qPCR for intracellular viral RNA quantification. Data are derived from three independent experiments (n=3) (\*\*\**P*<0.001, Student's-t-test). RU represents relative units. (D) JFH1-infected Huh7 cells were transfected with siCTL, siLC3, siATG7 or siATG12. Extracellular and intracellular infectivity were determined 48 h post-transfection and expressed as percentage of control. Data shown are from three independent experiments (n=2)

### Figure 4. Purified MW extracts harbor the autophagy elongation complex proteins.

(A) Huh7-Lunet cells harboring HA-tagged NS4B replicons were subjected to sucrose gradient fractionation as described in materials and methods section. The fractions were analyzed for their protein content by western blotting. Specific antibodies were used to detect NS3, NS4B<sup>HA</sup>, NS5A, LC3 and GAPDH as indicated on the left. Fractions containing membrane-associated proteins (boxed in red) were pooled for affinity capture immunoprecipitation. The density of the different fractions is shown in the lower panel. TCL, total cell lysate. (B) HA-specific affinity-captured protein content from pooled fraction in (A) was analyzed by western blotting to detect viral NS3, NS4B, NS5A and autophagy elongation complex ATG5-12/16L1 by using specific antibodies. Pooled fractions from SGR cell lysate was used to demonstrate pull-down specificity.
#### Figure 5. Analysis of the purified MW membranes morphology and number.

(A) Morphological analysis of HA-captured membranes. HA-captured material from  $NS4B^{HA}$  or  $CLNXN^{HA}$  were negatively stained and examined using TEM. Scale bars represents 100 nm. (B) The purified membranes were categorized into elongated or spherical structures and were represented as relative values. (n >100). (C) Number of membrane structures per area of one hexagon from 10 randomly chosen grid hexagons. (\*\*\*P<0.0001, Statistical analysis was performed by using Student's-t-test).

# Figure 6. The impact of LC3, ATG7 or ATG12 silencing on membranous web phenotype.

(A) and (B) Huh7-Lunet-T7 cells were transfected with siCTL, siLC3, siATG7 or siATG12. After 48 h, the cells were transfected with pTM-NS3-5B and were stained 24 h later for NS3 and NS5A using specific antibodies (red). Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). (C) The percentage of wild-type and clustered phenotype was determined in 100 NS5A-positive cells per condition. (D) Huh7-Lunet-T7 cells were transfected with the different siRNAs as in (A) and then transfected with pTM-NS3-5B. After 24 h, cells were lysed and examined for HCV NS3 proteins expression by using western blotting. GAPDH was used as loading control.

# Figure 7. The impact of LC3, ATG7 or ATG12 silencing on membranous web ultrastructure.

(A) Huh7-Lunet-T7 cells knocked down for LC3, ATG7 or ATG12 were incubated for 48 h prior to transfection with pTM-NS3-5B. After 24 h, cells were fixed and processed for TEM analysis. Lower magnification images and shown on the left with their respective enlargement depicted on the right. Red arrows refer to DMVs. Arrowheads refer to MMVs. N is assigned for nucleus, LD for lipid droplet; M for mitochondria; G for Golgi apparatus. Scale bars are shown in the lower right corner of each panel. (B) The average diameter of DMVs assessed in each condition in at least 5 different cells (n=50 DMVs/cell) (\*\*\**P*<0.005, Statistical analysis was performed by using One-way ANOVA). (C and D) The average number of DMVs and MMVs per  $\mu$ M<sup>2</sup> as calculated from 40 randomly-selected areas per cell (n=3 cells). (\*\*\**P*<0.005, Statistical analysis was performed by using One-way ANOVA). (E) TEM analysis of naïve Huh7-Lunet-T7 cells.

### Figure S1. Cell viability of Huh7 cells treated with different siRNAs.

Naïve Huh7 cells were transfected with siCTL, siLC3, siATG7 or siATG12. After 48 h, cells were incubated with CellTiter 96® AQueous reagent for 2 h and the optical density was measured according to the manufacturer's protocol. (n=4).

Figure 1



Figure 2















Figure 4



В

Α

-15

Figure 5



Α







**CHAPTER 3: DISCUSSION** 

One unique pathway of cellular membrane trafficking is autophagy. Various signaling pathways were shown to regulate this multifactorial process. In the past few decades research on autophagy has been massively expanded because it is a vital process in maintaining cellular homeostasis as well as it's profound connections to diseases. Moreover, it represents an essential part of both the innate and adaptive immune systems. Xenophagy specifically recognizes intracellular pathogens, including viruses, and physically targets them to the lysosome for degradation. Consequently, some pathogens have evolved different strategies to suppress autophagy, whereas others utilize autophagosomal membranes and the autophagic machinery to enhance their own replication.

Flaviviruses are among the viruses that have been shown to induce autophagy (Khakpoor *et al.*, 2009, Jin-Kun Li *et al.*, 2012, McLean *et al.*, 2011). The role of autophagy in flavivirus infection have been associated with variety of functions including inhibition of apoptosis(McLean *et al.*, 2011), lipid metabolism modulation for efficient viral replication (Heaton *et al.*, 2010), evasion of innate immune response (Jin *et al.*, 2013), or provision of suitable membranous scaffold for viral replication during infection (Khakpoor *et al.*, 2009).

Among these flaviviruses, HCV has been shown to modulate autophagy. Moreover, autophagy has been shown to be required for efficient HCV replication. Although, the exact role of autophagy in HCV replication is still elusive. One potential host mechanism that may represent a target for eradicating HCV replication is autophagy. Indeed, autophagy has been shown to be required for efficient HCV replication. However, the exact role of autophagy in HCV replication is still elusive. One suggested mechanism is that HCV may utilize autophagosomes as membranous platform to facilitate replication. Nevertheless, the capability of HCV to replicate within autophagosomes is still questionable as no colocalization has been observed between autophagosome, represented by LC3II marker, and HCV replication complex in HCV-infected cells (Dreux *et al.*, 2009b). In a previous report, our laboratory has suggested a role for the autophagy factor ATG5 in HCV replication. ATG5 was found to interacts with the HCV RNA-dependent RNA polymerase, NS5B. In addition, ATG5 colocalized with the viral nonstructural protein NS4B, a marker of the MW, in Huh7 cells harboring HCV SGR.

Moreover, inhibition of ATG5 by using siRNA approach has been shown to attenuate HCV replication (Guevin *et al.*, 2010). The interaction between ATG5 and NS5B has led us to assume that HCV utilizes either membranous structures and/or autophagic factors that precede LC3II recruitment to the autophagosome formation site, the phagophore assembly site (PAS). One major event in the biogenesis of the autophagosome that occurs before LC3II engagement is the recruitment of ATG5-12/16L1 complex to the growing phagophore which helps in the completion of autophagosome formation and the lipidation of LC3. ATG5 is known to conjugate with ATG12 and, in turn, this conjugate forms a multimeric complex with ATG16L1 named as the autophagy elongation complex (ATG5-12/16L1). Collectively, these observations drew our attention to execute a deeper investigation of the role of the autophagy elongation complex in HCV replication cycle.

#### 4.1 ATG5-12/16L1 complex formation in HCV-infected cells

The initial step in this project was to evaluate the formation of ATG5-12/16L1 complex in human hepatocellular carcinoma-derived cells, namely Huh7. In normal conditions, ATG5 is found conjugated to ATG12 and the monomeric form of these proteins are usually undetectable (Hosokawa et al., 2006). Indeed, we were able to detect only the conjugated form of ATG5 and ATG12 (55 kDa) in uninfected Huh7 cells suggesting that the majority of the ATG5 is readily conjugated to ATG12 in these cells as previously described for other cell types (Hosokawa et al., 2006). Furthermore, our analysis of ATG5-12 conjugate formation in infected Huh7 cells revealed that HCV infection did not perturb the ATG5 conjugation to ATG12. Moreover, we showed that ATG5-12/16L1 complex was detectable in both HCV-infected and uninfected cells which indicates that HCV infection did not hamper the formation of ATG5-12/16L1 complex. To confirm the formation of such complex in situ at endogenous level of the proteins, the formation of ATG5-12/16L1 was examined by using proximity ligation assay (PLA). These results may imply that the previously described interaction of ATG5 with viral NS5B could, in fact, be between ATG5-12 conjugate or ATG5-12/16L1 complex and NS5B rather than the monomeric form of ATG5.

Remarkably, HCV infection has induced the accumulation of lipidated LC3. This is in line with several other reports that have shown the modulation of autophagy either by inducing autophagy or by blocking the maturation of the autophagosome (Dreux *et al.*, 2009b, H. Huang *et al.*, 2013, Ke *et al.*, 2011, Mohl *et al.*, 2012, Sir *et al.*, 2008, J. Wang *et al.*, 2014a, L. Wang *et al.*, 2015).

#### 4.2 ATG5-12/16L1 colocalizes with HCV replication complex

Following the assessment of ATG5-12/16L1 complex formation in infected cells, we aimed at exploring the localization of ATG5-12 conjugates in HCV-infected cells. Our confocal analysis showed a noticeable localization of ATG5-12 conjugate on distinct membrane- like structures. These structures were also positive for HCV NS3, NS5A, NS4B, and NS5B. The colocalization between ATG5-12 conjugates and HCV nonstructural proteins were also confirmed by using PLA. The detected PLA signals were specific since no interaction between ATG5-12 and core was observed using the same technique. The unique membrane-localization of ATG5-12 conjugate to membrane-like structure where HCV replication occurs (See Figure 2 in publication 1).

Since the formation of ATG5-12/16L1 complex is undeniably required to allow the expansion of the autophagosomal membrane and the completion of autophagosome (Kharaziha *et al.*, 2017, Walczak *et al.*, 2013), we investigated weather ATG16L1 also colocalizes with HCV replicase. As observed with ATG5-12 conjugate, ATG16L1 colocalized nicely with several HCV nonstructural proteins that constitute the viral replicase. In contrast, this colocalization was not translated into *in situ* interaction suggesting that the binding between ATG5-12/16L1 complex and viral NS3 is via ATG5-12 and not ATG16L1. Our results suggest that HCV recruits ATG5-12 and ATG16L1 as a complex to enhance HCV replication.

#### 4.3 ATG5-12/16L1 complex is recruited to HCV MW

The translation of HCV ORF occurs at the ER and yield a single polyprotein that is cleaved by a combination of host and viral proteases into viral structural and nonstructural proteins. The nonstructural proteins then form what is called the viral replicase which produces the viral RNA genome within newly synthesized web-like membranous vesicles of ER origin (Paul *et al.*, 2014). Our next aim was to investigate whether ATG5-12/16L1 is recruited to HCV replicase at RNA replication site or to the site where HCV RNA translation takes place. For this purpose, we utilized several biochemical assays to show the localization of ATG5-12/16L1 in HCV -infected cells. First, we performed iodixanol density gradient to segregate the replicase from ER fractions by using the chaperone protein calnexin to mark fractions that constitute ER. A considerable amount of ATG5-12 co-fractionated with ATG16L1 and the viral replicase proteins NS3 and NS5B at lower density fractions (Figure 6 in publication 1, fractions 11-13).

During the multi-step HCV RNA replication, a negative-sense RNA strand is synthesized from the positive-sense RNA genome to serve as template for the generation of progeny RNA genomes (Meyers *et al.*, 2016). Thus, by specifically detecting the negative-sense RNA in our fractions, we would be able to refer to the location of the HCV replicase in these fractions. Indeed, the fractions (11-13) contained HCV RNA positive-strand and most of the HCV negative-strand RNA, indicating that ATG5-12/16L1 might be present at the HCV replication site.

The presence of ATG5-12/16L1 in the same fractions where HCV replicase exist might not reflect their intracellular localization. To resolve this issue, we showed that ATG5-12 and ATG16L1 were colocalizing with the HCV dsRNA, a replication intermediate generated during active HCV RNA replication, in HCV-infected cells.

Despite the broad knowledge about the three-dimensional architecture of DMVs in HCVinfected cells, determination of their viral and cellular composition and their exact role in the replication cycle of HCV is elusive. This is attributed to difficulties in producing sufficient quantities of highly purified HCV-remodeled membranes to be analyzed biochemically. Recently, a major technical breakthrough was achieved by the laboratory of Dr. Ralf Bartenschlager where his group has developed a method by which HCV MW can be specifically isolated form HCV SGR cells. They generated functional stable

replicon cells containing a hemagglutinin (HA) affinity tag in NS4B, the scaffold protein that trigger the viral replication complex formation. By using HA-specific affinity purification, they were able to isolate NS4B-containing membranes from stable replicon cells (Paul *et al.*, 2013). Following their protocol, we were able to pull-down the MW and detect the presence of ATG5-12/16L1, but not LC3II, in these membranes by using western blotting. Our EM analysis revealed that the isolated membranes were highly enriched in DMVs. This comes in line with our previous knowledge about the nature of MW membranes and confirmed our success in isolating HCV MW.

Our inability to detect LC3II in the isolated membranes was intriguing since in canonical autophagy, the recruitment of ATG5-12/16L1 to phagophore is followed by the lipidation of LC3 and its localization to the isolation membrane. Futhermore, HCV infection has been shown to induce the appearance of LC3II puncta throughout the infected cell. Apparently, our confocal analysis showed no detectable colocalization between LC3 and HCV replication complex. There are two main possible ways to explain the exclusion of LC3II from the HCV replication site. The first is that HCV may hijack ATG5-12/16L1 from the phagophore assembly site and recruits it to the MW where it might functionally help either in viral replication or in the construction of the MW. This assumption is supported by the recent finding that some autophagy key players, as ATG9 and ATG16L1, can traffic within the cytoplasm of a cell in vesicles that are not autophagosomes (Itakura et al., 2012a). The other possible explanation is that HCV might co-opt phagophores or autophagosomes that are LC3II negative to utilize them in the build-up of the MW. This assumption is also valid since it was recently reported that incomplete autophagosome formation can exist in the absence of LC3II (Tsuboyama et al., 2016). Interestingly, these incomplete autophagosomes were positive for ATG5 which may increase the likelihood for this to occur in case of HCV infection (Tsuboyama et al., 2016). Altogether, our findings suggest that HCV co-opts ATG5-12/16L1 or ATG5-12/16L1-positive membranes to the replication site where it act as a proviral factor.

## 4.4 ATG12 conjugation to ATG5, but not LC3 lipidation, is required for HCV replication

The absence of LC3II from the HCV-induced MW has tempted us to further investigate the role of LC3 lipidation in HCV replication. For this purpose, we overexpressed a dominant negative form of ATG4B (ATG4BDN), a protein that cleaves LC3 pre-protein to prepare it for lipidation, in HCV-infected cells. In these LC3II-attenuated cells HCV replication was maintained with no decrease either on HCV proteins expression or viral RNA level. These results along with our earlier findings suggest that LC3II formation is not required for HCV replication.

In contrast, when we overexpressed a dominant-negative form of ATG12 (ATG12-DN) lacking the C-terminal glycine that is essential for its conjugation with ATG5 in HCV-infected cells, a significant decrease in HCV RNA and proteins was observed even with the limited transfection efficiency of Huh7 cell, 40-50% transfection efficiency. Similar results were obtained when a dominant-negative form of ATG5 (ATG5-DN) was overexpressed. To confirm these results, we rescued the defective ATG12 by a co-transfection with ATG12 wild type. Indeed, ATG12 wild type co-expression was able to restore both HCV RNA and protein levels. These results confirm that the ATG5-12 conjugated form, rather than the monomeric form of these proteins, is important for HCV replication cycle.

## 4.5 The ATG5-12 conjugate is implicated in the HCV lifecycle at a post-translational step

The obvious effect of ATG5-12 disruption, but not LC3-impaired lipidation, on HCV replication has tempted us to further investigate the contribution of those two conjugation systems in different steps of HCV life cycle. For this purpose, we directly targeted each conjugation system using siRNA against ATG12 and LC3 or indirectly by the silencing of ATG7, which would inhibit both conjugation system at once. Indeed, we were able to efficiently attenuate the expression of these target proteins using their respective specific siRNA. To study the effect of siATG7, siATG12, and siLC3 on HCV entry, we utilized HCVpp that features unmodified HCV E1 and E2 glycoproteins which upon

internalization, a luciferase signal is emitted enabling us to specifically monitor HCV entry (Bartosch *et al.*, 2009). We showed that diminishing the expression of ATG7, ATG12 or LC3 had no effect on Luciferase expression which suggests that neither the ATG5-12/16L1 nor LC3 modulates viral entry.

It has been previously reported that the onset of HCV RNA translation is inhibited by the abrogation of LC3 conjugation using siRNA against ATG4B (Dreux *et al.*, 2009b). The initiation of translation was assessed by following the luciferase activity of a replication-defective subgenomic replicon RLuc/SGR harboring an inactivation mutation (GDD to GND) at the active site of the HCV polymerase NS5B (RLuc/SGR-GND) (Dreux *et al.*, 2009b). This observation suggests an implication of either autophagy machinery or LC3 lipidation in establishing HCV RNA translation. Using similar approach, when we knocked down LC3 expression the translation of electroporated replication-defective HCV replicon was significantly inhibited which confirms the role of LC3 in establishing the translation of viral RNA. In contrast, silencing of ATG12 had a little effect on replication-deficient virus whereas it strongly affected the replication of the JFH1/Fluc virus, thus indicating that ATG5-12/16L1 primarily modulates HCV replication in a stage beyond the viral RNA translation.

The post-translational modulation of HCV replication by ATG5-12/16L1 was further confirmed in cells stably expressing the HCV subgenomic replicon. In these cells, silencing of ATG7 or ATG12 significantly inhibited HCV replication while silencing of LC3 rendered no effect. Our observations that siLC3 impedes HCV only when performed before infection while siATG7 inhibits HCV when transfected before or after infection support our earlier results and suggested a specific role of LC3 in viral RNA translation and that the ATG5-12 conjugate, but not LC3, is important in viral replication.

The evaluation of the effects of siRNA treatment on intracellular and extracellular HCV infectious particle production in JFH1-infected cells revealed that HCV maturation and secretion were most likely not affected by siRNA treatment. Although silencing ATG12 led to a significant decrease in HCV particle formation, this effect is likely due to the severe reduction in viral replication exerted by the attenuation of this protein.

Collectively, while LC3 has a clear role in HCV RNA translation, the role of ATG5-12/16L1 appears to be linked to the stage of HCV RNA replication.

#### 4.6 ATG5-12 conjugate is crucial for the proper morphology of HCV-induced MW

While several reports have suggested a role of autophagy in different stages of HCV replication cycle, none of them provided an evidence on the implication of autophagy/autophagic protein in the construction of HCV-induced MW. The mechanism by which HCV-induced MW are formed remains enigmatic. Recently, it was shown that they originate from ER membranes, similar to what has been found for other members of the *Flaviviridae* family (Romero-Brey *et al.*, 2014). Electron tomographic analysis revealed that these DMVs are frequently connected to the ER membrane via a neck-like structure (Romero-Brey *et al.*, 2012).

The involvement of autophagy in the architecture of the MW has been proposed based on three main observations. First, the morphological similarities between the autophagosome and the DMVs that constitute the majority of the MW vesicle content (Romero-Brey *et al.*, 2014). Second, both HCV-induced DMVs and, to some extent, autophagosomes share the same origin as both start as a protrusion from ER. Third, HCV proteins that have been shown to modulate autophagy, either by inducing or blocking the autophagic flux, and accumulate autophagosomes are found to promote the formation of the MW vesicles. It is noteworthy that, ATG5-12/16L1 has been shown to harbor a membrane-tethering activity that is independent of LC3 (Romanov *et al.*, 2012, Walczak *et al.*, 2013).

All these observations challenged us to investigate whether ATG5-12 conjugate is involved in the construction of the MW. For this purpose, we utilized a well-established T7-polymerase-based HCV RNA synthesis system in which continuous production of HCV polyproteins persists even in the absence of HCV RNA replication (Reiss *et al.*, 2011). By using this system, we were able to show that either silencing of ATG7 or ATG12 had a severe effect on the distribution of viral replication complex proteins, NS3 and NS5A. Normally, replicase proteins show a dispersed subcellular localization throughout the cytoplasm of a cell. Silencing of ATG7 or ATG12 has severely affected this distribution and led to the formation of large protein clusters within the cytoplasm when observed by

confocal microscopy. In contrary, silencing of LC3 did not change the subcellular distribution of HCV replicase proteins, NS3 and NS5A. These results may refer to a phenotypic change in the MW architecture exerted by the attenuation of ATG7 and ATG12 expression.

By exploring the morphological structure of HCV MW using EM. We were able to show that silencing of ATG7 has led to a decrease in DMVs size and a disappearance of MMVs that normally exist in wild-type MW. Furthermore, we showed that by silencing of ATG12 a more pronounced effect is exerted as DMVs have decreased both in size and number in addition to the disappearance of MMVs that was observed by knocking down ATG7. Again, LC3 silencing did not affect neither the number nor the size of DMVs while MMVs were still present in a comparable amount as in control cells. Our study suggested a novel role of ATG5-12/16L1 in HCV replication by participating in the formation of proper HCV-induced MW.

#### 4.7 Autophagy as a potential target for HCV treatment

Impressive leaps in the understanding of HCV pathogenesis, replication, and protein functions have paved the way toward the development of direct acting antivirals (DAAs). These drugs showed strong potency and effectiveness in eradicating HCV infection which has led to the replacement of the traditional interferon with highly tolerated oral therapies that can cure more than 90% of patients (Afdhal *et al.*, 2014, Feld *et al.*, 2014). To date, inhibition of HCV replication has converged on three main viral targets: the NS3/4A protease (simeprevir, paritaprevir, and grazoprevir), the NS5A (daclatasvir, ledipasvir, ombitasvir, elbasvir, and velpatasvir), and the NS5B RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (the nucleotide analog sofosbuvir and the non-nucleoside inhibitor dasabuvir). Despite the high rates of sustained virological response achieved with these regimens, the infection is not eliminated from an increasing number of patients, 1%–15%, according to the patient group and regimen (Pawlotsky, 2014).

Another alternative treatment strategy could be by targeting cell components that contribute to the HCV life cycle using host-targeted antivirals (HTAs). The advantage of targeting a host factor is the likelihood of having a pangenotypic activity and a high barrier

to resistance. Cyclophilin inhibitors has been shown to inhibit HCV replication by blocking the peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase activity of cyclophilin A, which is required for efficient HCV replication (Coelmont *et al.*, 2009). In addition, targeting of microRNA 122 by using the microRNA 122 antagonist miravirsen, which inhibits binding of microRNA 122 to the 5'UTR of the HCV genome, has shown antiviral activity *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Janssen *et al.*, 2013, Lanford *et al.*, 2010).

One potential host mechanism that may represent a target for eradicating HCV replication is autophagy. Indeed, autophagy has been shown to be required for efficient HCV replication. Herein, we have shown that autophagy elongation complex plays a crucial role in HCV replication possibly via helping in the formation of the MW. Thus, targeting ATG5-12/16L1 by specific inhibitors may provide a new strategy to eradicate HCV infection.

**CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES** 

We revealed that HCV infection benefits from the autophagy elongation complex to allow efficient viral replication in vitro. Clearly, we showed that ATG5-12/16L1 complex, but not LC3II, is recruited to the HCV replication site and exist within the HCV-induced membranous web. Furthermore, analysis of the role of LC3 and ATG5-12 conjugate in HCV replication cycle has revealed the involvement of ATG5-12 in HCV RNA replication step whereas LC3 was required only for the onset of HCV RNA translation. ATG5-12 did not modulate neither HCV entry nor the quality of HCV infectious particles secreted. Moreover, we showed that the modulation of HCV RNA replication by ATG5-12 conjugate could be attributed to a morphological modification in the architecture of the MW as seen by confocal microscopy. Indeed, disrupting ATG5-12 conjugate by using siRNA approach has led to a dramatic decrease in size and number of DMVs associated with a disappearance of MMVs from HCV-induced MW. Altogether, our study highlights a new role of autophagic factors in HCV lifecycle which possibly could be extended to other flaviviruses.

The role of ATG5-12/16L1, but not LC3, in the formation of MW and possibly in HCV RNA replication may indicate the participation of other early autophagy events that precede LC3 recruitment. In order to investigate this, the involvement of other autophagy key players such as ATG9 and Beclin1, factors that precede the recruitment of LC3 and ATG5-12/16L1 to the growing phagophore (Webber *et al.*, 2010), should be studied.

In addition, non-canonical autophagy that can exist in the absence of key autophagic players such as ATG7 could be a potential mechanism induced by HCV infection. One useful inhibitor of this pathway is Brefeldin A, a lactone antibiotic that exerts its disruptive effect at the cis-Golgi. It is noteworthy that Brefeldin A was shown to inhibit HCV infection which may indicate the potential involvement of non-canonical autophagy in HCV replication and/or the formation of the MW. In addition, it can also demarcate the contribution of Golgi as membrane source for HCV MW.

Moreover, several attempts to investigate weather HCV induces a complete autophagic flux (Sir *et al.*, 2008). However, these trials were confecting and did not provide sufficient evidences to address this issue. Thus, this debate should be resolved by a thorough

assessment of the autophagic flux during HCV infection using powerful tools known to follow the completion of autophagy in mammalian cells such as by following the degradation of P62, a protein that has a specific propensity to be degraded in the lysosome through autophagy. This can also be studied by using overexpression of the mTagRFP-mWasabi-LC3 protein, which was recently shown to be a more accurate reporter for monitoring autophagic flux compared to mRFP-eGFP-LC3 due to higher sensitivity of the mWasabi over eGFP to the acidic environment of lysosome. Thus, the autophagic flux can be followed calorimetrically by using confocal microscope. One additional tool is long-lived protein degradation assay which allows the assessment of autophagic flux through following the degradation of long-lived proteins, specifically degraded via autophagy, by labeling with valine C<sup>14</sup>.

Interestingly, other flaviviruses, like Zika virus, have been shown to exploit autophagy for viral replication by unknown mechanisms. Due to the similarity among these group of viruses, especially in the massive membrane remodeling that they exert in the cell during infection, one could expect that some of them might hijack ATG5-12/16L1, as in HCV, for the formation of membranous replication factories. Thus, this should also be investigated taking Zika or any other related virus as a model.

### REFERENCES

- Abian O, Vega S, Neira JL & Velazquez-Campoy A (2010) Conformational stability of hepatitis C virus NS3 protease. *Biophys. J.* 99(11):3811-3820.
- Acton S, Rigotti A, Landschulz KT, Xu S, Hobbs HH & Krieger M (1996) Identification of scavenger receptor SR-BI as a high density lipoprotein receptor. *Science* 271(5248):518-520.
- Adler H & Lambert JS (2014) Daclatasvir for the treatment of hepatitis C virus infection. *Expert Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 8(7):725-738.
- Afdhal N, Reddy KR, Nelson DR, Lawitz E, Gordon SC, Schiff E, Nahass R, Ghalib R, Gitlin N, Herring R, Lalezari J, Younes ZH, Pockros PJ, Di Bisceglie AM, Arora S, Subramanian GM, Zhu Y, Dvory-Sobol H, Yang JC, Pang PS, Symonds WT, McHutchison JG, Muir AJ, Sulkowski M, Kwo P & Investigators ION (2014) Ledipasvir and sofosbuvir for previously treated HCV genotype 1 infection. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 370(16):1483-1493.
- Agnello V, Abel G, Elfahal M, Knight GB & Zhang QX (1999) Hepatitis C virus and other flaviviridae viruses enter cells via low density lipoprotein receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 96(22):12766-12771.
- Ait-Goughoulte M, Kanda T, Meyer K, Ryerse JS, Ray RB & Ray R (2008) Hepatitis C virus genotype 1a growth and induction of autophagy. *J. Virol.* 82(5):2241-2249.
- Albecka A, Belouzard S, Op de Beeck A, Descamps V, Goueslain L, Bertrand-Michel J, Terce F, Duverlie G, Rouille Y & Dubuisson J (2012) Role of low-density lipoprotein receptor in the hepatitis C virus life cycle. *Hepatology* 55(4):998-1007.
- Ali N & Siddiqui A (1995) Interaction of polypyrimidine tract-binding protein with the 5' noncoding region of the hepatitis C virus RNA genome and its functional requirement in internal initiation of translation. *J. Virol.* 69(10):6367-6375.
- Ali N & Siddiqui A (1997) The La antigen binds 5' noncoding region of the hepatitis C virus RNA in the context of the initiator AUG codon and stimulates internal ribosome entry site-mediated translation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 94(6):2249-2254.
- Alter HJ, Purcell RH, Holland PV & Popper H (1978) Transmissible agent in non-A, non-B hepatitis. *Lancet* 1(8062):459-463.
- Andre P, Komurian-Pradel F, Deforges S, Perret M, Berland JL, Sodoyer M, Pol S, Brechot C, Paranhos-Baccala G & Lotteau V (2002) Characterization of low- and very-low-density hepatitis C virus RNA-containing particles. J. Virol. 76(14):6919-6928.
- Appel N, Pietschmann T & Bartenschlager R (2005) Mutational analysis of hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A: potential role of differential phosphorylation in RNA replication and identification of a genetically flexible domain. *J. Virol.* 79(5):3187-3194.
- Appel N, Zayas M, Miller S, Krijnse-Locker J, Schaller T, Friebe P, Kallis S, Engel U & Bartenschlager R (2008) Essential role of domain III of nonstructural protein 5A for hepatitis C virus infectious particle assembly. *PLoS Pathog.* 4(3):e1000035.

- Asabe SI, Tanji Y, Satoh S, Kaneko T, Kimura K & Shimotohno K (1997) The N-terminal region of hepatitis C virus-encoded NS5A is important for NS4A-dependent phosphorylation. *J. Virol.* 71(1):790-796.
- Aweya JJ, Mak TM, Lim SG & Tan YJ (2013) The p7 protein of the hepatitis C virus induces cell death differently from the influenza A virus viroporin M2. *Virus Res.* 172(1-2):24-34.
- Axe EL, Walker SA, Manifava M, Chandra P, Roderick HL, Habermann A, Griffiths G & Ktistakis NT (2008) Autophagosome formation from membrane compartments enriched in phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate and dynamically connected to the endoplasmic reticulum. J. Cell Biol. 182(4):685-701.
- Barber GN (2014) STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing pathways. *Trends Immunol.* 35(2):88-93.
- Barouch-Bentov R, Neveu G, Xiao F, Beer M, Bekerman E, Schor S, Campbell J, Boonyaratanakornkit J, Lindenbach B, Lu A, Jacob Y & Einav S (2016) Hepatitis C Virus Proteins Interact with the Endosomal Sorting Complex Required for Transport (ESCRT) Machinery via Ubiquitination To Facilitate Viral Envelopment. *MBio* 7(6).
- Bartenschlager R, Ahlborn-Laake L, Mous J & Jacobsen H (1993) Nonstructural protein 3 of the hepatitis C virus encodes a serine-type proteinase required for cleavage at the NS3/4 and NS4/5 junctions. J. Virol. 67(7):3835-3844.
- Bartenschlager R, Penin F, Lohmann V & Andre P (2011) Assembly of infectious hepatitis C virus particles. *Trends Microbiol.* 19(2):95-103.
- Barth H, Schafer C, Adah MI, Zhang F, Linhardt RJ, Toyoda H, Kinoshita-Toyoda A, Toida T, Van Kuppevelt TH, Depla E, Von Weizsacker F, Blum HE & Baumert TF (2003) Cellular binding of hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein E2 requires cell surface heparan sulfate. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278(42):41003-41012.
- Bartosch B & Cosset FL (2009) Studying HCV cell entry with HCV pseudoparticles (HCVpp). *Methods Mol. Biol.* 510:279-293.
- Bartosch B, Dubuisson J & Cosset FL (2003a) Infectious hepatitis C virus pseudo-particles containing functional E1-E2 envelope protein complexes. J. Exp. Med. 197(5):633-642.
- Bartosch B, Verney G, Dreux M, Donot P, Morice Y, Penin F, Pawlotsky JM, Lavillette D & Cosset FL (2005) An interplay between hypervariable region 1 of the hepatitis C virus E2 glycoprotein, the scavenger receptor BI, and high-density lipoprotein promotes both enhancement of infection and protection against neutralizing antibodies. J. Virol. 79(13):8217-8229.
- Bartosch B, Vitelli A, Granier C, Goujon C, Dubuisson J, Pascale S, Scarselli E, Cortese R, Nicosia A & Cosset FL (2003b) Cell entry of hepatitis C virus requires a set of co-receptors that include the CD81 tetraspanin and the SR-B1 scavenger receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 278(43):41624-41630.
- Bayer ME, Blumberg BS & Werner B (1968) Particles associated with Australia antigen in the sera of patients with leukaemia, Down's Syndrome and hepatitis. *Nature* 218(5146):1057-1059.

- Beaulieu PL (2009) Recent advances in the development of NS5B polymerase inhibitors for the treatment of hepatitis C virus infection. *Expert Opin. Ther. Pat.* 19(2):145-164.
- Behrends C, Sowa ME, Gygi SP & Harper JW (2010) Network organization of the human autophagy system. *Nature* 466(7302):68-76.
- Behrens SE, Tomei L & De Francesco R (1996) Identification and properties of the RNAdependent RNA polymerase of hepatitis C virus. *EMBO J.* 15(1):12-22.
- Berkova Z, Crawford SE, Trugnan G, Yoshimori T, Morris AP & Estes MK (2006) Rotavirus NSP4 induces a novel vesicular compartment regulated by calcium and associated with viroplasms. *J. Virol.* 80(12):6061-6071.
- Berry KE, Waghray S, Mortimer SA, Bai Y & Doudna JA (2011) Crystal structure of the HCV IRES central domain reveals strategy for start-codon positioning. *Structure* 19(10):1456-1466.
- Blackham SL & McGarvey MJ (2013) A host cell RNA-binding protein, Staufen1, has a role in hepatitis C virus replication before virus assembly. *J. Gen. Virol.* 94(Pt 11):2429-2436.
- Blanchard AA, Watson PH, Shiu RP, Leygue E, Nistor A, Wong P & Myal Y (2006a) Differential expression of claudin 1, 3, and 4 during normal mammary gland development in the mouse. *DNA Cell Biol.* 25(2):79-86.
- Blanchard E, Belouzard S, Goueslain L, Wakita T, Dubuisson J, Wychowski C & Rouille Y (2006b) Hepatitis C virus entry depends on clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *J. Virol.* 80(14):6964-6972.
- Boni S, Lavergne JP, Boulant S & Cahour A (2005) Hepatitis C virus core protein acts as a transmodulating factor on internal translation initiation of the viral RNA. J. Biol. Chem. 280(18):17737-17748.
- Boson B, Granio O, Bartenschlager R & Cosset FL (2011) A concerted action of hepatitis C virus p7 and nonstructural protein 2 regulates core localization at the endoplasmic reticulum and virus assembly. *PLoS Pathog.* 7(7):e1002144.
- Boulant S, Targett-Adams P & McLauchlan J (2007) Disrupting the association of hepatitis C virus core protein with lipid droplets correlates with a loss in production of infectious virus. *J. Gen. Virol.* 88(Pt 8):2204-2213.
- Bradley DW (1985) The agents of non-A, non-B viral hepatitis. J. Virol. Methods 10(4):307-319.
- Brown KS, Keogh MJ, Owsianka AM, Adair R, Patel AH, Arnold JN, Ball JK, Sim RB, Tarr AW & Hickling TP (2010) Specific interaction of hepatitis C virus glycoproteins with mannan binding lectin inhibits virus entry. *Protein Cell* 1(7):664-674.
- Bukong TN, Momen-Heravi F, Kodys K, Bala S & Szabo G (2014) Exosomes from hepatitis C infected patients transmit HCV infection and contain replication competent viral RNA in complex with Ago2-miR122-HSP90. *PLoS Pathog.* 10(10):e1004424.
- Burch GE & Harb JM (1979) Electron microscopic studies of viral pancreatitis in coxsackie B4 virus infected mice. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 31(1):23-35.

- Cannalire R, Barreca ML, Manfroni G & Cecchetti V (2016) A Journey around the Medicinal Chemistry of Hepatitis C Virus Inhibitors Targeting NS4B: From Target to Preclinical Drug Candidates. J. Med. Chem. 59(1):16-41.
- Carrere-Kremer S, Montpellier-Pala C, Cocquerel L, Wychowski C, Penin F & Dubuisson J (2002) Subcellular localization and topology of the p7 polypeptide of hepatitis C virus. J. Virol. 76(8):3720-3730.
- Castro-Torres IG, De la OAM, Bravo-Duarte GA, Gallegos-Estudillo J, Dominguez-Ortiz MA & Martinez-Vazquez M (2014) Intestinal and hepatic Niemann-Pick C1L1 proteins: future therapeutic targets for cholesterol gallstones disease? *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 728:77-81.
- Catanese MT, Graziani R, von Hahn T, Moreau M, Huby T, Paonessa G, Santini C, Luzzago A, Rice CM, Cortese R, Vitelli A & Nicosia A (2007) High-avidity monoclonal antibodies against the human scavenger class B type I receptor efficiently block hepatitis C virus infection in the presence of high-density lipoprotein. *J. Virol.* 81(15):8063-8071.
- Catanese MT, Uryu K, Kopp M, Edwards TJ, Andrus L, Rice WJ, Silvestry M, Kuhn RJ & Rice CM (2013) Ultrastructural analysis of hepatitis C virus particles. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.* S. A. 110(23):9505-9510.
- Chandler DE, Penin F, Schulten K & Chipot C (2012) The p7 protein of hepatitis C virus forms structurally plastic, minimalist ion channels. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 8(9):e1002702.
- Chang KS, Jiang J, Cai Z & Luo G (2007) Human apolipoprotein e is required for infectivity and production of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. *J. Virol.* 81(24):13783-13793.
- Chatel-Chaix L & Bartenschlager R (2014) Dengue virus- and hepatitis C virus-induced replication and assembly compartments: the enemy inside--caught in the web. J. Virol. 88(11):5907-5911.
- Chatterji U, Bobardt M, Tai A, Wood M & Gallay PA (2015) Cyclophilin and NS5A inhibitors, but not other anti-hepatitis C virus (HCV) agents, preclude HCV-mediated formation of double-membrane-vesicle viral factories. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. 59(5):2496-2507.
- Cheong H, Lindsten T, Wu J, Lu C & Thompson CB (2011) Ammonia-induced autophagy is independent of ULK1/ULK2 kinases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 108(27):11121-11126.
- Chiramel AI, Brady NR & Bartenschlager R (2013) Divergent roles of autophagy in virus infection. *Cells* 2(1):83-104.
- Choo QL, Kuo G, Weiner AJ, Overby LR, Bradley DW & Houghton M (1989) Isolation of a cDNA clone derived from a blood-borne non-A, non-B viral hepatitis genome. *Science* 244(4902):359-362.
- Chu VC, Bhattacharya S, Nomoto A, Lin J, Zaidi SK, Oberley TD, Weinman SA, Azhar S & Huang TT (2011) Persistent expression of hepatitis C virus non-structural proteins leads to increased autophagy and mitochondrial injury in human hepatoma cells. *PLoS One* 6(12):e28551.
- Codogno P, Mehrpour M & Proikas-Cezanne T (2011) Canonical and non-canonical autophagy: variations on a common theme of self-eating? *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 13(1):7-12.

- Coelmont L, Kaptein S, Paeshuyse J, Vliegen I, Dumont JM, Vuagniaux G & Neyts J (2009) Debio 025, a cyclophilin binding molecule, is highly efficient in clearing hepatitis C virus (HCV) replicon-containing cells when used alone or in combination with specifically targeted antiviral therapy for HCV (STAT-C) inhibitors. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. 53(3):967-976.
- Coller KE, Heaton NS, Berger KL, Cooper JD, Saunders JL & Randall G (2012) Molecular determinants and dynamics of hepatitis C virus secretion. *PLoS Pathog.* 8(1):e1002466.
- Court JJ, Poisson C, Ardzinski A, Bilimoria D, Chan L, Chandupatla K, Chauret N, Collier PN, Das SK, Denis F, Dorsch W, Iyer G, Lauffer D, L'Heureux L, Li P, Luisi BS, Mani N, Nanthakumar S, Nicolas O, Rao BG, Ronkin S, Selliah S, Shawgo RS, Tang Q, Waal ND, Yannopoulos CG & Green J (2016) Discovery of Novel Thiophene-Based, Thumb Pocket 2 Allosteric Inhibitors of the Hepatitis C NS5B Polymerase with Improved Potency and Physicochemical Profiles. J. Med. Chem. 59(13):6293-6302.
- Cristofari G, Ivanyi-Nagy R, Gabus C, Boulant S, Lavergne JP, Penin F & Darlix JL (2004) The hepatitis C virus Core protein is a potent nucleic acid chaperone that directs dimerization of the viral (+) strand RNA in vitro. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32(8):2623-2631.
- Dales S, Eggers HJ, Tamm I & Palade GE (1965) Electron Microscopic Study of the Formation of Poliovirus. *Virology* 26:379-389.
- Dao Thi VL, Granier C, Zeisel MB, Guerin M, Mancip J, Granio O, Penin F, Lavillette D, Bartenschlager R, Baumert TF, Cosset FL & Dreux M (2012) Characterization of hepatitis C virus particle subpopulations reveals multiple usage of the scavenger receptor BI for entry steps. J. Biol. Chem. 287(37):31242-31257.
- Deffieu M, Bhatia-Kissova I, Salin B, Galinier A, Manon S & Camougrand N (2009) Glutathione participates in the regulation of mitophagy in yeast. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284(22):14828-14837.
- Delorme-Axford E, Donker RB, Mouillet JF, Chu T, Bayer A, Ouyang Y, Wang T, Stolz DB, Sarkar SN, Morelli AE, Sadovsky Y & Coyne CB (2013) Human placental trophoblasts confer viral resistance to recipient cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 110(29):12048-12053.
- Deretic V & Levine B (2009) Autophagy, immunity, and microbial adaptations. *Cell Host Microbe* 5(6):527-549.
- Diao J, Liu R, Rong Y, Zhao M, Zhang J, Lai Y, Zhou Q, Wilz LM, Li J, Vivona S, Pfuetzner RA, Brunger AT & Zhong Q (2015) ATG14 promotes membrane tethering and fusion of autophagosomes to endolysosomes. *Nature* 520(7548):563-566.
- Dienstag JL & Alter HJ (1986) Non-A, non-B hepatitis: evolving epidemiologic and clinical perspective. *Semin. Liver Dis.* 6(1):67-81.
- Douam F, Lavillette D & Cosset FL (2015) The mechanism of HCV entry into host cells. *Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci.* 129:63-107.
- Dreux M, Boson B, Ricard-Blum S, Molle J, Lavillette D, Bartosch B, Pecheur EI & Cosset FL (2007) The exchangeable apolipoprotein ApoC-I promotes membrane fusion of hepatitis C virus. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282(44):32357-32369.

- Dreux M, Dao Thi VL, Fresquet J, Guerin M, Julia Z, Verney G, Durantel D, Zoulim F, Lavillette D, Cosset FL & Bartosch B (2009a) Receptor complementation and mutagenesis reveal SR-BI as an essential HCV entry factor and functionally imply its intra- and extra-cellular domains. *PLoS Pathog.* 5(2):e1000310.
- Dreux M, Gastaminza P, Wieland SF & Chisari FV (2009b) The autophagy machinery is required to initiate hepatitis C virus replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106(33):14046-14051.
- Dreux M, Pietschmann T, Granier C, Voisset C, Ricard-Blum S, Mangeot PE, Keck Z, Foung S, Vu-Dac N, Dubuisson J, Bartenschlager R, Lavillette D & Cosset FL (2006) High density lipoprotein inhibits hepatitis C virus-neutralizing antibodies by stimulating cell entry via activation of the scavenger receptor BI. J. Biol. Chem. 281(27):18285-18295.
- Drummer HE, Maerz A & Poumbourios P (2003) Cell surface expression of functional hepatitis C virus E1 and E2 glycoproteins. *FEBS Lett.* 546(2-3):385-390.
- Dunn WA, Jr., Cregg JM, Kiel JA, van der Klei IJ, Oku M, Sakai Y, Sibirny AA, Stasyk OV & Veenhuis M (2005) Pexophagy: the selective autophagy of peroxisomes. *Autophagy* 1(2):75-83.
- Egger D, Wolk B, Gosert R, Bianchi L, Blum HE, Moradpour D & Bienz K (2002) Expression of hepatitis C virus proteins induces distinct membrane alterations including a candidate viral replication complex. *J. Virol.* 76(12):5974-5984.
- Einav S, Elazar M, Danieli T & Glenn JS (2004) A nucleotide binding motif in hepatitis C virus (HCV) NS4B mediates HCV RNA replication. *J. Virol.* 78(20):11288-11295.
- Einav S, Gerber D, Bryson PD, Sklan EH, Elazar M, Maerkl SJ, Glenn JS & Quake SR (2008) Discovery of a hepatitis C target and its pharmacological inhibitors by microfluidic affinity analysis. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 26(9):1019-1027.
- El Omari K, Iourin O, Kadlec J, Sutton G, Harlos K, Grimes JM & Stuart DI (2014) Unexpected structure for the N-terminal domain of hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein E1. *Nat Commun* 5:4874.
- Elazar M, Liu P, Rice CM & Glenn JS (2004) An N-terminal amphipathic helix in hepatitis C virus (HCV) NS4B mediates membrane association, correct localization of replication complex proteins, and HCV RNA replication. *J. Virol.* 78(20):11393-11400.
- Emanuele MJ, Ciccia A, Elia AE & Elledge SJ (2011) Proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA)associated KIAA0101/PAF15 protein is a cell cycle-regulated anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome substrate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 108(24):9845-9850.
- Evans MJ, Rice CM & Goff SP (2004) Phosphorylation of hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A modulates its protein interactions and viral RNA replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 101(35):13038-13043.
- Evans MJ, von Hahn T, Tscherne DM, Syder AJ, Panis M, Wolk B, Hatziioannou T, McKeating JA, Bieniasz PD & Rice CM (2007) Claudin-1 is a hepatitis C virus co-receptor required for a late step in entry. *Nature* 446(7137):801-805.

- Farquhar MJ, Hu K, Harris HJ, Davis C, Brimacombe CL, Fletcher SJ, Baumert TF, Rappoport JZ, Balfe P & McKeating JA (2012) Hepatitis C virus induces CD81 and claudin-1 endocytosis. J. Virol. 86(8):4305-4316.
- Feinstone SM, Kapikian AZ & Purceli RH (1973) Hepatitis A: detection by immune electron microscopy of a viruslike antigen associated with acute illness. *Science* 182(4116):1026-1028.
- Feinstone SM, Kapikian AZ, Purcell RH, Alter HJ & Holland PV (1975) Transfusion-associated hepatitis not due to viral hepatitis type A or B. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 292(15):767-770.
- Feld JJ, Kowdley KV, Coakley E, Sigal S, Nelson DR, Crawford D, Weiland O, Aguilar H, Xiong J, Pilot-Matias T, DaSilva-Tillmann B, Larsen L, Podsadecki T & Bernstein B (2014) Treatment of HCV with ABT-450/r-ombitasvir and dasabuvir with ribavirin. N. Engl. J. Med. 370(17):1594-1603.
- Ferraris P, Blanchard E & Roingeard P (2010) Ultrastructural and biochemical analyses of hepatitis C virus-associated host cell membranes. *J. Gen. Virol.* 91(Pt 9):2230-2237.
- Filipe A & McLauchlan J (2015) Hepatitis C virus and lipid droplets: finding a niche. *Trends Mol. Med.* 21(1):34-42.
- Flint M, Logvinoff C, Rice CM & McKeating JA (2004) Characterization of infectious retroviral pseudotype particles bearing hepatitis C virus glycoproteins. *J. Virol.* 78(13):6875-6882.
- Flint M & McKeating JA (2000) The role of the hepatitis C virus glycoproteins in infection. *Rev. Med. Virol.* 10(2):101-117.
- Flint M, von Hahn T, Zhang J, Farquhar M, Jones CT, Balfe P, Rice CM & McKeating JA (2006) Diverse CD81 proteins support hepatitis C virus infection. *J. Virol.* 80(22):11331-11342.
- Fofana I, Krieger SE, Grunert F, Glauben S, Xiao F, Fafi-Kremer S, Soulier E, Royer C, Thumann C, Mee CJ, McKeating JA, Dragic T, Pessaux P, Stoll-Keller F, Schuster C, Thompson J & Baumert TF (2010) Monoclonal anti-claudin 1 antibodies prevent hepatitis C virus infection of primary human hepatocytes. *Gastroenterology* 139(3):953-964, 964 e951-954.
- Fournier C, Sureau C, Coste J, Ducos J, Pageaux G, Larrey D, Domergue J & Maurel P (1998) In vitro infection of adult normal human hepatocytes in primary culture by hepatitis C virus. *J. Gen. Virol.* 79 (Pt 10):2367-2374.
- Fraser CS & Doudna JA (2007) Structural and mechanistic insights into hepatitis C viral translation initiation. *Nat Rev Micro* 5(1):29-38.
- Gannage M, Dormann D, Albrecht R, Dengjel J, Torossi T, Ramer PC, Lee M, Strowig T, Arrey F, Conenello G, Pypaert M, Andersen J, Garcia-Sastre A & Munz C (2009) Matrix protein 2 of influenza A virus blocks autophagosome fusion with lysosomes. *Cell Host Microbe* 6(4):367-380.
- Gao L, Tu H, Shi ST, Lee KJ, Asanaka M, Hwang SB & Lai MM (2003) Interaction with a ubiquitin-like protein enhances the ubiquitination and degradation of hepatitis C virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. *J. Virol.* 77(7):4149-4159.

- Gastaminza P, Cheng G, Wieland S, Zhong J, Liao W & Chisari FV (2008) Cellular determinants of hepatitis C virus assembly, maturation, degradation, and secretion. *J. Virol.* 82(5):2120-2129.
- Gastaminza P, Kapadia SB & Chisari FV (2006) Differential biophysical properties of infectious intracellular and secreted hepatitis C virus particles. J. Virol. 80(22):11074-11081.
- Goffard A, Callens N, Bartosch B, Wychowski C, Cosset FL, Montpellier C & Dubuisson J (2005) Role of N-linked glycans in the functions of hepatitis C virus envelope glycoproteins. J. Virol. 79(13):8400-8409.
- Goldsmith CS, Tatti KM, Ksiazek TG, Rollin PE, Comer JA, Lee WW, Rota PA, Bankamp B, Bellini WJ & Zaki SR (2004) Ultrastructural characterization of SARS coronavirus. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 10(2):320-326.
- Gosert R, Egger D, Lohmann V, Bartenschlager R, Blum HE, Bienz K & Moradpour D (2003) Identification of the hepatitis C virus RNA replication complex in Huh-7 cells harboring subgenomic replicons. J. Virol. 77(9):5487-5492.
- Gosert R, Kanjanahaluethai A, Egger D, Bienz K & Baker SC (2002) RNA replication of mouse hepatitis virus takes place at double-membrane vesicles. J. Virol. 76(8):3697-3708.
- Gouttenoire J, Castet V, Montserret R, Arora N, Raussens V, Ruysschaert JM, Diesis E, Blum HE, Penin F & Moradpour D (2009a) Identification of a novel determinant for membrane association in hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 4B. J. Virol. 83(12):6257-6268.
- Gouttenoire J, Montserret R, Kennel A, Penin F & Moradpour D (2009b) An amphipathic alphahelix at the C terminus of hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 4B mediates membrane association. J. Virol. 83(21):11378-11384.
- Gouttenoire J, Montserret R, Paul D, Castillo R, Meister S, Bartenschlager R, Penin F & Moradpour D (2014) Aminoterminal amphipathic alpha-helix AH1 of hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 4B possesses a dual role in RNA replication and virus production. *PLoS Pathog.* 10(10):e1004501.
- Grakoui A, McCourt DW, Wychowski C, Feinstone SM & Rice CM (1993) Characterization of the hepatitis C virus-encoded serine proteinase: determination of proteinase-dependent polyprotein cleavage sites. *J. Virol.* 67(5):2832-2843.
- Green DR & Levine B (2014) To be or not to be? How selective autophagy and cell death govern cell fate. *Cell* 157(1):65-75.
- Gregoire IP, Rabourdin-Combe C & Faure M (2012) Autophagy and RNA virus interactomes reveal IRGM as a common target. *Autophagy* 8(7):1136-1137.
- Gregoire IP, Richetta C, Meyniel-Schicklin L, Borel S, Pradezynski F, Diaz O, Deloire A, Azocar O, Baguet J, Le Breton M, Mangeot PE, Navratil V, Joubert PE, Flacher M, Vidalain PO, Andre P, Lotteau V, Biard-Piechaczyk M, Rabourdin-Combe C & Faure M (2011) IRGM is a common target of RNA viruses that subvert the autophagy network. *PLoS Pathog.* 7(12):e1002422.
- Guevin C, Manna D, Belanger C, Konan KV, Mak P & Labonte P (2010) Autophagy protein ATG5 interacts transiently with the hepatitis C virus RNA polymerase (NS5B) early during infection. *Virology* 405(1):1-7.

- Gutierrez MG, Munafo DB, Beron W & Colombo MI (2004) Rab7 is required for the normal progression of the autophagic pathway in mammalian cells. *J. Cell Sci.* 117(Pt 13):2687-2697.
- Hahm B, Kim YK, Kim JH, Kim TY & Jang SK (1998) Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein L interacts with the 3' border of the internal ribosomal entry site of hepatitis C virus. J. *Virol.* 72(11):8782-8788.
- Hajarizadeh B, Grebely J & Dore GJ (2013) Epidemiology and natural history of HCV infection. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 10(9):553-562.
- Harris HJ, Davis C, Mullins JG, Hu K, Goodall M, Farquhar MJ, Mee CJ, McCaffrey K, Young S, Drummer H, Balfe P & McKeating JA (2010) Claudin association with CD81 defines hepatitis C virus entry. J. Biol. Chem. 285(27):21092-21102.
- Harris HJ, Farquhar MJ, Mee CJ, Davis C, Reynolds GM, Jennings A, Hu K, Yuan F, Deng H, Hubscher SG, Han JH, Balfe P & McKeating JA (2008) CD81 and claudin 1 coreceptor association: role in hepatitis C virus entry. *J. Virol.* 82(10):5007-5020.
- Heaton NS & Randall G (2010) Dengue virus-induced autophagy regulates lipid metabolism. *Cell Host Microbe* 8(5):422-432.
- Henke JI, Goergen D, Zheng J, Song Y, Schuttler CG, Fehr C, Junemann C & Niepmann M (2008) microRNA-122 stimulates translation of hepatitis C virus RNA. *EMBO J.* 27(24):3300-3310.
- Hetz C (2012) The unfolded protein response: controlling cell fate decisions under ER stress and beyond. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 13(2):89-102.
- Hetz C, Chevet E & Harding HP (2013) Targeting the unfolded protein response in disease. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 12(9):703-719.
- Hoffman B & Liu Q (2011) Hepatitis C viral protein translation: mechanisms and implications in developing antivirals. *Liver Int* 31(10):1449-1467.
- Hollinger FB, Gitnick GL, Aach RD, Szmuness W, Mosley JW, Stevens CE, Peters RL, Weiner JM, Werch JB & Lander JJ (1978) Non-A, non-B hepatitis transmission in chimpanzees: a project of the transfusion-transmitted viruses study group. *Intervirology* 10(1):60-68.
- Honda S, Arakawa S, Nishida Y, Yamaguchi H, Ishii E & Shimizu S (2014) Ulk1-mediated Atg5independent macroautophagy mediates elimination of mitochondria from embryonic reticulocytes. *Nat Commun* 5:4004.
- Hosokawa N, Hara Y & Mizushima N (2006) Generation of cell lines with tetracycline-regulated autophagy and a role for autophagy in controlling cell size. *FEBS Lett.* 580(11):2623-2629.
- Hou W, Tian Q, Zheng J & Bonkovsky HL (2010) MicroRNA-196 represses Bach1 protein and hepatitis C virus gene expression in human hepatoma cells expressing hepatitis C viral proteins. *Hepatology* 51(5):1494-1504.
- Houghton M (2009) The long and winding road leading to the identification of the hepatitis C virus. *J. Hepatol.* 51(5):939-948.

- Huang H, Kang R, Wang J, Luo G, Yang W & Zhao Z (2013) Hepatitis C virus inhibits AKTtuberous sclerosis complex (TSC), the mechanistic target of rapamycin (MTOR) pathway, through endoplasmic reticulum stress to induce autophagy. *Autophagy* 9(2):175-195.
- Huang H, Sun F, Owen DM, Li W, Chen Y, Gale M, Jr. & Ye J (2007a) Hepatitis C virus production by human hepatocytes dependent on assembly and secretion of very lowdensity lipoproteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104(14):5848-5853.
- Huang J & Brumell JH (2014) Bacteria-autophagy interplay: a battle for survival. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 12(2):101-114.
- Huang Y, Staschke K, De Francesco R & Tan SL (2007b) Phosphorylation of hepatitis C virus NS5A nonstructural protein: a new paradigm for phosphorylation-dependent viral RNA replication? *Virology* 364(1):1-9.
- Hugle T, Fehrmann F, Bieck E, Kohara M, Krausslich HG, Rice CM, Blum HE & Moradpour D (2001) The hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 4B is an integral endoplasmic reticulum membrane protein. *Virology* 284(1):70-81.
- Hwang B, Lim JH, Hahm B, Jang SK & Lee SW (2009) hnRNP L is required for the translation mediated by HCV IRES. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 378(3):584-588.
- Hwang S, Maloney NS, Bruinsma MW, Goel G, Duan E, Zhang L, Shrestha B, Diamond MS, Dani A, Sosnovtsev SV, Green KY, Lopez-Otin C, Xavier RJ, Thackray LB & Virgin HW (2012) Nondegradative role of Atg5-Atg12/ Atg16L1 autophagy protein complex in antiviral activity of interferon gamma. *Cell Host Microbe* 11(4):397-409.
- Ishido S, Fujita T & Hotta H (1998) Complex formation of NS5B with NS3 and NS4A proteins of hepatitis C virus. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 244(1):35-40.
- Isken O, Langerwisch U, Jirasko V, Rehders D, Redecke L, Ramanathan H, Lindenbach BD, Bartenschlager R & Tautz N (2015) A conserved NS3 surface patch orchestrates NS2 protease stimulation, NS5A hyperphosphorylation and HCV genome replication. *PLoS Pathog.* 11(3):e1004736.
- Itakura E, Kishi-Itakura C, Koyama-Honda I & Mizushima N (2012a) Structures containing Atg9A and the ULK1 complex independently target depolarized mitochondria at initial stages of Parkin-mediated mitophagy. *J. Cell Sci.* 125(Pt 6):1488-1499.
- Itakura E, Kishi-Itakura C & Mizushima N (2012b) The hairpin-type tail-anchored SNARE syntaxin 17 targets to autophagosomes for fusion with endosomes/lysosomes. *Cell* 151(6):1256-1269.
- Izumi RE, Valdez B, Banerjee R, Srivastava M & Dasgupta A (2001) Nucleolin stimulates viral internal ribosome entry site-mediated translation. *Virus Res.* 76(1):17-29.
- Jackson RJ, Hellen CU & Pestova TV (2010) The mechanism of eukaryotic translation initiation and principles of its regulation. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 11(2):113-127.
- Jager S, Bucci C, Tanida I, Ueno T, Kominami E, Saftig P & Eskelinen EL (2004) Role for Rab7 in maturation of late autophagic vacuoles. *J. Cell Sci.* 117(Pt 20):4837-4848.
- Jangra RK, Yi M & Lemon SM (2010) Regulation of hepatitis C virus translation and infectious virus production by the microRNA miR-122. *J. Virol.* 84(13):6615-6625.

- Janssen HL, Reesink HW, Lawitz EJ, Zeuzem S, Rodriguez-Torres M, Patel K, van der Meer AJ, Patick AK, Chen A, Zhou Y, Persson R, King BD, Kauppinen S, Levin AA & Hodges MR (2013) Treatment of HCV infection by targeting microRNA. N. Engl. J. Med. 368(18):1685-1694.
- Jiang J & Luo G (2009) Apolipoprotein E but not B is required for the formation of infectious hepatitis C virus particles. *J. Virol.* 83(24):12680-12691.
- Jiang J, Wu X, Tang H & Luo G (2013) Apolipoprotein E mediates attachment of clinical hepatitis C virus to hepatocytes by binding to cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycan receptors. *PLoS One* 8(7):e67982.
- Jin R, Zhu W, Cao S, Chen R, Jin H, Liu Y, Wang S, Wang W & Xiao G (2013) Japanese encephalitis virus activates autophagy as a viral immune evasion strategy. *PLoS One* 8(1):e52909.
- Jirasko V, Montserret R, Appel N, Janvier A, Eustachi L, Brohm C, Steinmann E, Pietschmann T, Penin F & Bartenschlager R (2008) Structural and functional characterization of nonstructural protein 2 for its role in hepatitis C virus assembly. J. Biol. Chem. 283(42):28546-28562.
- Johansen T & Lamark T (2011) Selective autophagy mediated by autophagic adapter proteins. *Autophagy* 7(3):279-296.
- Jones DM, Patel AH, Targett-Adams P & McLauchlan J (2009) The hepatitis C virus NS4B protein can trans-complement viral RNA replication and modulates production of infectious virus. *J. Virol.* 83(5):2163-2177.
- Jopling CL, Yi M, Lancaster AM, Lemon SM & Sarnow P (2005) Modulation of hepatitis C virus RNA abundance by a liver-specific MicroRNA. *Science* 309(5740):1577-1581.
- Jordan TX & Randall G (2012) Manipulation or capitulation: virus interactions with autophagy. *Microbes Infect* 14(2):126-139.
- Joyce MA, Walters KA, Lamb SE, Yeh MM, Zhu LF, Kneteman N, Doyle JS, Katze MG & Tyrrell DL (2009) HCV induces oxidative and ER stress, and sensitizes infected cells to apoptosis in SCID/Alb-uPA mice. *PLoS Pathog.* 5(2):e1000291.
- Kaito M, Watanabe S, Tsukiyama-Kohara K, Yamaguchi K, Kobayashi Y, Konishi M, Yokoi M, Ishida S, Suzuki S & Kohara M (1994) Hepatitis C virus particle detected by immunoelectron microscopic study. J. Gen. Virol. 75 (Pt 7):1755-1760.
- Ke PY & Chen SS (2011) Activation of the unfolded protein response and autophagy after hepatitis C virus infection suppresses innate antiviral immunity in vitro. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121(1):37-56.
- Ke PY & Chen SS (2014) Autophagy in hepatitis C virus-host interactions: potential roles and therapeutic targets for liver-associated diseases. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 20(19):5773-5793.
- Khakpoor A, Panyasrivanit M, Wikan N & Smith DR (2009) A role for autophagolysosomes in dengue virus 3 production in HepG2 cells. *J. Gen. Virol.* 90(Pt 5):1093-1103.

- Khan AG, Whidby J, Miller MT, Scarborough H, Zatorski AV, Cygan A, Price AA, Yost SA, Bohannon CD, Jacob J, Grakoui A & Marcotrigiano J (2014) Structure of the core ectodomain of the hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein 2. *Nature* 509(7500):381-384.
- Kharaziha P & Panaretakis T (2017) Dynamics of Atg5-Atg12-Atg16L1 Aggregation and Deaggregation. *Methods Enzymol.* 587:247-255.
- Kim JL, Morgenstern KA, Lin C, Fox T, Dwyer MD, Landro JA, Chambers SP, Markland W, Lepre CA, O'Malley ET, Harbeson SL, Rice CM, Murcko MA, Caron PR & Thomson JA (1996) Crystal structure of the hepatitis C virus NS3 protease domain complexed with a synthetic NS4A cofactor peptide. *Cell* 87(2):343-355.
- Kim S, Ishida H, Yamane D, Yi M, Swinney DC, Foung S & Lemon SM (2013a) Contrasting roles of mitogen-activated protein kinases in cellular entry and replication of hepatitis C virus: MKNK1 facilitates cell entry. J. Virol. 87(8):4214-4224.
- Kim S, Welsch C, Yi M & Lemon SM (2011) Regulation of the production of infectious genotype 1a hepatitis C virus by NS5A domain III. *J. Virol.* 85(13):6645-6656.
- Kim SJ, Syed GH, Khan M, Chiu WW, Sohail MA, Gish RG & Siddiqui A (2014) Hepatitis C virus triggers mitochondrial fission and attenuates apoptosis to promote viral persistence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 111(17):6413-6418.
- Kim SJ, Syed GH & Siddiqui A (2013b) Hepatitis C virus induces the mitochondrial translocation of Parkin and subsequent mitophagy. *PLoS Pathog.* 9(3):e1003285.
- Kim YM, Jung CH, Seo M, Kim EK, Park JM, Bae SS & Kim DH (2015) mTORC1 phosphorylates UVRAG to negatively regulate autophagosome and endosome maturation. *Mol. Cell* 57(2):207-218.
- Kirkin V & Dikic I (2007) Role of ubiquitin- and Ubl-binding proteins in cell signaling. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 19(2):199-205.
- Kirkin V, Lamark T, Sou YS, Bjorkoy G, Nunn JL, Bruun JA, Shvets E, McEwan DG, Clausen TH, Wild P, Bilusic I, Theurillat JP, Overvatn A, Ishii T, Elazar Z, Komatsu M, Dikic I & Johansen T (2009) A role for NBR1 in autophagosomal degradation of ubiquitinated substrates. *Mol. Cell* 33(4):505-516.
- Koch JO & Bartenschlager R (1999) Modulation of hepatitis C virus NS5A hyperphosphorylation by nonstructural proteins NS3, NS4A, and NS4B. *J. Virol.* 73(9):7138-7146.
- Kong L, Giang E, Nieusma T, Kadam RU, Cogburn KE, Hua Y, Dai X, Stanfield RL, Burton DR, Ward AB, Wilson IA & Law M (2013) Hepatitis C virus E2 envelope glycoprotein core structure. *Science* 342(6162):1090-1094.
- Krieger SE, Zeisel MB, Davis C, Thumann C, Harris HJ, Schnober EK, Mee C, Soulier E, Royer C, Lambotin M, Grunert F, Dao Thi VL, Dreux M, Cosset FL, McKeating JA, Schuster C & Baumert TF (2010) Inhibition of hepatitis C virus infection by anti-claudin-1 antibodies is mediated by neutralization of E2-CD81-claudin-1 associations. *Hepatology* 51(4):1144-1157.
- Kruger M, Beger C, Welch PJ, Barber JR, Manns MP & Wong-Staal F (2001) Involvement of proteasome alpha-subunit PSMA7 in hepatitis C virus internal ribosome entry sitemediated translation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 21(24):8357-8364.
- Krugman S, Ward R & Giles JP (1962) The natural history of infectious hepatitis. *Am. J. Med.* 32:717-728.
- Ku B, Woo JS, Liang C, Lee KH, Hong HS, E X, Kim KS, Jung JU & Oh BH (2008) Structural and biochemical bases for the inhibition of autophagy and apoptosis by viral BCL-2 of murine gamma-herpesvirus 68. *PLoS Pathog.* 4(2):e25.
- Kuo G, Choo QL, Alter HJ, Gitnick GL, Redeker AG, Purcell RH, Miyamura T, Dienstag JL, Alter MJ, Stevens CE & et al. (1989) An assay for circulating antibodies to a major etiologic virus of human non-A, non-B hepatitis. *Science* 244(4902):362-364.
- Kurt R, Chandra PK, Aboulnasr F, Panigrahi R, Ferraris P, Aydin Y, Reiss K, Wu T, Balart LA & Dash S (2015) Chaperone-Mediated Autophagy Targets IFNAR1 for Lysosomal Degradation in Free Fatty Acid Treated HCV Cell Culture. *PLoS One* 10(5):e0125962.
- Kushima Y, Wakita T & Hijikata M (2010) A disulfide-bonded dimer of the core protein of hepatitis C virus is important for virus-like particle production. J. Virol. 84(18):9118-9127.
- Lackmann M & Boyd AW (2008) Eph, a protein family coming of age: more confusion, insight, or complexity? *Sci Signal* 1(15):re2.
- Lanford RE, Hildebrandt-Eriksen ES, Petri A, Persson R, Lindow M, Munk ME, Kauppinen S & Orum H (2010) Therapeutic silencing of microRNA-122 in primates with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Science* 327(5962):198-201.
- Lavie M, Sarrazin S, Montserret R, Descamps V, Baumert TF, Duverlie G, Seron K, Penin F & Dubuisson J (2014) Identification of conserved residues in hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein E2 that modulate virus dependence on CD81 and SRB1 entry factors. J. Virol. 88(18):10584-10597.
- Lee GY, Lee S, Lee HR & Yoo YD (2016) Hepatitis C virus p7 mediates membrane-to-membrane adhesion. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1861(9 Pt A):1096-1101.
- Lee YR, Lei HY, Liu MT, Wang JR, Chen SH, Jiang-Shieh YF, Lin YS, Yeh TM, Liu CC & Liu HS (2008) Autophagic machinery activated by dengue virus enhances virus replication. *Virology* 374(2):240-248.
- Lefevre M, Felmlee DJ, Parnot M, Baumert TF & Schuster C (2014) Syndecan 4 is involved in mediating HCV entry through interaction with lipoviral particle-associated apolipoprotein E. *PLoS One* 9(4):e95550.
- Leib DA, Alexander DE, Cox D, Yin J & Ferguson TA (2009) Interaction of ICP34.5 with Beclin 1 modulates herpes simplex virus type 1 pathogenesis through control of CD4+ T-cell responses. J. Virol. 83(23):12164-12171.
- Lesburg CA, Cable MB, Ferrari E, Hong Z, Mannarino AF & Weber PC (1999) Crystal structure of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase from hepatitis C virus reveals a fully encircled active site. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 6(10):937-943.
- Levine B & Kroemer G (2008) Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. Cell 132(1):27-42.
- Li J-K, Liang J-J, Liao C-L & Lin Y-L (2012) Autophagy is involved in the early step of Japanese encephalitis virus infection. *Microb. Infect.* 14(2):159-168.

- Li K, Foy E, Ferreon JC, Nakamura M, Ferreon AC, Ikeda M, Ray SC, Gale M, Jr. & Lemon SM (2005) Immune evasion by hepatitis C virus NS3/4A protease-mediated cleavage of the Toll-like receptor 3 adaptor protein TRIF. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 102(8):2992-2997.
- Li Q, Sodroski C, Lowey B, Schweitzer CJ, Cha H, Zhang F & Liang TJ (2016) Hepatitis C virus depends on E-cadherin as an entry factor and regulates its expression in epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 113(27):7620-7625.
- Li S, Ye L, Yu X, Xu B, Li K, Zhu X, Liu H, Wu X & Kong L (2009) Hepatitis C virus NS4B induces unfolded protein response and endoplasmic reticulum overload response-dependent NF-kappaB activation. *Virology* 391(2):257-264.
- Li X, Jeffers LJ, Shao L, Reddy KR, de Medina M, Scheffel J, Moore B & Schiff ER (1995) Identification of hepatitis C virus by immunoelectron microscopy. J. Viral Hepat. 2(5):227-234.
- Liang C, Lee JS, Inn KS, Gack MU, Li Q, Roberts EA, Vergne I, Deretic V, Feng P, Akazawa C & Jung JU (2008) Beclin1-binding UVRAG targets the class C Vps complex to coordinate autophagosome maturation and endocytic trafficking. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10(7):776-787.
- Liang Q, Chang B, Brulois KF, Castro K, Min CK, Rodgers MA, Shi M, Ge J, Feng P, Oh BH & Jung JU (2013) Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus K7 modulates Rubicon-mediated inhibition of autophagosome maturation. J. Virol. 87(22):12499-12503.
- Liang XH, Jackson S, Seaman M, Brown K, Kempkes B, Hibshoosh H & Levine B (1999) Induction of autophagy and inhibition of tumorigenesis by beclin 1. *Nature* 402(6762):672-676.
- Liang XH, Kleeman LK, Jiang HH, Gordon G, Goldman JE, Berry G, Herman B & Levine B (1998) Protection against fatal Sindbis virus encephalitis by beclin, a novel Bcl-2-interacting protein. J. Virol. 72(11):8586-8596.
- Lin C, Lindenbach BD, Pragai BM, McCourt DW & Rice CM (1994) Processing in the hepatitis C virus E2-NS2 region: identification of p7 and two distinct E2-specific products with different C termini. *J. Virol.* 68(8):5063-5073.
- Lindenbach BD (2013) Virion assembly and release. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 369:199-218.
- Lindenbach BD, Evans MJ, Syder AJ, Wolk B, Tellinghuisen TL, Liu CC, Maruyama T, Hynes RO, Burton DR, McKeating JA & Rice CM (2005) Complete replication of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. *Science* 309(5734):623-626.
- Lindenbach BD, Meuleman P, Ploss A, Vanwolleghem T, Syder AJ, McKeating JA, Lanford RE, Feinstone SM, Major ME, Leroux-Roels G & Rice CM (2006) Cell culture-grown hepatitis C virus is infectious in vivo and can be recultured in vitro. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 103(10):3805-3809.
- Lindenbach BD, Pragai BM, Montserret R, Beran RK, Pyle AM, Penin F & Rice CM (2007) The C terminus of hepatitis C virus NS4A encodes an electrostatic switch that regulates NS5A hyperphosphorylation and viral replication. *J. Virol.* 81(17):8905-8918.

- Lindenbach BD & Rice CM (2013) The ins and outs of hepatitis C virus entry and assembly. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 11(10):688-700.
- Lindqvist LM, Simon AK & Baehrecke EH (2015) Current questions and possible controversies in autophagy. *Cell Death Discov* 1.
- Liu S, Yang W, Shen L, Turner JR, Coyne CB & Wang T (2009) Tight junction proteins claudin-1 and occludin control hepatitis C virus entry and are downregulated during infection to prevent superinfection. J. Virol. 83(4):2011-2014.
- Lohmann V, Korner F, Herian U & Bartenschlager R (1997) Biochemical properties of hepatitis C virus NS5B RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and identification of amino acid sequence motifs essential for enzymatic activity. J. Virol. 71(11):8416-8428.
- Loo YM & Gale M, Jr. (2011) Immune signaling by RIG-I-like receptors. *Immunity* 34(5):680-692.
- Lorenz IC, Marcotrigiano J, Dentzer TG & Rice CM (2006) Structure of the catalytic domain of the hepatitis C virus NS2-3 protease. *Nature* 442(7104):831-835.
- Lourenco S, Costa F, Debarges B, Andrieu T & Cahour A (2008) Hepatitis C virus internal ribosome entry site-mediated translation is stimulated by cis-acting RNA elements and trans-acting viral factors. *FEBS J.* 275(16):4179-4197.
- Lundin M, Monne M, Widell A, Von Heijne G & Persson MA (2003) Topology of the membraneassociated hepatitis C virus protein NS4B. J. Virol. 77(9):5428-5438.
- Lupberger J, Zeisel MB, Xiao F, Thumann C, Fofana I, Zona L, Davis C, Mee CJ, Turek M, Gorke S, Royer C, Fischer B, Zahid MN, Lavillette D, Fresquet J, Cosset FL, Rothenberg SM, Pietschmann T, Patel AH, Pessaux P, Doffoel M, Raffelsberger W, Poch O, McKeating JA, Brino L & Baumert TF (2011) EGFR and EphA2 are host factors for hepatitis C virus entry and possible targets for antiviral therapy. *Nat. Med.* 17(5):589-595.
- Lussignol M, Queval C, Bernet-Camard MF, Cotte-Laffitte J, Beau I, Codogno P & Esclatine A (2013) The herpes simplex virus 1 Us11 protein inhibits autophagy through its interaction with the protein kinase PKR. *J. Virol.* 87(2):859-871.
- Macdonald A & Harris M (2004) Hepatitis C virus NS5A: tales of a promiscuous protein. J. Gen. Virol. 85(Pt 9):2485-2502.
- Madan V, Paul D, Lohmann V & Bartenschlager R (2014) Inhibition of HCV replication by cyclophilin antagonists is linked to replication fitness and occurs by inhibition of membranous web formation. *Gastroenterology* 146(5):1361-1372 e1361-1369.
- Martin DN & Uprichard SL (2013) Identification of transferrin receptor 1 as a hepatitis C virus entry factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 110(26):10777-10782.
- Masaki T, Suzuki R, Murakami K, Aizaki H, Ishii K, Murayama A, Date T, Matsuura Y, Miyamura T, Wakita T & Suzuki T (2008) Interaction of hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A with core protein is critical for the production of infectious virus particles. *J. Virol.* 82(16):7964-7976.
- Matsunaga K, Saitoh T, Tabata K, Omori H, Satoh T, Kurotori N, Maejima I, Shirahama-Noda K, Ichimura T, Isobe T, Akira S, Noda T & Yoshimori T (2009) Two Beclin 1-binding

proteins, Atg14L and Rubicon, reciprocally regulate autophagy at different stages. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11(4):385-396.

- McCaffrey K, Gouklani H, Boo I, Poumbourios P & Drummer HE (2011) The variable regions of hepatitis C virus glycoprotein E2 have an essential structural role in glycoprotein assembly and virion infectivity. *J. Gen. Virol.* 92(Pt 1):112-121.
- McEwan DG, Popovic D, Gubas A, Terawaki S, Suzuki H, Stadel D, Coxon FP, Miranda de Stegmann D, Bhogaraju S, Maddi K, Kirchof A, Gatti E, Helfrich MH, Wakatsuki S, Behrends C, Pierre P & Dikic I (2015) PLEKHM1 regulates autophagosome-lysosome fusion through HOPS complex and LC3/GABARAP proteins. *Mol. Cell* 57(1):39-54.
- McLauchlan J (2009) Lipid droplets and hepatitis C virus infection. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1791(6):552-559.
- McLean JE, Wudzinska A, Datan E, Quaglino D & Zakeri Z (2011) Flavivirus NS4A-induced autophagy protects cells against death and enhances virus replication. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286(25):22147-22159.
- Meertens L, Bertaux C & Dragic T (2006) Hepatitis C virus entry requires a critical postinternalization step and delivery to early endosomes via clathrin-coated vesicles. J. *Virol.* 80(23):11571-11578.
- Meijer WH, van der Klei IJ, Veenhuis M & Kiel JA (2007) ATG genes involved in non-selective autophagy are conserved from yeast to man, but the selective Cvt and pexophagy pathways also require organism-specific genes. *Autophagy* 3(2):106-116.
- Meredith LW, Wilson GK, Fletcher NF & McKeating JA (2012) Hepatitis C virus entry: beyond receptors. *Rev. Med. Virol.* 22(3):182-193.
- Merz A, Long G, Hiet MS, Brugger B, Chlanda P, Andre P, Wieland F, Krijnse-Locker J & Bartenschlager R (2011) Biochemical and morphological properties of hepatitis C virus particles and determination of their lipidome. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286(4):3018-3032.
- Messina JP, Humphreys I, Flaxman A, Brown A, Cooke GS, Pybus OG & Barnes E (2015) Global distribution and prevalence of hepatitis C virus genotypes. *Hepatology* 61(1):77-87.
- Meuleman P, Catanese MT, Verhoye L, Desombere I, Farhoudi A, Jones CT, Sheahan T, Grzyb K, Cortese R, Rice CM, Leroux-Roels G & Nicosia A (2012) A human monoclonal antibody targeting scavenger receptor class B type I precludes hepatitis C virus infection and viral spread in vitro and in vivo. *Hepatology* 55(2):364-372.
- Meunier JC, Engle RE, Faulk K, Zhao M, Bartosch B, Alter H, Emerson SU, Cosset FL, Purcell RH & Bukh J (2005) Evidence for cross-genotype neutralization of hepatitis C virus pseudo-particles and enhancement of infectivity by apolipoprotein C1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 102(12):4560-4565.
- Meunier JC, Russell RS, Engle RE, Faulk KN, Purcell RH & Emerson SU (2008) Apolipoprotein c1 association with hepatitis C virus. *J. Virol.* 82(19):9647-9656.
- Meyers NL, Fontaine KA, Kumar GR & Ott M (2016) Entangled in a membranous web: ER and lipid droplet reorganization during hepatitis C virus infection. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 41:117-124.

- Meylan E, Curran J, Hofmann K, Moradpour D, Binder M, Bartenschlager R & Tschopp J (2005) Cardif is an adaptor protein in the RIG-I antiviral pathway and is targeted by hepatitis C virus. *Nature* 437(7062):1167-1172.
- Miyanari Y, Atsuzawa K, Usuda N, Watashi K, Hishiki T, Zayas M, Bartenschlager R, Wakita T, Hijikata M & Shimotohno K (2007) The lipid droplet is an important organelle for hepatitis C virus production. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 9(9):1089-1097.
- Miyanari Y, Hijikata M, Yamaji M, Hosaka M, Takahashi H & Shimotohno K (2003) Hepatitis C virus non-structural proteins in the probable membranous compartment function in viral genome replication. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278(50):50301-50308.
- Mizui T, Yamashina S, Tanida I, Takei Y, Ueno T, Sakamoto N, Ikejima K, Kitamura T, Enomoto N, Sakai T, Kominami E & Watanabe S (2010) Inhibition of hepatitis C virus replication by chloroquine targeting virus-associated autophagy. *J. Gastroenterol.* 45(2):195-203.
- Mohd-Ismail NK, Deng L, Sukumaran SK, Yu VC, Hotta H & Tan YJ (2009) The hepatitis C virus core protein contains a BH3 domain that regulates apoptosis through specific interaction with human Mcl-1. *J. Virol.* 83(19):9993-10006.
- Mohl BP, Bartlett C, Mankouri J & Harris M (2016) Early events in the generation of autophagosomes are required for the formation of membrane structures involved in hepatitis C virus genome replication. J. Gen. Virol. 97(3):680-693.
- Mohl BP, Tedbury PR, Griffin S & Harris M (2012) Hepatitis C virus-induced autophagy is independent of the unfolded protein response. J. Virol. 86(19):10724-10732.
- Moradpour D & Penin F (2013) Hepatitis C virus proteins: from structure to function. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 369:113-142.
- Morikawa K, Lange CM, Gouttenoire J, Meylan E, Brass V, Penin F & Moradpour D (2011) Nonstructural protein 3-4A: the Swiss army knife of hepatitis C virus. *J. Viral Hepat.* 18(5):305-315.
- Moy RH, Gold B, Molleston JM, Schad V, Yanger K, Salzano MV, Yagi Y, Fitzgerald KA, Stanger BZ, Soldan SS & Cherry S (2014) Antiviral autophagy restrictsRift Valley fever virus infection and is conserved from flies to mammals. *Immunity* 40(1):51-65.
- Munakata T, Liang Y, Kim S, McGivern DR, Huibregtse J, Nomoto A & Lemon SM (2007) Hepatitis C virus induces E6AP-dependent degradation of the retinoblastoma protein. *PLoS Pathog.* 3(9):1335-1347.
- Murakami Y, Aly HH, Tajima A, Inoue I & Shimotohno K (2009) Regulation of the hepatitis C virus genome replication by miR-199a. *J. Hepatol.* 50(3):453-460.
- Murphy DG, Sablon E, Chamberland J, Fournier E, Dandavino R & Tremblay CL (2015) Hepatitis C virus genotype 7, a new genotype originating from central Africa. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 53(3):967-972.
- Neddermann P, Quintavalle M, Di Pietro C, Clementi A, Cerretani M, Altamura S, Bartholomew L & De Francesco R (2004) Reduction of hepatitis C virus NS5A hyperphosphorylation by selective inhibition of cellular kinases activates viral RNA replication in cell culture. J. Virol. 78(23):13306-13314.

- Nielsen SU, Bassendine MF, Burt AD, Martin C, Pumeechockchai W & Toms GL (2006) Association between hepatitis C virus and very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL)/LDL analyzed in iodixanol density gradients. J. Virol. 80(5):2418-2428.
- Nieva JL, Madan V & Carrasco L (2012) Viroporins: structure and biological functions. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 10(8):563-574.
- Nishida Y, Arakawa S, Fujitani K, Yamaguchi H, Mizuta T, Kanaseki T, Komatsu M, Otsu K, Tsujimoto Y & Shimizu S (2009) Discovery of Atg5/Atg7-independent alternative macroautophagy. *Nature* 461(7264):654-658.
- Oehler V, Filipe A, Montserret R, da Costa D, Brown G, Penin F & McLauchlan J (2012) Structural analysis of hepatitis C virus core-E1 signal peptide and requirements for cleavage of the genotype 3a signal sequence by signal peptide peptidase. J. Virol. 86(15):7818-7828.
- Ohsumi Y (2001) Molecular dissection of autophagy: two ubiquitin-like systems. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 2(3):211-216.
- Orvedahl A, Alexander D, Talloczy Z, Sun Q, Wei Y, Zhang W, Burns D, Leib DA & Levine B (2007) HSV-1 ICP34.5 confers neurovirulence by targeting the Beclin 1 autophagy protein. *Cell Host Microbe* 1(1):23-35.
- Pacheco A, Lopez de Quinto S, Ramajo J, Fernandez N & Martinez-Salas E (2009) A novel role for Gemin5 in mRNA translation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37(2):582-590.
- Paek KY, Kim CS, Park SM, Kim JH & Jang SK (2008) RNA-binding protein hnRNP D modulates internal ribosome entry site-dependent translation of hepatitis C virus RNA. J. Virol. 82(24):12082-12093.
- Paludan C, Schmid D, Landthaler M, Vockerodt M, Kube D, Tuschl T & Munz C (2005) Endogenous MHC class II processing of a viral nuclear antigen after autophagy. *Science* 307(5709):593-596.
- Panyasrivanit M, Khakpoor A, Wikan N & Smith DR (2009) Co-localization of constituents of the dengue virus translation and replication machinery with amphisomes. J. Gen. Virol. 90(Pt 2):448-456.
- Pattingre S, Tassa A, Qu X, Garuti R, Liang XH, Mizushima N, Packer M, Schneider MD & Levine B (2005) Bcl-2 antiapoptotic proteins inhibit Beclin 1-dependent autophagy. *Cell* 122(6):927-939.
- Paul D, Hoppe S, Saher G, Krijnse-Locker J & Bartenschlager R (2013) Morphological and biochemical characterization of the membranous hepatitis C virus replication compartment. J. Virol. 87(19):10612-10627.
- Paul D, Madan V & Bartenschlager R (2014) Hepatitis C virus RNA replication and assembly: living on the fat of the land. *Cell Host Microbe* 16(5):569-579.
- Paul D, Romero-Brey I, Gouttenoire J, Stoitsova S, Krijnse-Locker J, Moradpour D & Bartenschlager R (2011) NS4B self-interaction through conserved C-terminal elements is required for the establishment of functional hepatitis C virus replication complexes. J. Virol. 85(14):6963-6976.

- Paulus GL & Xavier RJ (2015) Autophagy and checkpoints for intracellular pathogen defense. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol* 31(1):14-23.
- Pawlotsky JM (2014) New hepatitis C therapies: the toolbox, strategies, and challenges. *Gastroenterology* 146(5):1176-1192.
- Pedersen KW, van der Meer Y, Roos N & Snijder EJ (1999) Open reading frame 1a-encoded subunits of the arterivirus replicase induce endoplasmic reticulum-derived double-membrane vesicles which carry the viral replication complex. J. Virol. 73(3):2016-2026.
- Penin F, Combet C, Germanidis G, Frainais PO, Deleage G & Pawlotsky JM (2001) Conservation of the conformation and positive charges of hepatitis C virus E2 envelope glycoprotein hypervariable region 1 points to a role in cell attachment. *J. Virol.* 75(12):5703-5710.
- Pestova TV, Shatsky IN, Fletcher SP, Jackson RJ & Hellen CU (1998) A prokaryotic-like mode of cytoplasmic eukaryotic ribosome binding to the initiation codon during internal translation initiation of hepatitis C and classical swine fever virus RNAs. *Genes Dev.* 12(1):67-83.
- Petracca R, Falugi F, Galli G, Norais N, Rosa D, Campagnoli S, Burgio V, Di Stasio E, Giardina B, Houghton M, Abrignani S & Grandi G (2000) Structure-function analysis of hepatitis C virus envelope-CD81 binding. J. Virol. 74(10):4824-4830.
- Pham TM, Tran SC, Lim YS & Hwang SB (2017) Hepatitis C Virus-Induced Rab32 Aggregation and Its Implications for Virion Assembly. J. Virol. 91(3).
- Pierra Rouviere C, Amador A, Badaroux E, Convard T, Da Costa D, Dukhan D, Griffe L, Griffon JF, LaColla M, Leroy F, Liuzzi M, Loi AG, McCarville J, Mascia V, Milhau J, Onidi L, Paparin JL, Rahali R, Sais E, Seifer M, Surleraux D, Standring D & Dousson C (2016) Synthesis of potent and broad genotypically active NS5B HCV non-nucleoside inhibitors binding to the thumb domain allosteric site 2 of the viral polymerase. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 26(18):4536-4541.
- Pileri P, Uematsu Y, Campagnoli S, Galli G, Falugi F, Petracca R, Weiner AJ, Houghton M, Rosa D, Grandi G & Abrignani S (1998) Binding of hepatitis C virus to CD81. *Science* 282(5390):938-941.
- Ploss A, Evans MJ, Gaysinskaya VA, Panis M, You H, de Jong YP & Rice CM (2009) Human occludin is a hepatitis C virus entry factor required for infection of mouse cells. *Nature* 457(7231):882-886.
- Podevin P, Carpentier A, Pene V, Aoudjehane L, Carriere M, Zaidi S, Hernandez C, Calle V, Meritet JF, Scatton O, Dreux M, Cosset FL, Wakita T, Bartenschlager R, Demignot S, Conti F, Rosenberg AR & Calmus Y (2010) Production of infectious hepatitis C virus in primary cultures of human adult hepatocytes. *Gastroenterology* 139(4):1355-1364.
- Posthuma CC, Pedersen KW, Lu Z, Joosten RG, Roos N, Zevenhoven-Dobbe JC & Snijder EJ (2008) Formation of the arterivirus replication/transcription complex: a key role for nonstructural protein 3 in the remodeling of intracellular membranes. J. Virol. 82(9):4480-4491.

- Prentice E, Jerome WG, Yoshimori T, Mizushima N & Denison MR (2004a) Coronavirus replication complex formation utilizes components of cellular autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. 279(11):10136-10141.
- Prentice E, McAuliffe J, Lu X, Subbarao K & Denison MR (2004b) Identification and characterization of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus replicase proteins. *J. Virol.* 78(18):9977-9986.
- Pudi R, Srinivasan P & Das S (2004) La protein binding at the GCAC site near the initiator AUG facilitates the ribosomal assembly on the hepatitis C virus RNA to influence internal ribosome entry site-mediated translation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279(29):29879-29888.
- Quan M, Liu S, Li G, Wang Q, Zhang J, Zhang M, Li M, Gao P, Feng S & Cheng J (2014) A functional role for NS5ATP9 in the induction of HCV NS5A-mediated autophagy. *J. Viral Hepat.* 21(6):405-415.
- Rai R & Deval J (2011) New opportunities in anti-hepatitis C virus drug discovery: targeting NS4B. *Antiviral Res.* 90(2):93-101.
- Raney KD, Sharma SD, Moustafa IM & Cameron CE (2010) Hepatitis C virus non-structural protein 3 (HCV NS3): a multifunctional antiviral target. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285(30):22725-22731.
- Rautou PE, Cazals-Hatem D, Feldmann G, Mansouri A, Grodet A, Barge S, Martinot-Peignoux M, Duces A, Bieche I, Lebrec D, Bedossa P, Paradis V, Marcellin P, Valla D, Asselah T & Moreau R (2011) Changes in autophagic response in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Am. J. Pathol.* 178(6):2708-2715.
- Reed KE, Gorbalenya AE & Rice CM (1998) The NS5A/NS5 proteins of viruses from three genera of the family flaviviridae are phosphorylated by associated serine/threonine kinases. *J. Virol.* 72(7):6199-6206.
- Reiss S, Harak C, Romero-Brey I, Radujkovic D, Klein R, Ruggieri A, Rebhan I, Bartenschlager R & Lohmann V (2013) The lipid kinase phosphatidylinositol-4 kinase III alpha regulates the phosphorylation status of hepatitis C virus NS5A. *PLoS Pathog.* 9(5):e1003359.
- Reiss S, Rebhan I, Backes P, Romero-Brey I, Erfle H, Matula P, Kaderali L, Poenisch M, Blankenburg H, Hiet MS, Longerich T, Diehl S, Ramirez F, Balla T, Rohr K, Kaul A, Buhler S, Pepperkok R, Lengauer T, Albrecht M, Eils R, Schirmacher P, Lohmann V & Bartenschlager R (2011) Recruitment and activation of a lipid kinase by hepatitis C virus NS5A is essential for integrity of the membranous replication compartment. *Cell Host Microbe* 9(1):32-45.
- Rivas-Aravena A, Ramdohr P, Vallejos M, Valiente-Echeverria F, Dormoy-Raclet V, Rodriguez F, Pino K, Holzmann C, Huidobro-Toro JP, Gallouzi IE & Lopez-Lastra M (2009) The Elav-like protein HuR exerts translational control of viral internal ribosome entry sites. *Virology* 392(2):178-185.
- Rogov V, Dotsch V, Johansen T & Kirkin V (2014) Interactions between autophagy receptors and ubiquitin-like proteins form the molecular basis for selective autophagy. *Mol. Cell* 53(2):167-178.

- Romanov J, Walczak M, Ibiricu I, Schuchner S, Ogris E, Kraft C & Martens S (2012) Mechanism and functions of membrane binding by the Atg5-Atg12/Atg16 complex during autophagosome formation. *EMBO J.* 31(22):4304-4317.
- Romero-Brey I & Bartenschlager R (2014) Membranous replication factories induced by plusstrand RNA viruses. *Viruses* 6(7):2826-2857.
- Romero-Brey I, Berger C, Kallis S, Kolovou A, Paul D, Lohmann V & Bartenschlager R (2015) NS5A Domain 1 and Polyprotein Cleavage Kinetics Are Critical for Induction of Double-Membrane Vesicles Associated with Hepatitis C Virus Replication. *MBio* 6(4):e00759.
- Romero-Brey I, Merz A, Chiramel A, Lee JY, Chlanda P, Haselman U, Santarella-Mellwig R, Habermann A, Hoppe S, Kallis S, Walther P, Antony C, Krijnse-Locker J & Bartenschlager R (2012) Three-dimensional architecture and biogenesis of membrane structures associated with hepatitis C virus replication. *PLoS Pathog.* 8(12):e1003056.
- Rumin S, Berthillon P, Tanaka E, Kiyosawa K, Trabaud MA, Bizollon T, Gouillat C, Gripon P, Guguen-Guillouzo C, Inchauspe G & Trepo C (1999) Dynamic analysis of hepatitis C virus replication and quasispecies selection in long-term cultures of adult human hepatocytes infected in vitro. J. Gen. Virol. 80 (Pt 11):3007-3018.
- Saeed M, Andreo U, Chung HY, Espiritu C, Branch AD, Silva JM & Rice CM (2015) SEC14L2 enables pan-genotype HCV replication in cell culture. *Nature* 524(7566):471-475.
- Sainz B, Jr., Barretto N, Martin DN, Hiraga N, Imamura M, Hussain S, Marsh KA, Yu X, Chayama K, Alrefai WA & Uprichard SL (2012) Identification of the Niemann-Pick C1-like 1 cholesterol absorption receptor as a new hepatitis C virus entry factor. *Nat. Med.* 18(2):281-285.
- Santolini E, Migliaccio G & La Monica N (1994) Biosynthesis and biochemical properties of the hepatitis C virus core protein. *J. Virol.* 68(6):3631-3641.
- Scarselli E, Ansuini H, Cerino R, Roccasecca RM, Acali S, Filocamo G, Traboni C, Nicosia A, Cortese R & Vitelli A (2002) The human scavenger receptor class B type I is a novel candidate receptor for the hepatitis C virus. *EMBO J.* 21(19):5017-5025.
- Scheller N, Mina LB, Galao RP, Chari A, Gimenez-Barcons M, Noueiry A, Fischer U, Meyerhans A & Diez J (2009) Translation and replication of hepatitis C virus genomic RNA depends on ancient cellular proteins that control mRNA fates. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106(32):13517-13522.
- Schneider MR & Wolf E (2009) The epidermal growth factor receptor ligands at a glance. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 218(3):460-466.
- Schregel V, Jacobi S, Penin F & Tautz N (2009) Hepatitis C virus NS2 is a protease stimulated by cofactor domains in NS3. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106(13):5342-5347.
- Scull MA, Schneider WM, Flatley BR, Hayden R, Fung C, Jones CT, van de Belt M, Penin F & Rice CM (2015) The N-terminal Helical Region of the Hepatitis C Virus p7 Ion Channel Protein Is Critical for Infectious Virus Production. *PLoS Pathog.* 11(11):e1005297.
- Sharma NR, Mateu G, Dreux M, Grakoui A, Cosset FL & Melikyan GB (2011) Hepatitis C virus is primed by CD81 protein for low pH-dependent fusion. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286(35):30361-30376.

- Shavinskaya A, Boulant S, Penin F, McLauchlan J & Bartenschlager R (2007) The lipid droplet binding domain of hepatitis C virus core protein is a major determinant for efficient virus assembly. J. Biol. Chem. 282(51):37158-37169.
- Shi Q, Jiang J & Luo G (2013) Syndecan-1 serves as the major receptor for attachment of hepatitis C virus to the surfaces of hepatocytes. *J. Virol.* 87(12):6866-6875.
- Shimizu YK, Feinstone SM, Purcell RH, Alter HJ & London WT (1979) Non-A, non-B hepatitis: ultrastructural evidence for two agents in experimentally infected chimpanzees. *Science* 205(4402):197-200.
- Shinohara Y, Imajo K, Yoneda M, Tomeno W, Ogawa Y, Kirikoshi H, Funakoshi K, Ikeda M, Kato N, Nakajima A & Saito S (2013) Unfolded protein response pathways regulate Hepatitis C virus replication via modulation of autophagy. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 432(2):326-332.
- Shrivastava S, Bhanja Chowdhury J, Steele R, Ray R & Ray RB (2012) Hepatitis C virus upregulates Beclin1 for induction of autophagy and activates mTOR signaling. *J. Virol.* 86(16):8705-8712.
- Shrivastava S, Raychoudhuri A, Steele R, Ray R & Ray RB (2011) Knockdown of autophagy enhances the innate immune response in hepatitis C virus-infected hepatocytes. *Hepatology* 53(2):406-414.
- Simister P, Schmitt M, Geitmann M, Wicht O, Danielson UH, Klein R, Bressanelli S & Lohmann V (2009) Structural and functional analysis of hepatitis C virus strain JFH1 polymerase. J. Virol. 83(22):11926-11939.
- Simonsen A & Tooze SA (2009) Coordination of membrane events during autophagy by multiple class III PI3-kinase complexes. *J. Cell Biol.* 186(6):773-782.
- Sinha S, Colbert CL, Becker N, Wei Y & Levine B (2008) Molecular basis of the regulation of Beclin 1-dependent autophagy by the gamma-herpesvirus 68 Bcl-2 homolog M11. *Autophagy* 4(8):989-997.
- Sir D, Chen WL, Choi J, Wakita T, Yen TS & Ou JH (2008) Induction of incomplete autophagic response by hepatitis C virus via the unfolded protein response. *Hepatology* 48(4):1054-1061.
- Sir D, Kuo CF, Tian Y, Liu HM, Huang EJ, Jung JU, Machida K & Ou JH (2012) Replication of hepatitis C virus RNA on autophagosomal membranes. J. Biol. Chem. 287(22):18036-18043.
- Sizova DV, Kolupaeva VG, Pestova TV, Shatsky IN & Hellen CU (1998) Specific interaction of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3 with the 5' nontranslated regions of hepatitis C virus and classical swine fever virus RNAs. *J. Virol.* 72(6):4775-4782.
- Smith DB, Bukh J, Kuiken C, Muerhoff AS, Rice CM, Stapleton JT & Simmonds P (2014) Expanded classification of hepatitis C virus into 7 genotypes and 67 subtypes: updated criteria and genotype assignment web resource. *Hepatology* 59(1):318-327.
- Snijder EJ, van der Meer Y, Zevenhoven-Dobbe J, Onderwater JJ, van der Meulen J, Koerten HK & Mommaas AM (2006) Ultrastructure and origin of membrane vesicles associated with

the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus replication complex. J. Virol. 80(12):5927-5940.

- Snijder EJ, van Tol H, Roos N & Pedersen KW (2001) Non-structural proteins 2 and 3 interact to modify host cell membranes during the formation of the arterivirus replication complex. J. Gen. Virol. 82(Pt 5):985-994.
- Sourisseau M, Michta ML, Zony C, Israelow B, Hopcraft SE, Narbus CM, Parra Martin A & Evans MJ (2013) Temporal analysis of hepatitis C virus cell entry with occludin directed blocking antibodies. *PLoS Pathog.* 9(3):e1003244.
- Spangberg K, Wiklund L & Schwartz S (2000) HuR, a protein implicated in oncogene and growth factor mRNA decay, binds to the 3' ends of hepatitis C virus RNA of both polarities. *Virology* 274(2):378-390.
- Stapleford KA & Lindenbach BD (2011) Hepatitis C virus NS2 coordinates virus particle assembly through physical interactions with the E1-E2 glycoprotein and NS3-NS4A enzyme complexes. *J. Virol.* 85(4):1706-1717.
- Stemmler MP (2008) Cadherins in development and cancer. Mol. Biosyst. 4(8):835-850.
- Stertz S, Reichelt M, Spiegel M, Kuri T, Martinez-Sobrido L, Garcia-Sastre A, Weber F & Kochs G (2007) The intracellular sites of early replication and budding of SARS-coronavirus. *Virology* 361(2):304-315.
- Stone M, Jia S, Heo WD, Meyer T & Konan KV (2007) Participation of rab5, an early endosome protein, in hepatitis C virus RNA replication machinery. *J. Virol.* 81(9):4551-4563.
- Su M, Mei Y, Sanishvili R, Levine B, Colbert CL & Sinha S (2014) Targeting gamma-herpesvirus 68 Bcl-2-mediated down-regulation of autophagy. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289(12):8029-8040.
- Su WC, Chao TC, Huang YL, Weng SC, Jeng KS & Lai MM (2011) Rab5 and class III phosphoinositide 3-kinase Vps34 are involved in hepatitis C virus NS4B-induced autophagy. *J. Virol.* 85(20):10561-10571.
- Sun Q, Westphal W, Wong KN, Tan I & Zhong Q (2010) Rubicon controls endosome maturation as a Rab7 effector. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 107(45):19338-19343.
- Suzuki R, Matsuura Y, Suzuki T, Ando A, Chiba J, Harada S, Saito I & Miyamura T (1995) Nuclear localization of the truncated hepatitis C virus core protein with its hydrophobic C terminus deleted. J. Gen. Virol. 76 (Pt 1):53-61.
- Taguwa S, Kambara H, Fujita N, Noda T, Yoshimori T, Koike K, Moriishi K & Matsuura Y (2011) Dysfunction of autophagy participates in vacuole formation and cell death in cells replicating hepatitis C virus. J. Virol. 85(24):13185-13194.
- Talloczy Z, Jiang W, Virgin HWt, Leib DA, Scheuner D, Kaufman RJ, Eskelinen EL & Levine B (2002) Regulation of starvation- and virus-induced autophagy by the eIF2alpha kinase signaling pathway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 99(1):190-195.
- Talloczy Z, Virgin HWt & Levine B (2006) PKR-dependent autophagic degradation of herpes simplex virus type 1. *Autophagy* 2(1):24-29.

- Tanida I, Fukasawa M, Ueno T, Kominami E, Wakita T & Hanada K (2009) Knockdown of autophagy-related gene decreases the production of infectious hepatitis C virus particles. *Autophagy* 5(7):937-945.
- Tanji Y, Kaneko T, Satoh S & Shimotohno K (1995) Phosphorylation of hepatitis C virus-encoded nonstructural protein NS5A. J. Virol. 69(7):3980-3986.
- Tardif KD, Mori K & Siddiqui A (2002) Hepatitis C virus subgenomic replicons induce endoplasmic reticulum stress activating an intracellular signaling pathway. J. Virol. 76(15):7453-7459.
- Tardif KD, Waris G & Siddiqui A (2005) Hepatitis C virus, ER stress, and oxidative stress. *Trends Microbiol.* 13(4):159-163.
- Tellinghuisen TL, Foss KL & Treadaway J (2008) Regulation of hepatitis C virion production via phosphorylation of the NS5A protein. *PLoS Pathog.* 4(3):e1000032.
- Tellinghuisen TL, Marcotrigiano J, Gorbalenya AE & Rice CM (2004) The NS5A protein of hepatitis C virus is a zinc metalloprotein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279(47):48576-48587.
- Terenin IM, Dmitriev SE, Andreev DE & Shatsky IN (2008) Eukaryotic translation initiation machinery can operate in a bacterial-like mode without eIF2. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 15(8):836-841.
- Tischendorf JJ, Beger C, Korf M, Manns MP & Kruger M (2004) Polypyrimidine tract-binding protein (PTB) inhibits Hepatitis C virus internal ribosome entry site (HCV IRES)-mediated translation, but does not affect HCV replication. *Arch. Virol.* 149(10):1955-1970.
- Tosoni D, Puri C, Confalonieri S, Salcini AE, De Camilli P, Tacchetti C & Di Fiore PP (2005) TTP specifically regulates the internalization of the transferrin receptor. *Cell* 123(5):875-888.
- Tsuboyama K, Koyama-Honda I, Sakamaki Y, Koike M, Morishita H & Mizushima N (2016) The ATG conjugation systems are important for degradation of the inner autophagosomal membrane. *Science* 354(6315):1036-1041.
- Tu H, Gao L, Shi ST, Taylor DR, Yang T, Mircheff AK, Wen Y, Gorbalenya AE, Hwang SB & Lai MM (1999) Hepatitis C virus RNA polymerase and NS5A complex with a SNARElike protein. *Virology* 263(1):30-41.
- Uversky VN (2011) Intrinsically disordered proteins from A to Z. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 43(8):1090-1103.
- Van Eck M, Hoekstra M, Out R, Bos IS, Kruijt JK, Hildebrand RB & Van Berkel TJ (2008) Scavenger receptor BI facilitates the metabolism of VLDL lipoproteins in vivo. J. Lipid Res. 49(1):136-146.
- van Roy F & Berx G (2008) The cell-cell adhesion molecule E-cadherin. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 65(23):3756-3788.
- van Spriel AB & Figdor CG (2010) The role of tetraspanins in the pathogenesis of infectious diseases. *Microbes Infect* 12(2):106-112.
- Vescovo T, Romagnoli A, Perdomo AB, Corazzari M, Ciccosanti F, Alonzi T, Nardacci R, Ippolito G, Tripodi M, Garcia-Monzon C, Lo Iacono O, Piacentini M & Fimia GM (2012)

Autophagy protects cells from HCV-induced defects in lipid metabolism. *Gastroenterology* 142(3):644-653 e643.

- Vieyres G, Brohm C, Friesland M, Gentzsch J, Wolk B, Roingeard P, Steinmann E & Pietschmann T (2013) Subcellular localization and function of an epitope-tagged p7 viroporin in hepatitis C virus-producing cells. J. Virol. 87(3):1664-1678.
- Vieyres G, Thomas X, Descamps V, Duverlie G, Patel AH & Dubuisson J (2010) Characterization of the envelope glycoproteins associated with infectious hepatitis C virus. *J. Virol.* 84(19):10159-10168.
- Wakita T, Pietschmann T, Kato T, Date T, Miyamoto M, Zhao Z, Murthy K, Habermann A, Krausslich HG, Mizokami M, Bartenschlager R & Liang TJ (2005) Production of infectious hepatitis C virus in tissue culture from a cloned viral genome. *Nat. Med.* 11(7):791-796.
- Walczak M & Martens S (2013) Dissecting the role of the Atg12-Atg5-Atg16 complex during autophagosome formation. *Autophagy* 9(3):424-425.
- Wang J, Kang R, Huang H, Xi X, Wang B, Wang J & Zhao Z (2014a) Hepatitis C virus core protein activates autophagy through EIF2AK3 and ATF6 UPR pathway-mediated MAP1LC3B and ATG12 expression. *Autophagy* 10(5):766-784.
- Wang L, Tian Y & Ou JH (2015) HCV induces the expression of Rubicon and UVRAG to temporally regulate the maturation of autophagosomes and viral replication. *PLoS Pathog*. 11(3):e1004764.
- Wang M & Kaufman RJ (2014b) The impact of the endoplasmic reticulum protein-folding environment on cancer development. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 14(9):581-597.
- Webber JL & Tooze SA (2010) New insights into the function of Atg9. *FEBS Lett.* 584(7):1319-1326.
- Weinlich S, Huttelmaier S, Schierhorn A, Behrens SE, Ostareck-Lederer A & Ostareck DH (2009) IGF2BP1 enhances HCV IRES-mediated translation initiation via the 3'UTR. *RNA* 15(8):1528-1542.
- Wild P, McEwan DG & Dikic I (2014) The LC3 interactome at a glance. *J. Cell Sci.* 127(Pt 1):3-9.
- Wong PM, Puente C, Ganley IG & Jiang X (2013) The ULK1 complex: sensing nutrient signals for autophagy activation. *Autophagy* 9(2):124-137.
- Wozniak AL, Griffin S, Rowlands D, Harris M, Yi M, Lemon SM & Weinman SA (2010) Intracellular proton conductance of the hepatitis C virus p7 protein and its contribution to infectious virus production. *PLoS Pathog.* 6(9):e1001087.
- Wu YW, Mettling C, Wu SR, Yu CY, Perng GC, Lin YS & Lin YL (2016) Autophagy-associated dengue vesicles promote viral transmission avoiding antibody neutralization. *Sci. Rep.* 6:32243.
- Yang Z & Klionsky DJ (2010) Eaten alive: a history of macroautophagy. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12(9):814-822.

- Yao N, Reichert P, Taremi SS, Prosise WW & Weber PC (1999) Molecular views of viral polyprotein processing revealed by the crystal structure of the hepatitis C virus bifunctional protease-helicase. *Structure* 7(11):1353-1363.
- Yi Z, Fang C, Zou J, Xu J, Song W, Du X, Pan T, Lu H & Yuan Z (2016) Affinity purification of the Hepatitis C virus replicase identifies Valosin-containing protein (VCP) AAA+ATPase as an active viral replication modulator. *J. Virol.* 10.1128/JVI.01140-16.
- Yu GY, Lee KJ, Gao L & Lai MM (2006) Palmitoylation and polymerization of hepatitis C virus NS4B protein. *J. Virol.* 80(12):6013-6023.
- Yu L (2008) The structure and function of Niemann-Pick C1-like 1 protein. *Curr. Opin. Lipidol.* 19(3):263-269.
- Yu R, Yang D, Lei S, Wang X, Meng X, Xue B & Zhu H (2015) HMGB1 Promotes Hepatitis C Virus Replication by Interaction with Stem-Loop 4 in the Viral 5' Untranslated Region. J. Virol. 90(5):2332-2344.
- Zeng R, Cui Y, Hai Y & Liu Y (2012) Pattern recognition receptors for respiratory syncytial virus infection and design of vaccines. *Virus Res.* 167(2):138-145.
- Zhang H, Monken CE, Zhang Y, Lenard J, Mizushima N, Lattime EC & Jin S (2006) Cellular autophagy machinery is not required for vaccinia virus replication and maturation. *Autophagy* 2(2):91-95.
- Zhang J & Ney PA (2009) Role of BNIP3 and NIX in cell death, autophagy, and mitophagy. *Cell Death Differ*. 16(7):939-946.
- Zhao Z, Thackray LB, Miller BC, Lynn TM, Becker MM, Ward E, Mizushima NN, Denison MR & Virgin HWt (2007) Coronavirus replication does not require the autophagy gene ATG5. *Autophagy* 3(6):581-585.
- Zheng Y, Gao B, Ye L, Kong L, Jing W, Yang X, Wu Z & Ye L (2005) Hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein NS4B can modulate an unfolded protein response. J. Microbiol. 43(6):529-536.
- Zhu H, Wong-Staal F, Lee H, Syder A, McKelvy J, Schooley RT & Wyles DL (2012) Evaluation of ITX 5061, a scavenger receptor B1 antagonist: resistance selection and activity in combination with other hepatitis C virus antivirals. *J. Infect. Dis.* 205(4):656-662.
- Zona L, Lupberger J, Sidahmed-Adrar N, Thumann C, Harris HJ, Barnes A, Florentin J, Tawar RG, Xiao F, Turek M, Durand SC, Duong FH, Heim MH, Cosset FL, Hirsch I, Samuel D, Brino L, Zeisel MB, Le Naour F, McKeating JA & Baumert TF (2013) HRas signal transduction promotes hepatitis C virus cell entry by triggering assembly of the host tetraspanin receptor complex. *Cell Host Microbe* 13(3):302-313.

APPENDIX

# **Publication No.1**

### (Published in BBA Molecular Basis Of Disease, 2016)

Effect of the pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide on the autophagic activation observed in in vitro and in vivo models of Parkinson's disease.

Lamine-Ajili A, Fahmy AM, Létourneau M, Chatenet D, Labonté P, Vaudry D, Fournier A.

INRS-Institut Armand-Frappier, Institut National de la Recherche Scientifique, Laval, Canada

## **Contribution of the authors:**

Lamine-Ajili A, Fahmy AM : Equally contributed in this research (co- first authors), Designed the experiments, performed experiments, and wrote the manuscript.

Létourneau M : performed experiments, and revised the manuscript.

Chatenet D : wrote the manuscript.

Labonté P : Designed the experiments and wrote the manuscript.

Vaudry D : Designed the experiments and wrote the manuscript.

Fournier A. : Designed the experiments and wrote the manuscript.



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Biochimica et Biophysica Acta



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbadis

# Effect of the pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide on the autophagic activation observed in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of Parkinson's disease



Asma Lamine-Ajili <sup>a,b,c,1</sup>, Ahmed M. Fahmy <sup>a,1</sup>, Myriam Létourneau <sup>a,c</sup>, David Chatenet <sup>a,2</sup>, Patrick Labonté <sup>a,2</sup>, David Vaudry <sup>b,c,2</sup>, Alain Fournier <sup>a,c,\*,2</sup>

<sup>a</sup> INRS, Institut Armand-Frappier, 531 boul. des Prairies, Laval, QC, Canada H7V 1B7

<sup>b</sup> INSERM-U982, Laboratory of Neuronal and Neuroendocrine Differentiation and Communication, IRIB, Université de Rouen, 76821, Mont-Saint-Aignan, France

<sup>c</sup> Laboratoire Samuel-de-Champlain, Université de Rouen, France/INRS, Canada

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 17 September 2015 Received in revised form 10 December 2015 Accepted 4 January 2016 Available online 6 January 2016

Keywords: Autophagy PACAP Neurodegeneration Dopaminergic neuron survival Mitochondrial functions SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cell survival

#### ABSTRACT

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disorder that leads to destruction of the midbrain dopaminergic (DA) neurons. This phenomenon is related to apoptosis and its activation can be blocked by the pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP). Growing evidence indicates that autophagy, a self-degradation activity that cleans up the cell, is induced during the course of neurodegenerative diseases. However, the role of autophagy in the pathogenesis of neuronal disorders is yet poorly understood and the potential ability of PACAP to modulate the related autophagic activation has never been significantly investigated. Hence, we explored the putative autophagy-modulating properties of PACAP in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of PD, using the neurotoxic agents 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium (MPP<sup>+</sup>) and 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP), respectively, to trigger alterations of DA neurons. In both models, following the toxin exposure, PACAP reduced the autophagic activity as evaluated by the production of LC3 II, the modulation of the p62 protein levels, and the formation of autophagic vacuoles. The ability of PACAP to inhibit autophagy was also observed in an *in vitro* cell assay by the blocking of the p62-sequestration activity produced with the autophagy inducer rapamycin. Thus, the results demonstrated that autophagy is induced in PD experimental models and that PACAP exhibits not only anti-apoptotic but also anti-autophagic properties.

© 2016 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disorder with a significant prevalence in elderly people. It evolves slowly and is distinguished by the appearance of movement disorders characterized by

\* Corresponding author at: Institut National de la Recherche Scientifique, INRS-IAF, 531 boul. des Prairies, Laval, QC, Canada, H7V 1B7.

E-mail address: alain.fournier@iaf.inrs.ca (A. Fournier).

<sup>1</sup> Equal contribution.

<sup>2</sup> Co-senior authors.

instability, postural rigidity, tremor at rest, and bradykinesia/akinesia [1,2]. It is associated with a massive destruction of neurons in the brainstem, particularly the dopaminergic (DA) neurons of the substantia *nigra* (SN) [3]. Although neuronal death mechanisms remain poorly understood, several studies showed that loss of DA neurons is particularly caused by alteration of mitochondrial functions [4–6]. In fact, during the neurodegenerative course, reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generated and they subsequently alter cell components, thereby inducing cellular stress and giving rise to processes such as apoptosis and autophagy [7–9]. While apoptosis is a programmed cell death mechanism, autophagy is considered as a self-degradation action that occurs in normal physiological conditions to clean up the cell from defective intracellular components. Indeed, altered cytoplasmic organelles are processed by lysosomes to purify the cell through the autophagic process [10]. Hence, conditions associated with an increase in cellular stress promote changes in cellular organelles and might induce autophagy. Moreover, in more acute conditions of organelle alterations, autophagy might become deleterious to cell survival. Autophagy was shown to be involved in a variety of pathologies including cancer, infection and inflammation [11]. Furthermore, some studies showed that autophagy is observed during the development of neurodegenerative

Abbreviations: Akt, protein kinase B; Bcl-2, B-cell lymphoma 2 anti-apoptotic protein; DA, dopaminergic; DAPI, 2-(4-amidinophenyl)-1 H-indole-6-carboxamidine hydrochloride; FBS, fetal bovine serum; GFP, green fluorescent protein; JNK, c-Jun. N-terminal kinase; LC3 I and II, microtubule-associated protein light chain 3 I and II; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; MPP<sup>+</sup>, 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium; MPTP, 1-methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine; MTP, mitochondrial transmembrane potential; MTS, 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2 H-tetrazolium; PAC1, PACAP receptor; PACAP, pituitary adenylate cyclaseactivating polypeptide; PACAP38 or P38, 38-amino acid isoform of PACAP; PBS, phosphate buffer saline; PD, Parkinson's disease; PFA, paraformaldehyde; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SN, *substantia nigra*; SNpc, *substantia nigra pars compacta*; TBST, Tris-buffered saline with Tween 20; TH, tyrosine hydroxylase; VIP, vasoactive intestinal peptide; VPAC1, VIP/PACAP type 1 receptor; VPAC2, VIP/PACAP type 2 receptor.

illnesses such as the Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases [12–14]. Nevertheless, the precise role of autophagy in the pathogenesis of neuronal disorders is yet inadequately understood. Indeed, in ischemia and brain injuries, as well as in neurodegenerative diseases, some reports suggested that activation of autophagy might be beneficial while others revealed that it would be harmful for the cell [15–18]. Similarly, other studies demonstrated that inhibition or activation of autophagy produced protective effects depending on the stress conditions [19–22].

The pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP) is a neuropeptide that exerts a large array of actions via the activation of three different G protein-coupled receptors, i.e. PAC1, VPAC1 and VPAC2 [23]. This molecule is a potent anti-apoptotic, antiinflammatory and vasodilating substance [24-27], and these biological activities are essentially mediated through PAC1, VPAC1 and VPAC2, respectively [28-30]. In particular, by reducing apoptosis, PACAP exhibits potent neuroprotective effects in experimental cellular and animal models of pathologies and neuronal damages, including cerebral ischemia and brain injuries, as well as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases [31-34]. Hence, PACAP is able to protect against neurotoxic agents several cell types such as PC12 cells, GIRK2-positive and GIRK2-negative dopamine neurons of primary ventral midbrain cultures, as well as Neuro-2a neuroblastoma cells [35,31]. It has been clearly established that PACAP modulates several pathways involved in apoptosis to promote neuroprotective effects. Indeed, in many in vitro studies of neuronal injuries, PACAP induced Bcl-2 expression, stimulated the Akt/MAPK cascade, inhibited the c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathway, and blocked caspase activation [36-40]. Moreover, as demonstrated by our previous work, selective PAC1/VPAC1 analogs exert anti-apoptotic effects against 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium (MPP<sup>+</sup>)- and 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)-induced neurotoxicities [41,42]. The compound MPP<sup>+</sup> is a neurotoxic agent used to mimic in vitro features of Parkinson's disease, whereas its reduced form, MPTP, is utilized to reproduce in vivo Parkinsonian symptoms. Studies have demonstrated that MPP<sup>+</sup> inhibits the mitochondrial complex I, thus causing neuronal death [43,4,44]. Interestingly, it has also been reported that MPP<sup>+</sup> is able to modulate autophagy in different manners, according to the conditions of stress (e.g. hypoxia, serum depletion) and its duration [19,45,46]. Therefore, MPTP and MPP<sup>+</sup> cause not only neuronal death through apoptosis but also modulate autophagy [47]. Furthermore, it was shown that cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), a second messenger produced following the activation of adenylyl cyclase by PACAP, and protein kinase A (PKA), an enzyme with an activity dependent on the cellular level of cAMP, regulate MPP<sup>+</sup>-induced autophagy [48]. Henceforth, in the present investigation, we assessed the activation of the autophagic response induced by MPP<sup>+</sup> and MPTP in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models that reproduce characteristics of PD and we evaluated the effect of exogenous PACAP on MPP<sup>+</sup>and MPTP-induced autophagy.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Materials

Otherwise stated, chemicals and cell culture media were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Mississauga, ON, CAN) and Fisher Scientific (Nepean, ON, CAN). JC-1 was acquired from Life Technologies (Burlington, ON, CAN), and the 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2 H-tetrazolium (MTS) assay kit was obtained from Promega (Madison, WI, USA). PACAP was synthesized in our laboratory using a Rink-amide-AM resin as the solid support, and a standard Fmoc-based chemistry [49]. After acidic cleavage and purification, PACAP was characterized by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry and analytical RP-HPLC (purity >95%). A LC3green fluorescent protein expression vector construct (peGFP-LC3) was kindly provided by Dr. Tamotsu Yoshimori (Osaka University, JPN). Mouse monoclonal anti-p62 antibody was bought from Abnova (Walnut, CA, USA) while rabbit anti-tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), mouse monoclonal anti- $\beta$ -tubulin as well as goat anti-mouse HRP-conjugated antibodies were from Millipore (Morsheim, FRA or Etobicoke, ON, CAN). Mouse monoclonal anti-actin and rabbit anti-LC3 antibodies were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Mississauga, ON, CAN). Mouse monoclonal anti-GAPDH antibody and goat anti-rabbit HRP-conjugated antibody were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX, USA). Finally, AlexaFluor488-conjugated secondary antibody was from Life Technologies (Longjumeau, FRA or Burlington, ON, CAN).

#### 2.2. Cell culture

The SH-SY5Y cells, which are human neuroblastoma cells naturally expressing PAC1 and VPAC2 receptors but not VPAC1 [50], were cultured in a 1:1 mixture of Ham's F12 Nutrient and MEM media supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 100 UI/mL each of penicillin and streptomycin, and 15% FBS. The cell line was maintained as a monolayer at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and cell passages were performed by trypsinization when cells were at 80% confluence.

#### 2.3. Cell survival

Assessment of SH-SY5Y cell survival upon MPP<sup>+</sup> treatment, in the presence or not of PACAP, was carried out as previously published [42]. Briefly, cells were seeded in 96-well plates and incubated 48 h prior to the test. A concentration of 100 nM of PACAP38 was applied to the cells 4 h before a MPP<sup>+</sup> treatment (1.5 mM) of 24 h. Cell survival was evaluated with a MTS assay kit following the manufacturer's recommendations.

#### 2.4. Mitochondrial transmembrane potential (MTP) assay

Change of MTP was measured using the fluorescent probe JC-1 following a procedure described in a previous publication [42]. Briefly, SH-SY5Y cells were treated as described above for the survival assay and then, incubated for 15 min, at 37 °C, with the JC-1 probe (10 µg/mL). JC-1 fluorescence was measured with a SpectraMax M Series multi-mode microplate reader using the SoftMax Pro Software (Molecular Devices, CA, USA).

#### 2.5. Animals

Ten-week-old male C57Bl/6 mice were obtained from Charles Rivers Laboratories (L'Arbresle, FRA) and acclimatized for 1 week in the animal facility, in controlled temperature and lighting conditions ( $23 \pm 1$  °C, light on from 8 a.m. to 8 p.m.) with free access to food and water. Experiments were performed under the supervision of an authorized investigator (D.V.) in accordance with the French Ministry of Agriculture and the European communities' council directive 2010/63/UE of September 22, 2010 (approval number N/01-12-11/24/12-14).

#### 2.6. In vivo neuroprotection assessment

This set of experiments was based on a publication by Deguil et al. [51]. Four groups of 7 animals were formed: Control, MPTP, PACAP, and MPTP + PACAP. From day 1 to day 5, animals received 2 different injections: a 100  $\mu$ L intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of MPTP (30 mg/kg/day) and then 1 h later a 100  $\mu$ L intravenous (i.v.) injection of 3.5 nmol/kg/day of PACAP38, *i.e.* 15.7  $\mu$ g/kg/day. Whenever a compound was not given, a saline injection of the same volume was performed. Mice from each group were sacrificed 3 days after the last injection and the brain proteins/tissues were used for Western blot and immunohistochemistry experiments.

#### 2.7. Immunohistochemistry

Three animals from each group described in Section 2.6 were used to perform immunohistochemistry on brain tissue slices. Animals were anesthetized with pentobarbital (40 mg/kg body weight i.p.) and an intracardiac saline perfusion was performed to evacuate blood. A 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) solution prepared in PBS was then perfused for prefixation of tissues. Animals were decapitated and the brain was removed and incubated overnight at 4 °C in a 4% PFA solution. To prepare tissues for cryopreservation, two consecutive 24 h treatments in 15% and 30% sucrose/PBS solutions, respectively, were performed and finally brains were stored in Tissue-Tek O.C.T. (Sakura Finetek, Villeneuve d'Ascq, FRA) at -80 °C until use. Tissues were cut with a cryostat (Leica CM3050; Leica Microsystems, Nanterre, FRA), and mounted onto gelatin-coated glass slides. Brain slices were blocked with normal donkey or goat serum for 90 min at room temperature and then incubated overnight at 4 °C with a rabbit anti-LC3 primary antibody (1:200 dilution). This was followed by a second incubation with an AlexaFluor 488®-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit antibody or an AlexaFluor 488®-conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody, respectively. Images were acquired using a Zeiss LSM 780 laser scanning confocal microscope.

#### 2.8. Autophagic flux monitoring

SH-SY5Y cells were seeded into 6-well plates, at a density of  $5 \times 10^5$  cells per well and incubated 24 h to ensure cell adhesion. Then, they were transfected with peGFP-LC3, an expression vector for GFP-labeled LC3, using the Trans IT-2020 transfection reagent, as recommended by the supplier (Mirus Bio, Madison, WI, USA). After 24 h, cells were trypsinized and seeded in 24-well plates over coverslips. Cells were then treated with PACAP and/or MPP<sup>+</sup>, as described for the survival assay. Coverslips were finally submitted to an immunofluorescence protocol with appropriate antibodies, as described below.

#### 2.9. Immunofluorescence protocol

SH-SY5Y cells were seeded into 24-well plates containing coverslips, at a density of 75 × 10<sup>3</sup> cells per well, and incubated 48 h to ensure cell adhesion. After being submitted to the desired cell treatment, the medium was removed and the coverslips with cells were washed twice with PBS before being fixed with 4% PFA in PBS for 10 min. Next, coverslips were incubated in blocking buffer (PBS, 3% bovine serum albumin, 10% FBS, 0.1% Triton X-100) for 30 min at RT. After washing with PBS, the coverslips were incubated for 1 h at RT with a primary antibody diluted in blocking buffer. Coverslips were then washed in PBS and incubated with either Alexa fluor™-(488 or 568) goat anti-mouse IgG or Alexa fluor™-(488 or 568) goat anti-rabbit IgG for 1 h at RT. Thereafter, coverslips were washed twice with PBS and were incubated 5 min with DAPI to stain the nuclei. Finally, coverslips were washed again twice with PBS and were mounted on glass slides with Prolong™ Antifade (Life Technologies, Burlington, ON, CAN) to be examined.

#### 2.10. Western blot analyses

Proteins from SH-SY5Y cells or SN proteins obtained from brains of each animal group were prepared as described previously [42]. Protein samples (20 µg) were subjected to 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred onto a PVDF membrane (Amersham, Les Ulis, FRA). Blocking was performed in a solution composed of 5% skim milk in 50 mM Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween 20 (TBST), and membranes were incubated overnight at 4 °C with primary antibodies (1:1000 dilution) against LC3, p62, actin, TH or glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH; 1:4000 dilution) prepared in the same blocking solution. Afterwards, membranes were washed with TBST and then incubated 1 h at RT, in PBS containing 5% skim milk, with goat-anti-rabbit IgG (1:10<sup>4</sup> dilution) conjugated to horseradish peroxidase. Protein bands were visualized with either the Super Signal West-Pico or -Femto chemiluminescence substrates (Pierce-ThermoFisher, Nepean, ON, CAN).

#### 2.11. Statistical analysis

All data are from 3 to 4 independent experiments. Prism software (Graphpad Software, CA, USA) was used to analyze data. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. and statistical evaluation of the results was performed by ANOVA followed by a Bonferroni's test. Results were considered significant with  $p \le 0.05$ .

#### 3. Results

3.1. Effect of PACAP on MPP<sup>+</sup>-induced alterations and death of SH-SY5Y cells

According to a protocol used previously, SH-SY5Y cells were treated with PACAP38 (100 nM) 4 h prior to MPP<sup>+</sup> exposure (1.5 mM) [42]. In such conditions, MPP<sup>+</sup>, a neurotoxic agent that produces similar cellular



**Fig. 1.** Neuroprotective effect of PACAP38 (P38) in an *in vitro* model of Parkinson's disease. (A) Effect of MPP<sup>+</sup> (1.5 mM) with or without a 4 h pre-treatment with PACAP38 (100 nM) on SH-SY5Y cell survival. (B) Effect of PACAP38 on MPP<sup>+</sup>-induced alteration of mitochondrial membrane potential in SH-SY5Y cells in the same conditions as in Fig. 1A. Mitochondrial transmembrane potential was assessed using the JC-1 probe, and the ratio of fluorescence emissions 590/530 nm was measured as an index of proper function. (C) Immunofluorescence images in which microtubules were revealed with an anti-tubulin antibody and nuclei were stained with DAPI. The photographs illustrate the beneficial effect of PACAP on MPP<sup>+</sup>-induced morphological changes of SH-SY5Y cells treated in the same conditions as described in Fig. 1A. Each value represents the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of at least 3 independent assays performed in octuplicate. Statistical analyses were carried out using an ANOVA followed by the Bonferroni's test. \*\*p < 0.01; \*\*\*p < 0.001 vs control. ###p < 0.001 vs MPP<sup>+</sup>-treated cells.

features as those observed in PD, caused approximately 50% cell death (Fig. 1A) but this effect was almost fully counteracted with PACAP pre-treatment (Fig. 1A). Considering that MPP<sup>+</sup> produces permeabilization of the mitochondrial outer membrane, we examined the ability of PACAP to prevent the deleterious effect of MPP<sup>+</sup> on mitochondrial transmembrane potential (MTP) using the fluorescent ratiometric probe JC-1. Treatment of SH-SY5Y cells with MPP<sup>+</sup> (1.5 mM) for 24 h induced a significant reduction of the 590/530 nm fluorescence emission ratio, thereby indicating that the mitochondrial integrity was severely altered by the toxic molecule (Fig. 1B). In this assay, PACAP had no effect on the fluorescence emission ratio per se (data not shown), but it decreased the effect of MPP<sup>+</sup> on MTP when added 4 h prior to the toxin treatment (Fig. 1B). Next, in order to study the effect of PACAP on MPP<sup>+</sup>-induced morphological alterations of SH-SY5Y cells, we evaluated by immunofluorescence their structural changes in the presence of the peptide and/or the neurotoxic agent (Fig. 1C). Treatment with MPP<sup>+</sup> (1.5 mM) for 24 h induced a marked destabilization of microtubules, which was assessed by immunostaining of  $\beta$ -tubulin III, a member of the tubulin protein family located in the cytoplasm of neurons. This effect was markedly reduced by PACAP (Fig. 1C) As a matter of fact, the results showed that the control neurons exhibited a streaked cytoskeleton around the nucleus and dendritic extensions, whereas MPP<sup>+</sup>-treated cells displayed cytoplasmic shrinkage and absence of dendritic extensions. Nevertheless, PACAP was able to counteract the morphological changes exerted by MPP<sup>+</sup> and restored the healthy appearance of the cell.

#### 3.2. In vitro effect of PACAP on MPP<sup>+</sup>-induced LC3 II formation and p62/ SQSTM1 degradation

As shown in several studies related to neurodegenerative diseases, MPP<sup>+</sup> induces cell death and autophagy [19,46,52,53]. In order to explore the effect of PACAP on autophagy induced in a PD model, we investigated the mechanism involved in MPP<sup>+</sup>-induced autophagy and studied the action of PACAP on the autophagic flux. Along with the reduction of cell viability induced by 1.5 mM MPP<sup>+</sup> [42], it was observed that this treatment produced a significant accumulation of microtubuleassociated protein light chain 3 II (LC3 II), which is related to autophagy induction (Fig. 2A and B, 3rd column vs control). In parallel, p62/ SQSTM1, an adaptor protein involved in the engulfment process of ubiquitinated proteins by phagophore to form autophagosomes, which thereafter fuse with lysosomes to produce the degradation of the ingested material, became much less abundant after MPP<sup>+</sup> treatment (Fig. 2A and C, 3rd column vs control). PACAP exposure restored the level of LC3 II to basal level (Fig. 2A and B, 4th column vs control), and stopped p62 degradation induced by the MPP<sup>+</sup> treatment (Fig. 2A and C, 4th column vs control). Interestingly, albeit it was not significant, PACAP itself seemed to slightly increase the LC3 II and p62 levels (Fig. 2A, B and C, 2nd column vs control). These findings strongly suggest that PACAP inhibits MPP<sup>+</sup>-induced autophagy. In order to support these results, SH-SY5Y cells were treated with rapamycin, an inducer of autophagy, in the presence or absence of PACAP. As expected, rapamycin treatment induced p62 protein degradation. However, this effect was





**Fig. 2.** Effects of PACAP38 (P38), MPP<sup>+</sup>, and P38 + MPP<sup>+</sup> on the autophagy-related proteins LC3 and p62/SQSTM1 in SH-SY5Y cells. (A) Digital photographs illustrating the expression of LC3 I and II, and p62/SQSTM1 after immunoblotting. (B) Bar graphs displaying the relative abundance of LC3 II vs I measured by densitometry of the bands obtained on immunoblots, and standardized with actin. (C) Bar graphs displaying the relative abundance of p62/SQSTM1 measured by densitometry of the bands obtained in immunoblots. (D) Digital photographs of immunoblots illustrating the expression of p62/SQSTM1 in SH-SY5Y cells in presence of 200 nM rapamycin (Rap), an autophagy inducer, PACAP38 (P38 – 100 nM), or P38 + Rap. (E) Bar graphs displaying the relative abundance of p62/SQSTM1 measured by densitometry of the bands obtained in immunoblots. Each value represents the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent expression. Statistical analyses were carried out using an ANOVA followed by the Bonferroni's test. \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01; vs control. \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01 vs MPP<sup>+</sup> or rapamycin-treated cells.



**Fig. 3.** Effect of PACAP38 against MPP<sup>+</sup>-induced autophagic vacuoles (pointed out with white arrows). (A) Representative images of SH-SY5Y cells transfected with a GFP-LC3-encoding plasmid, cultured in complete medium for 24 h, and pretreated (or not) for 4 h with 100 nM PACAP38 and/or treated with 1.5 mM MPP<sup>+</sup>. (B) Bar graphs displaying the relative abundance of autophagic cells calculated as percentage of total cells (in randomly selected 100 cells). A cell was considered in an autophagic state when it was containing >5 autophagosomes. Each value represents the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. Statistical analyses were carried out using an ANOVA followed by the Bonferroni's test. \*\*p < 0.01 vs control and ##p < 0.01 vs MPP<sup>+</sup>-treated cells.

abolished when cells were co-treated with PACAP (Fig. 2D and E). To further document this finding, autophagosome accumulation was assessed upon MPP<sup>+</sup> treatment. To achieve this, GFP-LC3 was expressed in SH-SY5Y cells before treatment with MPP<sup>+</sup> and/or PACAP (Fig. 3A and B). In line with our previous results, SH-SY5Y cells treated with MPP<sup>+</sup> showed a clear accumulation of autophagosomes, as indicated by GFP-LC3 puncta (Fig. 3A). However, treatment with PACAP prior to addition of MPP<sup>+</sup> diminished autophagosome formation as almost no LC3 puncta remained visible (Fig. 3A and B).

# 3.3. In vivo effect of PACAP on MPTP-induced LC3 II formation and p62/SQSTM1 degradation

A decrease of TH expression in DA neurons within the substantia *nigra* is a hallmark of PD. Accordingly, as described previously [42], TH expression in the SN pars compacta (SNpc) dopaminergic neurons was markedly reduced in mice that had received MPTP injection (Fig. 4A). Also, TH immunostaining in MPTP-treated mice that had received an i.v. injection of PACAP went back to normal, confirming the neuroprotective action of the peptide [42]. To investigate the possible involvement of autophagy in those effects, the impact of MPTP and PACAP on *in vivo* regulation of LC3 and p62 was also evaluated. In line with the in vitro findings, subchronic injections of MPTP increased LC3 II accumulation (Fig. 4B). However, surprisingly, they did not trigger significant degradation of p62 when compared to sham (Fig. 4B and C). Injections of PACAP had no obvious effects on LC3 II and p62 production (Fig. 4B and C) but this treatment appeared to counteract the effect of MPTP on LC3 II levels (Fig. 4B). To further confirm the inhibitory effect of PACAP on autophagy, brain slices of the SNpc region were immunostained with anti-LC3 II antibody in order to label autophagic vacuoles. After subchronic injections of MPTP, the SNpc revealed several puncta of LC3 indicative of the presence of autophagic vacuoles (Fig. 5). However, such LC3 II-associated puncta were not observed following treatments with PACAP alone or PACAP with MPTP (Fig. 5).





**Fig. 4.** Neuroprotective effect of PACAP38 on MPTP-induced decrease of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) expression and autophagy in *substantia nigra pars compacta* (SNpc). (A) Densitometric analysis of TH protein expression in the SNpc of sham, MPTP-, PACAP38-, and MPTP + PACAP38-treated mice. (B) Digital photographs showing the expression of LC3 II and p62/SQSTM1, respectively, after immunoblotting. (C) Bar graphs displaying the relative abundance of p62/SQSTM1 measured by densitometry of the bands obtained in immunoblots, using AlphaEaseFC software (Alpha Innotech). For TH and p62/SQSTM1 expressions, values represent the relative optical density (OD) after normalization to GAPDH. All values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of at least three independent experiments. \*\*p < 0.01 is statistically significant compared to untreated animals; #\*p < 0.01 is statistically significant compared to MPTP-treated animals.

С



Fig. 5. Inhibitory effect of PACAP38 against the formation of MPTP-induced autophagic vacuoles in *substantia nigra pars compacta* (SNpc) of mice. Slices of SNpc were incubated with anti-LC3 (green color) and nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue color). The MPTP-treated animals showed in the DA cells the presence of many autophagic vacuoles (pointed out with white arrows). Compared to sham mice, PACAP38 itself had no effect whereas in MPTP-treated animals, the peptide prevented the formation of autophagic vacuoles.

#### 4. Discussion

During the course of neurodegenerative processes, albeit numerous studies, cell death is the final outcome of a complex series of biological events that remain only partly understood. Accordingly, apoptosis and associated intracellular signaling have been intensively examined in various neurodegenerative diseases, including PD [54,55]. More recently, autophagy has also emerged as an important aspect of the etiology of these disorders and it has been reported that it is activated when neurons undergo aggressive stress [56–60]. There is still ongoing debate about the beneficial or detrimental outcome of autophagy activation during neurodegenerative diseases [56,57,59,61,62,22]. Nevertheless, dysregulated autophagy appears as a key element of these pathologies [11,7]. In particular, previous studies [19,20] reported an increase of the autophagic process in in vitro and in vivo PD models of neuron death induced by the toxic agents MPP<sup>+</sup> and MPTP. In addition, studies using siRNAs designed for silencing genes coding for autophagic proteins such as Atg8 (to which belongs LC3), Atg7 and Atg5 protected neurons from MPP+-induced neurotoxicity [46,59], thereby adding evidence that the induction of the neurotoxic effect of MPP<sup>+</sup> involves activation of autophagy. Hence, SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells, which exhibit a dopaminergic neuronal phenotype, were exposed to an acute in vitro stress generated by MPP<sup>+</sup>. The in vitro experiments showed that MPP<sup>+</sup> treatment produced the activation of the autophagic flux in these cells, as revealed by an increased formation of LC3 II. This result is consistent with those of Nopparat et al. [18] who showed that a concentration of 1.6 mM of MPP<sup>+</sup> was able to induce LC3 II accumulation and autophagosome formation in dopaminergic neurons. Also, MPP<sup>+</sup> treatment induced a potent decrease of the p62 protein level, which is suggestive of a complete autophagic flux. So far, these actions are notably associated with the removal of defective mitochondria [63] and accordingly, several reports revealed that during oxidative stress, autophagy is activated to eliminate defective cell components [64,65].

PACAP has been shown to reduce toxic agent-induced neurotoxicity in PD models based on neuroblastoma cells [66,67,31,41,42]. In particular, it reduced cell death, restored the mitochondrial activity, and preserved cell integrity. However, up to now, no study has investigated the impact of PACAP on autophagy produced following MPP<sup>+</sup> or MPTP treatments used to mimic PD characteristics. Hence, we described for the first time that in vitro, PACAP diminished MPP<sup>+</sup>-induced accumulation of LC3 II, a marker of autophagy, in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells. Furthermore, this led to the restoration of the p62 protein that was originally reduced by MPP<sup>+</sup>. These observations suggest that PACAP down-regulates MPP<sup>+</sup>-induced autophagy. Nonetheless, it was yet unclear if the anti-autophagic effect of the peptide was coming from a reduction of apoptosis or if PACAP was directly modulating the autophagic flux. To document this question, SH-SY5Y cells were treated with PACAP and rapamycin, a compound that activates autophagy by inhibiting mTOR. In such a condition, the peptide was able to restore significantly the level of p62, thereby confirming the inhibitory effect exerted by PACAP on autophagy. Moreover, SH-SY5Y cells transfected with GFP-LC3 demonstrated that MPP<sup>+</sup> triggered the formation of autophagic vacuoles, and that this phenomenon was reversed with PACAP. Overall, our data with MPP<sup>+</sup>-treated SH-SY5Y cells showed that PACAP reduced cell death, maintained mitochondrial activity, diminished LC3 II formation, restored p62, and decreased autophagic vacuole formation. Based on these findings, it clearly appears that the neuroprotective peptide PACAP can modulate the autophagic process. The precise pathways regulated by PACAP to block the MPP<sup>+</sup>-induced autophagy are still unknown. Nevertheless, PACAP possesses the ability to stimulate cAMP production [23] and intracellular cAMP negatively regulates autophagy [68]. Moreover, studies on PACAP anti-apoptotic activity have demonstrated that following PAC1 receptor activation, a cascade of signaling events occurs, which increases Bcl-2 levels and blocks Bax expression [69]. Thus, upon PACAP treatment, the intracellular environment would favor Bcl-2/Beclin interactions that inhibit autophagy and restrain Bax translocation to lysosomes or mitochondria membranes.

*In vivo* studies showed that MPTP, the precursor of MPP<sup>+</sup>, reproduced features of PD. Accordingly, we observed that MPTP caused in mice the death of SNpc dopaminergic neurons. Neuronal loss was largely decreased when animals were injected with PACAP, and the peptide restored the expression of TH that was reduced by the neurotoxic agent. In addition, the results revealed that subchronic doses of

MPTP increased the formation of LC3 II and increased autophagosome formation in the SNpc. Surprisingly, in contrast to what was observed in vitro, MPTP alone did not induce the disappearance of p62, an occurrence suggesting that autophagic flux was disrupted [70]. It could be explained by the difference of paradigms (in vitro human neuroblastoma cells versus in vivo injection of MPTP in mice), as rodents show distinct sensitivity to MPTP neurotoxicity because of their particular oxidative metabolism [71]. Another explanation could be the difference in the stress duration on neurons and the way with which the cell reacted to the change. Indeed, under short stress conditions, cells activate autophagy to get rid of defective organelles. However, under prolonged stress, cells are overwhelmed with ROS and defective organelles and consequently, cell death through apoptosis probably becomes the dominant event. In fact, it has been demonstrated that prolonged stress could lead to a disruption of the autophagic flux [19]. Also, impairment of lysosomal function with disruption of the autophagic flux has been reported previously in a MPTP mice model of PD and this was directly associated with the pathogenesis of the disease because accumulation of autophagosomes in PD brain samples correlated with the presence of Lewy bodies [72]. Finally, we observed that PACAP inhibited the formation of LC3 II following a MPTP treatment and that it reduced the autophagosome formation in the SNpc.

In the context of PD, mutants of two proteins, namely PINK-1 and Parkin, have been identified in familial forms of the disease. These proteins play an essential role in the mitochondria turnover in cells. As a matter of fact, under normal physiological conditions, PINK-1 accumulates at the membrane of defective mitochondria and then Parkin is recruited to trigger selective autophagy [73]. Accordingly, mutation of these proteins gives rise to aberrant mitophagy. Moreover, abnormal expression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein, which is a main component of Lewy bodies that are a pathological trait of PD, has been linked to increased autophagy while mutated forms of the protein have been found to co-localize within autophagosomes containing normal polarized mitochondria [57]. Altogether, it seems that cells affected by the pathology will increasingly suffer from a loss of mitochondrial function. In this point of view, treatment with PACAP could offer protection against increased autophagic and apoptotic mechanisms. Furthermore, a recent study has demonstrated that PACAP was able to up-regulate expression levels of Pgc1 $\alpha$ , a transcriptional regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis [74]. Thus, treated cells would not only benefit from blockade of the cell death process but also from renewal of mitochondria.

In conclusion, we showed that PACAP, a neuropeptide known for its anti-apoptotic properties, could also negatively modulate MPP<sup>+</sup>- and MPTP-induced autophagy. These findings provide additional information regarding the link between apoptosis and autophagy and highlight that PACAP exerts its potent neuroprotective activity through diverse complementary pathways. Nevertheless, further studies are required to deeper dissect the relationship between neuroprotection and inhibition of autophagy produced with PACAP.

#### **Conflict of interest**

No conflict of interest is reported.

#### **Transparency document**

The Transparency document associated with this article can be found, in the online version.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research—FRN102734 (A.F.) and the Interreg IVA PeReNE (#4230) project (D.V.). D.V. is affiliated professor at the Institut National de la Recherche Scientifique—Institut Armand-Frappier. A.M.F. is supported by a doctoral scholarship from the National CIHR Research Training Program in Hepatitis C. A.F. and D.V. co-supervise A.L.-A. within a France – Quebec thesis co-supervision agreement.

#### References

- M.E. Mahler, J.L. Cummings, Alzheimer disease and the dementia of Parkinson disease: comparative investigations, Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord. 4 (3) (1990) 133–149.
- [2] M.B. Shenai, A. Romeo, H.C. Walker, S. Guthrie, R.L. Watts, B.L. Guthrie, Spatial topographies of unilateral subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation efficacy for ipsilateral, contralateral, midline, and total Parkinson disease motor symptoms, Neurosurgery 11 (Suppl. 2) (2015) 80–88, http://dx.doi.org/10.1227/NEU.0000000000000613 (discussion 8).
- [3] F. Mori, M. Nishie, A. Kakita, M. Yoshimoto, H. Takahashi, K. Wakabayashi, Relationship among alpha-synuclein accumulation, dopamine synthesis, and neurodegeneration in Parkinson disease substantia nigra, J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 65 (8) (2006) 808–815, http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/01.jnen.0000230520.47768.1a.
- [4] C. Monti, H. Bondi, A. Urbani, M. Fasano, T. Alberio, Systems biology analysis of the proteomic alterations induced by MPP(+), a Parkinson's disease-related mitochondrial toxin, Front. Cell. Neurosci. 9 (2015) 14, http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fncel. 2015.00014.
- [5] W.D. Parker Jr., R.H. Swerdlow, Mitochondrial dysfunction in idiopathic Parkinson disease, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 62 (4) (1998) 758–762, http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/ 301812.
- [6] C. Tranchant, C. Weess, J.M. Warter, Idiopathic Parkinson disease and mitochondrial functions, Rev. Neurol. (Paris) 151 (3) (1995) 157–160.
- [7] K. Hensley, M.E. Harris-White, Redox regulation of autophagy in healthy brain and neurodegeneration, Neurobiol. Dis. (2015)http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2015.03.002.
- [8] M. Ruberg, V. France-Lanord, B. Brugg, N. Lambeng, P.P. Michel, P. Anglade, et al., Neuronal death caused by apoptosis in Parkinson disease, Rev. Neurol. (Paris) 153 (8–9) (1997) 499–508.
- [9] R.P. Ureshino, K.K. Rocha, G.S. Lopes, C. Bincoletto, S.S. Smaili, Calcium signaling alterations, oxidative stress, and autophagy in aging, Antioxid. Redox Signal. 21 (1) (2014) 123–137, http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ars.2013.5777.
- [10] T. Yoshimori, Autophagy: a regulated bulk degradation process inside cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 313 (2) (2004) 453–458.
- [11] D.S. Arroyo, E.A. Gaviglio, J.M. Peralta Ramos, C. Bussi, M.C. Rodriguez-Galan, P. Iribarren, Autophagy in inflammation, infection, neurodegeneration and cancer, Int. Immunopharmacol. 18 (1) (2014) 55–65, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp. 2013.11.001.
- [12] H. Harris, D.C. Rubinsztein, Control of autophagy as a therapy for neurodegenerative disease, Nat. Rev. Neurol. 8 (2) (2012) 108–117, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol. 2011.200.
- [13] W.E. Hochfeld, S. Lee, D.C. Rubinsztein, Therapeutic induction of autophagy to modulate neurodegenerative disease progression, Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 34 (5) (2013) 600–604, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/aps.2012.189.
- [14] S. Giordano, V. Darley-Usmar, J. Zhang, Autophagy as an essential cellular antioxidant pathway in neurodegenerative disease, Redox Biol. 2 (2014) 82–90, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2013.12.013.
- [15] SJ. Cherra 3rd, C.T. Chu, Autophagy in neuroprotection and neurodegeneration: a question of balance, Future Neurol. 3 (3) (2008) 309–323, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.2217/14796708.3.3.309.
- [16] Y.D. Wen, R. Sheng, L.S. Zhang, R. Han, X. Zhang, X.D. Zhang, et al., Neuronal injury in rat model of permanent focal cerebral ischemia is associated with activation of autophagic and lysosomal pathways, Autophagy 4 (6) (2008) 762–769.
- [17] Z.Q. Wang, Y. Yang, T. Lu, P. Luo, J. Li, J.P. Wu, et al., Protective effect of autophagy inhibition on ischemia-reperfusion-induced injury of N2a cells, J. Huazhong Univ. Sci. Technolog. Med. Sci. 33 (6) (2013) 810–816, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s11596-013-1203-y.
- [18] C. Nopparat, J.E. Porter, M. Ebadi, P. Govitrapong, 1-Methyl-4-phenylpyridiniuminduced cell death via autophagy through a Bcl-2/beclin 1 complex-dependent pathway, Neurochem. Res. 39 (2) (2014) 225–232, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11064-013-1208-8.
- [19] K.C. Hung, H.J. Huang, M.W. Lin, Y.P. Lei, A.M. Lin, Roles of autophagy in MPP+induced neurotoxicity in vivo: the involvement of mitochondria and alphasynuclein aggregation, PLoS ONE 9 (3) (2014), e91074, http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0091074.
- [20] J. Lim, Y. Lee, S. Jung, M.B. Youdim, Y.J. Oh, Impaired autophagic flux is critically involved in drug-induced dopaminergic neuronal death, Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 20 (Suppl. 1) (2014) S162–S166, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1353-8020(13)70039-7.
- [21] C. Nopparat, J.E. Porter, M. Ebadi, P. Govitrapong, The mechanism for the neuroprotective effect of melatonin against methamphetamine-induced autophagy, J. Pineal Res. 49 (4) (2010) 382–389, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-079X.2010.00805.x.
- [22] H. Zhou, J. Chen, X. Lu, C. Shen, J. Zeng, L. Chen, et al., Melatonin protects against rotenone-induced cell injury via inhibition of Omi and Bax-mediated autophagy in Hela cells, J. Pineal Res. 52 (1) (2012) 120–127, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-079X.2011.00926.x.
- [23] D. Vaudry, B.J. Gonzalez, M. Basille, L. Yon, A. Fournier, H. Vaudry, Pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide and its receptors: from structure to functions, Pharmacol. Rev. 52 (2) (2000) 269–324.
- [24] D. Reglodi, P. Kiss, A. Lubics, A. Tamas, Review on the protective effects of PACAP in models of neurodegenerative diseases in vitro and in vivo, Curr. Pharm. Des. 17 (10) (2011) 962–972.
- [25] D. Reglodi, A. Tamas, I. Lengvari, G. Toth, L. Szalontay, A. Lubics, Comparative study of the effects of PACAP in young, aging, and castrated males in a rat model of

Parkinson's disease, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1070 (2006) 518–524, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1196/annals.1317.072.

- [26] K.Y. Shivers, A. Nikolopoulou, S.I. Machlovi, S. Vallabhajosula, M.E. Figueiredo-Pereira, PACAP27 prevents Parkinson-like neuronal loss and motor deficits but not microglia activation induced by prostaglandin J2, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1842 (9) (2014) 1707–1719, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.06.020.
- [27] D. Vaudry, A. Falluel-Morel, S. Bourgault, M. Basille, D. Burel, O. Wurtz, et al., Pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide and its receptors: 20 years after the discovery, Pharmacol. Rev. 61 (3) (2009) 283–357, http://dx.doi.org/10.1124/pr.109.001370.
- [28] M. Delgado, G.M. Jonakait, D. Ganea, Vasoactive intestinal peptide and pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide inhibit chemokine production in activated microglia, Glia 39 (2) (2002) 148–161, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/glia.10098.
- [29] D.L. Kellogg Jr., J.L. Zhao, Y. Wu, J.M. Johnson, Nitric oxide and receptors for VIP and PACAP in cutaneous active vasodilation during heat stress in humans, J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 113 (10) (2012) 1512–1518, http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/ japplphysiol.00859.2012.
- [30] D. Vaudry, T.F. Pamantung, M. Basille, C. Rousselle, A. Fournier, H. Vaudry, et al., PACAP protects cerebellar granule neurons against oxidative stress-induced apoptosis, Eur. J. Neurosci. 15 (9) (2002) 1451–1460.
- [31] J. Deguil, D. Jailloux, G. Page, B. Fauconneau, J.L. Houeto, M. Philippe, et al., Neuroprotective effects of pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP) in MPP+-induced alteration of translational control in neuro-2a neuroblastoma cells, J. Neurosci. Res. 85 (9) (2007) 2017–2025, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jnr.21318.
- [32] P. Lazarovici, G. Cohen, H. Arien-Zakay, J. Chen, C. Zhang, M. Chopp, et al., Multimodal neuroprotection induced by PACAP38 in oxygen–glucose deprivation and middle cerebral artery occlusion stroke models, J. Mol. Neurosci. 48 (3) (2012) 526–540, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12031-012-9818-1.
- [33] D. Rat, U. Schmitt, F. Tippmann, I. Dewachter, C. Theunis, E. Wieczerzak, et al., Neuropeptide pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP) slows down Alzheimer's disease-like pathology in amyloid precursor protein-transgenic mice, FASEB J. 25 (9) (2011) 3208–3218, http://dx.doi.org/10.1096/fj.10-180133.
- [34] A. Tamas, D. Reglodi, O. Farkas, E. Kovesdi, J. Pal, J.T. Povlishock, et al., Effect of PACAP in central and peripheral nerve injuries, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 13 (7) (2012) 8430–8448, http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijms13078430.
- [35] C.Y. Chung, H. Seo, K.C. Sonntag, A. Brooks, L. Lin, O. Isacson, Cell type-specific gene expression of midbrain dopaminergic neurons reveals molecules involved in their vulnerability and protection, Hum. Mol. Genet. 14 (13) (2005) 1709–1725, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddi178.
- [36] M. Delgado, Vasoactive intestinal peptide and pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide inhibit CBP-NF-kappaB interaction in activated microglia, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 297 (5) (2002) 1181–1185.
- [37] K. Dohi, H. Mizushima, S. Nakajo, H. Ohtaki, S. Matsunaga, T. Aruga, et al., Pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP) prevents hippocampal neurons from apoptosis by inhibiting JNK/SAPK and p38 signal transduction pathways, Regul. Pept. 109 (1–3) (2002) 83–88, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0167-0115(02)00190–8 (Pii: S0167-0115(02)00190–8).
- [38] A. Falluel-Morel, N. Aubert, D. Vaudry, M. Basille, M. Fontaine, A. Fournier, et al., Opposite regulation of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway by C2-ceramide and PACAP through a MAP-kinase-dependent mechanism in cerebellar granule cells, J. Neurochem. 91 (5) (2004) 1231–1243, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1471–4159.2004.02810.x.
- [39] H. Ohtaki, T. Nakamachi, K. Dohi, Y. Aizawa, A. Takaki, K. Hodoyama, et al., Pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP) decreases ischemic neuronal cell death in association with IL-6, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 (19) (2006) 7488–7493, http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0600375103.
- [40] D. Vaudry, C. Rousselle, M. Basille, A. Falluel-Morel, T.F. Pamantung, M. Fontaine, et al., Pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide protects rat cerebellar granule neurons against ethanol-induced apoptotic cell death, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99 (9) (2002) 6398–6403, http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.082112699.
- [41] N.D. Doan, S. Bourgault, A. Dejda, M. Letourneau, M. Detheux, D. Vaudry, et al., Design and in vitro characterization of PAC1/VPAC1-selective agonists with potent neuroprotective effects, Biochem. Pharmacol. 81 (4) (2011) 552–561, http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2010.11.015.
- [42] A. Lamine, M. Letourneau, N.D. Doan, J. Maucotel, A. Couvineau, H. Vaudry, et al., Characterizations of a synthetic pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide analog displaying potent neuroprotective activity and reduced in vivo cardiovascular side effects in a Parkinson's disease model, Neuropharmacology (2015), http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.05.014.
- [43] D. Cartelli, C. Ronchi, M.G. Maggioni, S. Rodighiero, E. Giavini, G. Cappelletti, Microtubule dysfunction precedes transport impairment and mitochondria damage in MPP+-induced neurodegeneration, J. Neurochem. 115 (1) (2010) 247–258, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.06924.x.
- [44] R.R. Ramsay, J.I. Salach, T.P. Singer, Uptake of the neurotoxin 1-methyl-4phenylpyridine (MPP+) by mitochondria and its relation to the inhibition of the mitochondrial oxidation of NAD+-linked substrates by MPP+, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 134 (2) (1986) 743–748.
- [45] Y.W. Tzeng, L.Y. Lee, P.L. Chao, H.C. Lee, R.T. Wu, A.M. Lin, Role of autophagy in protection afforded by hypoxic preconditioning against MPP +-induced neurotoxicity in SH-SY5Y cells, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 49 (5) (2010) 839–846, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.06.004.
- [46] J.H. Zhu, C. Horbinski, F. Guo, S. Watkins, Y. Uchiyama, C.T. Chu, Regulation of autophagy by extracellular signal-regulated protein kinases during 1-methyl-4phenylpyridinium-induced cell death, Am. J. Pathol. 170 (1) (2007) 75–86, http:// dx.doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2007.060524.
- [47] H. Wang, Y. Ye, Z. Zhu, L. Mo, C. Lin, Q. Wang, et al., MiR-124 regulates apoptosis and autophagy process in MPTP model of Parkinson's disease by targeting to Bim, Brain Pathol. (2015)http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bpa.12267.

- [48] S.J. Cherra 3rd, S.M. Kulich, G. Uechi, M. Balasubramani, J. Mountzouris, B.W. Day, et al., Regulation of the autophagy protein LC3 by phosphorylation, J. Cell Biol. 190 (4) (2010) 533–539, http://dx.doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201002108.
- [49] S. Bourgault, D. Vaudry, I. Segalas-Milazzo, L. Guilhaudis, A. Couvineau, M. Laburthe, et al., Molecular and conformational determinants of pituitary adenylate cyclaseactivating polypeptide (PACAP) for activation of the PAC1 receptor, J. Med. Chem. 52 (10) (2009) 3308–3316, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/jm900291j.
- [50] E.M. Lutz, E. Ronaldson, P. Shaw, M.S. Johnson, P.J. Holland, R. Mitchell, Characterization of novel splice variants of the PAC1 receptor in human neuroblastoma cells: consequences for signaling by VIP and PACAP, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 31 (2) (2006) 193–209, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2005.09.008.
- [51] J. Deguil, F. Chavant, C. Lafay-Chebassier, M.C. Perault-Pochat, B. Fauconneau, S. Pain, Neuroprotective effect of PACAP on translational control alteration and cognitive decline in MPTP parkinsonian mice, Neurotox. Res. 17 (2) (2010) 142–155, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12640-009-9091-4.
- [52] R. Banerjee, S. Sreetama, K.S. Saravanan, S.N. Dey, K.P. Mohanakumar, Apoptotic mode of cell death in substantia nigra following intranigral infusion of the parkinsonian neurotoxin, MPP + in Sprague–Dawley rats: cellular, molecular and ultrastructural evidences, Neurochem. Res. 32 (7) (2007) 1238–1247, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1007/s11064-007-9299-8.
- [53] A. Fragkouli, E. Doxakis, miR-7 and miR-153 protect neurons against MPP(+)induced cell death via upregulation of mTOR pathway, Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8 (2014) 182, http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2014.00182.
- [54] E. Radi, P. Formichi, C. Battisti, A. Federico, Apoptosis and oxidative stress in neurodegenerative diseases, J. Alzheimers Dis. 42 (Suppl. 3) (2014) S125–S152, http://dx. doi.org/10.3233/JAD-132738.
- [55] A.H. Schapira, C.W. Olanow, J.T. Greenamyre, E. Bezard, Slowing of neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease and Huntington's disease: future therapeutic perspectives, Lancet 384 (9942) (2014) 545–555, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61010-2.
- [56] P. Anglade, S. Vyas, F. Javoy-Agid, M.T. Herrero, P.P. Michel, J. Marquez, et al., Apoptosis and autophagy in nigral neurons of patients with Parkinson's disease, Histol. Histopathol. 12 (1) (1997) 25–31.
- [57] M.A. Lynch-Day, K. Mao, K. Wang, M. Zhao, D.J. Klionsky, The role of autophagy in Parkinson's disease, Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2 (4) (2012) a009357, http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a009357.
- [58] M. Martinez-Vicente, Autophagy in neurodegenerative diseases: from pathogenic dysfunction to therapeutic modulation, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 40 (2015) 115–126, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.03.005.
- [59] A.S. Wong, R.H. Lee, A.Y. Cheung, P.K. Yeung, S.K. Chung, Z.H. Cheung, et al., Cdk5mediated phosphorylation of endophilin B1 is required for induced autophagy in models of parkinson's disease, Nat. Cell Biol. 13 (5) (2011) 568–579, http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/ncb2217.
- [60] J.H. Zhu, F. Guo, J. Shelburne, S. Watkins, C.T. Chu, Localization of phosphorylated ERK/MAP kinases to mitochondria and autophagosomes in Lewy body diseases, Brain Pathol. 13 (4) (2003) 473–481.
- [61] Q. Yang, Z. Mao, Parkinson disease: a role for autophagy? Neuroscientist 16 (4) (2010) 335–341, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1073858409357118.
- [62] Y. Zheng, J. Hou, J. Liu, M. Yao, L. Li, B. Zhang, et al., Inhibition of autophagy contributes to melatonin-mediated neuroprotection against transient focal cerebral ischemia in rats, J. Pharmacol. Sci. 124 (3) (2014) 354–364.
- [63] N. Xiong, J. Xiong, M. Jia, L. Liu, X. Zhang, Z. Chen, et al., The role of autophagy in Parkinson's disease: rotenone-based modeling, Behav. Brain Funct. 9 (2013) 13, http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1744-9081-9-13.
- [64] R. Kiffin, U. Bandyopadhyay, A.M. Cuervo, Oxidative stress and autophagy, Antioxid. Redox Signal. 8 (1–2) (2006) 152–162, http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ars.2006.8.152.
- [65] J. Lee, S. Giordano, J.H. Zhang, Autophagy, mitochondria and oxidative stress: crosstalk and redox signalling, Biochem. J. 441 (2012) 523–540, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1042/Bj20111451.
- [66] D. Brown, A. Tamas, D. Reglodi, Y. Tizabi, PACAP protects against salsolinol-induced toxicity in dopaminergic SH-SY5Y cells: implication for Parkinson's disease, J. Mol. Neurosci. 50 (3) (2013) 600–607, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12031-013-0015-7.
- [67] D. Brown, A. Tamas, D. Reglodi, Y. Tizabi, PACAP protects against inflammatorymediated toxicity in dopaminergic SH-SY5Y cells: implication for Parkinson's disease, Neurotox. Res. 26 (3) (2014) 230–239, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12640-014-9468-x.
- [68] B. Ravikumar, S. Sarkar, J.E. Davies, M. Futter, M. Garcia-Arencibia, Z.W. Green-Thompson, et al., Regulation of mammalian autophagy in physiology and pathophysiology, Physiol. Rev. 90 (4) (2010) 1383–1435, http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/ physrev.00030.2009.
- [69] T. Seaborn, O. Masmoudi-Kouli, A. Fournier, H. Vaudry, D. Vaudry, Protective effects of pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP) against apoptosis, Curr. Pharm. Des. 17 (3) (2011) 204–214.
- [70] G. Bjorkoy, T. Lamark, S. Pankiv, A. Overvatn, A. Brech, T. Johansen, Monitoring autophagic degradation of p62/SQSTM1, Methods Enzymol. 452 (2009) 181–197, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(08)03612-4.
- [71] J.N. Johannessen, C.C. Chiueh, R.S. Burns, S.P. Markey, Differences in the metabolism of MPTP in the rodent and primate parallel differences in sensitivity to its neurotoxic effects, Life Sci. 36 (3) (1985) 219–224.
- [72] B. Dehay, J. Bove, N. Rodriguez-Muela, C. Perier, A. Recasens, P. Boya, et al., Pathogenic lysosomal depletion in Parkinson's disease, J. Neurosci. 30 (37) (2010) 12535–12544, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/INEUROSCI.1920-10.2010.
- [73] A.M. Pickrell, R.J. Youle, The roles of PINK1, parkin, and mitochondrial fidelity in Parkinson's disease, Neuron 85 (2) (2015) 257–273, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. neuron.2014.12.007.
- [74] Y. Kambe, A. Miyata, Role of mitochondrial activation in PACAP dependent neurite outgrowth, J. Mol. Neurosci. 48 (3) (2012) 550–557, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s12031-012-9754-0.